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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Lun Ruixiang (Chairman)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Lun Zhao Ming (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned with effect from 1 January 2025)
Mr Lu Peijun
Mr Luo Chengyu
Ms Wang Di (appointed with effect from 16 May 2025)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Chan Kin Man
Ms Ou Ningxin
Mr Chen Guilin

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr Chan Kin Man (Chairman)
Ms Ou Ningxin
Mr Chen Guilin

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr Lun Ruixiang (Chairman)
Ms Ou Ningxin
Mr Chen Guilin

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr Chen Guilin (Chairman)
Mr Lun Ruixiang
Ms Ou Ningxin

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms Tang So Him
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AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr Lun Zhao Ming (resigned with effect from 1 January 2025)
Mr Lun Ruixiang (appointed with effect form 1 January 2025)
Ms Tang So Him

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS AND
HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC

1, Beihuan Lu, Houjiezhen
Dongguan, Guangdong
PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Office No. 1907, 19th Floor
Great Eagle Centre

No. 23 Harbour Road
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F

Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Prism Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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www.huijingholdings.com

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law:
YTL LLP

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Hang Seng Bank

Dongguan Rural Commercial Bank Houjie Branch
ICBC Dongguan Houjie Branch

China Construction Bank Dongguan Houjie Branch

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.huijingholdings.com
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BE12A3ALEE

For the year ended 31 December

2020 20214 2022 20234 2024 F

2020 2021 2022 203 2024

ARETTL ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT AR®TR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Wz Revenue 5,153,233 5,309,290 85,893 941,219 240,915
BREALE(E8) Profit/(loss) before tax 1329129 1,102,164 (2,806,057) (664,729) (744,325)
FEM M Income tax expense (588,655) (551,768) (27:839) (65,621) (56,993)

BARHEE ARG Total comprehensive
FREEYE/(B8) income/(loss) for the year
k) attributable to owners
of the parent 485,805 279,746 (2,485,306) (723.425) (860,134)
K12A831H
As at 31 December

2020 20214 2022 20234 2024 F

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

ARETTL ARETT ARETTT ARETTT AR®TR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

BERSE Total assets 12,738,992 15,182,212 12,213,441 10,417,205 10,150,391
BEER Total liabilities 8,909,356 10,930,837 10,894,770 9,891,786 10,484,866
#n/ (B4t 8% Total equity/(deficit) 3,829,636 4,251,375 1318671 525419 (334,475)

F ¥R 2024 Annual Report 5
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (hereinafter referred to as the “Board”)
of Huijing Holdings Company Limited (hereinafter referred to as the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

(1) Significant fluctuations in performance

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's revenue for
the year was approximately RMB240.9 million, representing a
year on-year decrease of approximately 74.4% respectively, gross
profit was approximately RMB62.6 million, gross profit margin was
approximately 26.0%, and net loss for the year was approximately
RMB801.3 million.

6 ESIZERRAEBRZAE]  Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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(2)

(1)

(2)

As of 31 December 2024, the Group achieved contracted sales of
approximately RMB102.2 million and contracted gross floor area sold
of approximately 9,795 sq.m..

Financial position under pressure

2024 was still a difficult year. The Group's total assets was
approximately RMB10,150.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 2.6% as compared to the same period last year; and
the asset-liability ratio (calculated as the total liabilities net of contract
liabilities balances divided by total assets) was approximately
93.8% as at 31 December 2024. The Board did not recommend the
payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Distinct advantages in business strategies

In 2024, the Group will continue to adhere to the business model
of “focusing on residential development projects, while taking
the urban renewal projects as the core, as well as the cultural and
tourism-healthy living towns and the scientific and innovative
technologies industrial towns as the two wings (LA £ £/ # &
FEER UHHERAZL XKRENBEEEXERE
)", which constitutes its “one focus, one core, and two wings (— F
— 3 )" blueprint, to enrich the diversity of profit structure and
continuously enhance the core competitiveness and sustainable
development capability of the Company.

Going a step further in urban renewal

Since the State proposed in the 14th Five-Year Plan to “accelerate the
transformation of urban development, coordinate urban planning
and construction management, implement urban renewal actions,
and promote the optimisation of urban spatial structure and quality
improvement”, urban renewal is a major industry trend. By the end
of 2024, the Group has obtained the qualifications of preparatory
services providers for nine projects and is in the process of obtaining
the qualifications of preparatory services providers for the other nine
projects.

3R 2024 Annual Report 7
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Going forward, the real estate market will continue to focus on the keynote
of “stability” and the Group will adhere to the strategic positioning of
“penetrating into Dongguan, maintaining foothold in the Greater Bay
Area, and sustaining coverage of the Southern, Central and Eastern China
areas OFAFIRE Y B ANE R MBEER EHNERMMER).
Looking forward to the coming year and even the next year, the Group will
continue to focus on property development projects in the Southern China
region, especially the Three-old Transformation projects in Dongguan,
Guangdong Province.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group owned a total of 18 real estate projects
and 4 parcels of land in 7 cities across the country, with a total gross floor
area of the land reserves of approximately 2,799,191 sq.m.. The high-
quality and sufficient land reserves will ensure the Group’s sustainable
development, extend the depth of the Group’s brand and refine the quality
of its products.

l, on behalf of the Board, would like to take this opportunity to express
my sincere gratitude to all shareholders, investors, customers that we
cooperate with, colleagues and the community for their support.

We are forging ahead firmly in the future. The opportunities and challenges
are awaiting us. We hope we can continue to work together to embark on
a beautiful chapter of urban development.

Lun Ruixiang
Board Chairman of Huijing
11 July 2025

Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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AR AIFERRES

As a major part of the macro economy in China, the real estate industry
has experienced a profound structural transformation in 2024. The Chinese
government will continue to adhere to the keynote of its policy that
"houses are for living in, not for speculative investment”, and to adopt
city-specific measures (B 1E 4 + E B 16 58 ) to achieve stability on
the three fronts (=#&) of land prices (12318 ), housing prices (F2FE &)
and expectations (= 78 H), with a view to fostering a positive cycle and
healthy development of the real estate market.

In response to the evolving economic and policy environment, the Group
has maintained a steady momentum of development that revolves around
establishing, cultivating and expanding its foothold and presence in
the Greater Bay Area, Dongguan and the high value-added cities in the
Southern, Central and Eastern China areas respectively (37 & X/&[& + &
MR MmRER EPREREREEINT). As part of its “one
focus, one core, and two wings (— & — #% M )" blueprint, the Group
continued to center its business model of focusing primarily on residential
development projects with urban renewal projects at its core and the
cultural and medical tourism living towns and scientific and innovative
technologies industrial towns as its two wings (VA (£ E 58 3 A& £ & 3
B A EH AR - XIREEMBAIER/ER). The Group
will continue its relentless effort to bolster its core competitiveness and
capacity for sustainable development.

3R 2024 Annual Report 9
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REBMBAZEREWENEE  HRRE
KEWMEMRE -HE2024F 128318 IEF
[§ AEESSRIRANARE 240958
B LE B > 74.4% o

EHNHE

HE204FNAJNABLEFE  ~&5EERA
BREBBOGNEEENARARK 10228
BT BEZE203F2ANBI-EENES
TBE47650% ¢ K ()& 4 HERLEERE ([EE
EHE]) #99,795F 75 K » 8B ZE 2023F 12 A 31
HIEFEZAHEERE®ME N EA533%

MEHE

HE04FNANAHLEFE  WEHERA
BREREBMADBBEI7%NENAREI2E
BT hASBERILAA835% ° B E 2024 F
NANBLEFEE  ASEERRAECLERRE
HEEEA31530F FK BR2023F R 24
BEEERM A 453.0%  ERBMEHENY
¥C2PFHEB(FHEBDHNABFER KA
R®6,3817C * RIER A #53.0% °

The Group derives its revenue primarily from sales of properties and, to
a lesser extent, lease of investment properties. The Group recorded a
total revenue of approximately RMB240.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, representing a year-on-year decrease of 74.4%.

Contracted sales

For the year ended 31 December 2024, including those of joint ventures,
the Group recorded (i) contracted sales of approximately RMB102.2 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 65.0% compared to the year
ended 31 December 2023, and (ii) contracted gross floor area ("GFA”") sold
of approximately 9,795 sq.m. representing a decrease of approximately
53.3% as compared to that for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Sales of properties

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue from sales of properties
recorded a year-on-year decrease of over 77.9% to approximately RMB201.2
million, which accounted for approximately 83.5% of the total revenue of
the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised
total GFA sold of approximately 31,530 sq.m. which represented an
decrease of approximately 53.0% as compared to the same period in 2023.
The average selling price ("ASP”") of the properties recognised as property
sales was approximately RMB6,381 per sq.m., representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 53.0%.

10 CESIERRERAF Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TRINTEZ2024F12A31BIEEMNECHE  The following table sets out the recognised sales and GFA sold in each

RIEHEREMEEEE®E location as at 31 December 2024:
HERR =)
2ER BEEE 2R3 LN
BEEER BAL FHEE ARk
Percentage Percentage
of of
Recognised recognised  Recognised  Recognised recognised
Location (¢l ASP revenue revenue
ARET/
F A Frk  ARETRL
sq.m. RMB/sg.m. RMB'000
R Dongguan 622 2.0% 23,850 14,835 74%
AR Heyuan 29,052 92.1% 5,760 167,343 83.1%
ey Hefei 1,246 4.0% 9,532 11,877 5.9%
3 Pinghu 406 13% 13,779 5,588 2.3%
A Changsha 204 0.6% 7,585 1,544 0.8%
&% Total 31,530 100% 6,381 201,187 100%
HA RO BEFBEIN TR TR Particulars of projects and land parcels are set out in the following table:

& RREAE
A5M BEER FU#E st
s ; (1) BEER BEER
The
Group's Total estimate
equity SaleableGFA  Investment  Unsaleable  GFAfor future Total  Attributable

Name of Project interest GFA Sold (Note 1) property development consideration*  consideration Land cost
R/

BhER R 100% 433085 6988 - 49257 - 559891 559,891 11442
Huijing Riverside Villa Dongguan

HEER ER EE 100% 32871 - - 526 - 80059 8009 20987
Huiing Riverside Vila ® Perfection Dongguan

el EE 100% 0107 3366 - H04 - 184600 184600 6929
Royal Spring Hill Dongguan

ILIES EE 100% 13653 557 - 24566 - 91,79% 91,79 6170
CityValley Dongguan

ERHAL EE 100% 122204 37% 15329 28659 - B1031 B1031 13501
Huijing City Centre Dongguan

juehl 53 % 100% 50200 8308 - 27,168 -

Century Gemini Dongguan 102639 102639 9209
ESA R 100% - - 25780 - -

Huijing City Dongguan

3R 2024 Annual Report 11
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

& ARAE
A BEER FU#E fhst4
i 53 (HsE1) BEER BEER
The
Group's Total estimate
equity SaleableGFA  Investment  Unsaleable GFAforfuture Total Attributable

Name of Project interest GFA Sold (Note 1) property GFA  development consideration®  consideration Land cost

(sqm)

hAZR L& 100% 62614 4746 - 11670 - 80097 80097 10135
Central Palace Dongguan
2E0E RE 100% 1547 0 - 2745 - 105,260 105,260 55708
Fenghua Mansion Dongguan
ER¥RRATL x= 100% 1441 9000 - - - 179899 1798%9 27849
Huijing Group — Huijing Global Centre  Dongguan
BEEgUHA () = 100% - - - - - 3701 301 -
Houjie Town Baotun Village Area (Nore2)  Dongguan
HEHER (Hits) L 100% - - - - - 259154 259154 -
Hongmei Hongwuwo (Note 3) Dongguan
BE=HRR(HE3) x5z 100% - - - - - 186,300 186,300 -
Qingxi Sanzhong Area (Note 3) Dongguan
Pt A Xz 100% - - - - - 115075 115075 -
Shatian Renzhou Area (Note 3) Dongguan
g% R 100% 180785 - - 354 - 186,131 186,131 816
BundNo8 Heyuan
NEERE b 100% 410080 286017 - 125413 - 747084 747084 9094
Nine Miles Bay Heyuan
RIZH(H7) M 100% - - - - 53707 90517 490517 9208
Dongjiang River Galleries (a portion off ~ Heyuan
ALERHTRL At 100% 142812 64648 #1 69960 - 182723 182723 5054
Hefei Hujing City Centre Hefei
HHER BRI % 100% 90001 8840 - Ml 1,1055% 330283 330283 525
Huijing Yanhu International Resort Hengyang
k) Tl 80% 61,533 - - 21903 - 268977 215182 31824
Xingfu District Pinghu
#iE M 0% - 266456 - 61,781 - 418600 283000 12753
Yonghe District (Chenzhou
B2 Gl 100% - 3338 - 9813 - 658,200 658,200 19179
Jieyou District Xuzhou
ERBRENTL & 4% 143862 88080 - 64672 - 826040 404760 27849
Huijing Global Centre (Changsha

2091615 1,160,888 125230 607,592 1638303 6,308055 5707400 2812

x e WEEE AR AR E B * Refer to the cost of land which the project company acquired

12 CESIERRAERAF Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Wik

#E /AIHEREREEYEANPEEEE
BB () TAE A& - ()Y R 2 B
DAREBGSHEEHAE  MRFERERR
BE RGN BRBAWEFERE
BEFAE  TEFERERIRSE A
WA B T E AP EMERERIEFHA
SEENELESFH -

EHEEDNRMEHEERE TR
FRRABRF LURENEIE - BEKE—F
I BA2EARRBEA2019F12A831H8
NBERER(HRER]) TIETERER
— BATEREN — AORBEBE L ES
FEaIBAMNETHRAMNELTES TN
BT D8 e

MR2024F 128318 BE=ZR R E ik
EER KON EN T E AT EA
%o BEBEER (BREMELR) BEAEBRN
mE - BT —THE  B2HBRERME
% — L EEI BT -

a7 MBS N R —iE - Eik =
R A EE o

Notes:

Saleable/leasable GFA refers to the internal floor area of a property, which has
been derived from the relevant (i) pre-sale permit; (ii) floor area prediction
report (5 = 78 T8 BI#R £ ), where a pre-sale permit is not available for the
whole or a part of a property; and/or (iii) relevant development indicators
approved by the relevant authority responsible for urban and rural planning
or the Group's internal records, where neither a pre-sale permit nor floor area
prediction report is available for the whole or a part of the development.

The expected GFA is not available for Houjie Town Baotun Village Area as the
latest land planning remains subject to approval. For further details, please
refer to the subsection under the Company’s prospectus dated 31 December
2019 (the "Prospectus”) headed “Compliance with Laws and Regulations —
Historical Non-compliance Incidents — (A) Delay in Commencement and/or
completion of construction within the prescribed period as stipulated in the
relevant land grant contracts”.

As at 31 December 2024, the land in Qingxi Sanzhong Area, Hongmei
Hongwuwo and Shatian Renzhou Area was zoned for industrial use, and
the current information (including plot ratio) is not relevant for our Group'’s
purpose. For further details, please refer to the subsection under the
Prospectus headed “Business — Land reserves”.

Century Gemini and Huijing City are situated on the same parcel of land and
therefore share the same site area.

R 2024 Annual Report 13
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REME

M2024F 12318 ANEBBEERELEAEE
#9125230F 77K (ATFH E M HE 4938013 F 77
K) CEHE204FNANBIEFENHEER
ABAREE157EETT -

T e

B2024F 128310 AEEMH L HEELD
2,799,191 F 75K - BIF18EIER R4k b -
DRMIAKER - R=ZABMERRIFRN
BT LR 7 BRI T o

TRIIRR2024F12 A31 B AREB IR IEAL
BRI EFRERRE

Investment properties

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total GFA of approximately
125,230 sq.m. (leasable area of approximately 38,013 sq.m.) with rental
income of approximately RMB15.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2024,

Land reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has land reserves amounting to
approximately 2,799,191 sq.m. with 18 projects and 4 parcels of land
located in 7 cities in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta Urban
Cluster and the Yangtze Mid-Stream Urban Cluster.

The following table sets out the GFA of the Group's land reserves by
geographical locations as at 31 December 2024:

15+ s fEE

T #h{#E BMEBEEME

BEEME Bak

Percentage of

Total land total land

Location reserve GFA reserve GFA

(FF7K) (%)

(sgq.m.) (%)

= Dongguan 37,464 1.3%
AR Heyuan 818,724 29.3%
& Hefei 64,648 2.3%
765 Hengyang 1,190,436 42.5%
BB Chenzhou 266,456 9.5%
I Xuzhou 333,383 11.9%
§97 Changsha 88,080 3.2%
&5t Total 2,799,191 100%

14 ESIERABRZAR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

—EMEBEE ([ ZEMEER DEENT The progress of the Three-old Transformation Schemes (the “Three-old
Transformation Schemes”) was as follows:

BARGEE LR ZEE B NEAE]
FREE=-ENEER - BRIEWMER
ETMEABRBLAM(ETMERSE
B I BB T 1N AR T
ERRYMALE  BEERBAHEER L
O FT G RN 35 TE FT A 0 R Wk o

ANEITEHR - A _E LY 2 BRI 4K
MRS R - BB T E A
R o TEETRT A EEA367222F 5K ©

FEPIFTER R - 5ZIHE B EFIA B2
FRETZESEER - HREBE
# R PR R ER A B - 2= R 8 (2020
F 2035F) ME RN - ALt EH
ERDEE  EERNFHEBEEIITERR
S AL ZBEBEMBEHEEA14910
K TERTET A EE 434,288 F 50K ©

DHFRMNAEE : ZBE RUERABXR
FRETH=ZEUEER - ZHEEB IR
DHE - B EEL 77321 F K e
ER-ENEEECENK  BEMLTH
AgEEAMIEXRH  BrEEE
EHEA205645F K - ZEEH =8
EEADR2022F7 AEK - B
FEOEE BAILEEHEERESR -

Project Zhangmutou Baoshan Area: The Three-old Transformation
Schemes for this project is implemented on a Collaborative Basis
between Villages and Enterprises. Currently, the project has secured
the approval regarding the “Overall Implementation Plan for the
Commercial and Residential Transformation Unit 1+N in Baoshan
Area, Zhangmutou Town, Dongguan City”, and will subsequently
apply to deregister the existing land title and enter into a new land
transfer agreement. It is expected that the Company will obtain the
new land use right certificate upon the demolition of the buildings
on the land and the payment of the land transfer fee. The expected
plot ratio accountable GFA was 367,222 sg.m.

Humen Xinwan Area: The Three-old Transformation Schemes for
this project is carried out on the Right Owners Self-Redevelopment
basis. As the project is located in Humen area, which falls within the
territorial spatial planning of Guangdong Province (2020-2035), the
urban renewal procedure has been suspended until the completion
of the planning by relevant government authorities. The total
site area of this project is 14,910 sgq.m. with an expected plot ratio
accountable GFA of 34,288 sq.m.

Shatian Renzhou Area: The Three-old Transformation Schemes for
this project is carried out on the Right Owners Self-Transformation
basis. The project is located in Shatian town with a total site area
of approximately 77,321 sq.m. The Three-old Transformation was
currently completed and the land used for the project was identified
as M3 industrial land, with an expected total GFA of 295,645
sg.m. The Three-old Transformation Schemes for this project was
completed in July 2022. The relevant land supply procedures have
been finalised, and the project is currently under construction.
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The Company had entered into nine agreements as preparatory
services providers with relevant parties. The relevant projects are
all located in Dongguan city and involve preparatory services, with
a total site area of 2,229,500 sq.m. The Three-old Transformation
Schemes for the relevant projects is expected to be carried out on
the Open Invitation for Implementing Entities basis. The details of
the projects are as follows:

HH wE G A
Total

Project Location site area

(F77K)

(sgq.m.)

o e BR A R i el 2 323,000

Xie Gang Li Village Xiegang town, Dongguan city

Y A B2/ NE (—HF) R HAE 294,400

Shatian Al Smart Town (First Phase) Shatian town, Dongguan city

A= REMRAE 255,300

Qishi New South Qishi town, Dongguan city

K ET REMAILE 207,800

Cha Shan Shang Yuan Chashan town, Dongguan city

BEREBE REMEEE 161,300

Qingxi Qingxia Qingxi town, Dongguan city

HILKE A & REMAILE 105,700

Chashan Waterworks Area Chashan town, Dongguan city

BIABAR REm& LB R 210,000

Wanjiang Gonglian Area Wanjiang Gonglian area, Dongguan city

HIEHERF & RmHigE 485,300

Hongmei Hongwuwo Area Hongmei town, Dongguan City

B EE R R BHA 186,700

Hengli, Wangniudun Wangniudun town, Dongguan City

&5t 2,229,500

Total
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Overall performance

For the year ended 31 December 2024, total revenue of the Group was
approximately RMB240.9 million, which represented a year-on-year
decrease of 74.4%. Gross profit was approximately RMB62.6 million, which
represented a year-on-year decrease of 75.8%. Gross profit margin was
approximately 26.0%, which represented a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 1.5 percentage points. For the year ended 31 December
2024, loss for the year was approximately RMB801.3 million, as compared to
a loss for the year of approximately RMB730.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. For the year ended 31 December 2024, loss attributable
to owners of the parent was approximately RMB799.5 million, while a
loss attributable to owners of the parent was recorded at approximately
RMB696.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Revenue

Revenue decreased from approximately RMB941.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB240.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, which represented a year-on-year decrease
of 74.4%. The GFA delivered decreased from 67,038 sq.m. for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to 31,530 sg.m. for year ended 31 December
2024, which represented a year-on-year decrease of approximately 53.0%,
while the ASP decreased from RMB13,563 per sg.m. to RMB6,381 per sg.m.
primarily due to a reduction in the area of major delivery projects, and the
relatively low price per unit in 2024.

Cost of sales

Corresponding to the significant decline in revenue, the cost of sales
decreased accordingly from approximately RMB682.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB178.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, which resulted from a significant decrease in
the GFA delivered in 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit decreased from approximately RMB258.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB62.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, with gross profit margin declined slightly from
27.5% to 26.0%, respectively. The decrease in gross profit margin was
mainly due to the difference between product portfolio and regional
portfolio of property delivery, as well as the relatively lower average selling
price of the properties in 2024.

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains increased from approximately RMB7.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB15.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024. Such increase was mainly due to an
increase in exchange gains of approximately RMB7.9 million as compared
to the same period last year.

Fair Value Losses on Investment Properties

The fair value losses on investment properties decreased from
approximately RMB70.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMBO0.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.
Such decrease was primarily attributable to the fluctuations in the market
valuation.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased from approximately RMB44.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB11.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2024. The decrease in such
expenses was primarily due to: (i) the Group's reduction in marketing
and promotion expenses, resulting in a decrease of approximately
RMB28.0 million in sales agency and marketing promotion expenses; and
(ii) the optimization of the Group'’s cost and expense structure, leading
to a decrease of approximately RMB4.2 million in labor costs and office
expenses.
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Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses decreased from RMB235.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to RMB89.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2024. Such decrease was primarily due to (i) a reduction
of approximately RMB57.7 million in employee salary expenses; (ii) a
decrease of approximately RMB16.7 million in office expenses and property
management fees; (i) a reduction of approximately RMB39.1 million in
taxes and fees; and (iv) a decrease of approximately RMB22.7 million in
intermediary service fees and business entertainment expenses.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has the loss allowance
of approximately RMB3.5 million for trade and other receivables based on
the expected credit loss model (for the year ended 31 December 2023:
provision of RMB45.7 million).

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

The impairment provision for inventories based on the net realisable value
of inventory increased from approximately RMB48.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB144.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, primarily due to a decrease in the valuation of
land held for development for sale.

Remeasurement of financial guarantee contracts

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has reversed loss
allowance of approximately RMB5.1 million for financial guarantee
contracts based on the expected credit loss model (for the year ended 31
December 2023: reverse of RMB1.2 million).

Other Expenses

Other expenses decreased from RMB292.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to RMB113.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2024. The decrease was mainly due to (i) a reduction of approximately
RMB85.7 million in investment losses; (i) a decrease of approximately
RMB29.4 million in liquidated damages expenses; and (iii) a reduction of
approximately RMB64.8 million in non-operating expenses.
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Share of Losses of Joint Ventures and an Associate

Share of losses of joint ventures and an associate increased from losses of
approximately RMB15.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
losses of approximately RMB24.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, which was mainly due to the increase in investment losses of this
joint venture in Hunan in 2024.

Finance Costs

Finance cost increased from approximately RMB178.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB441.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, which was primarily due to the increase in loan
balances and overdue interest.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses decreased from approximately RMB65.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB57.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024. The change was primarily due to the
decrease in income tax provisions for the current period resulting from
reduced property sales compared to the same period of the previous year.

Net Loss and Net Loss Margin

There was a net loss of approximately RMB801.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2024 as compared to the net loss of approximately RMB730.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The net loss margin
increased from approximately 77.6% for the year ended 31 December
2023 into a net loss margin of approximately 332.6% for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The net loss increased by approximately RMB70.9 million compared with
31 December 2023. This was primarily attributable to a rise in finance cost
by approximately RMB262.9 million and partially offset by a decrease in the
other expense by approximately RMB179.4 million.
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In 2024, China’s real estate industry showed a “stabilization after decline”
trend amid strong policy adjustments and deep market adjustments. The
overall performance was characterized by a dual contraction in investment
and sales, but signs of recovery began to emerge in the fourth quarter, and
the cumulative effects of coordinated policy measures gradually became
apparent.

Looking ahead to the coming year or even next year, the real estate
industry may still face pressure on both demand and financing fronts. In
view of the foregoing, it is anticipated that stimulating policies to improve
the general macro economy and the real estate market will likely continue
to be issued. It is also expected that consumer confidence and market
sentiment will be restored at some point, taking into account the time
needed for the relevant policies to take effect. Meanwhile, the Group will
continue to implement measures to improve its operational efficiency and
achieve its business objectives.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of property development
in China, and going forward, the Group will continue to focus on property
development projects in the Southern China region, especially the Three-
old Transformation projects in Dongguan, Guangdong Province. Taking
into account the policy about ensuring timely deliveries of pre-sold
housing and the current market conditions, the Group will continue to
focus on:

(i) the completion and delivery of its property projects, including
working with different partners;

(i) implementing measures to accelerate the sale of properties under
development and completed properties; and

(i) consolidating resources to optimize operations, and to reduce
expenses and capital expenditures.
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On the other hand, the Group has been facing financing pressure from
lenders and creditors and is in the process of negotiating with lenders and
creditors. The Group will continue to engage in proactive and constructive
dialogue and maintain a positive momentum with the lenders and
creditors with a view to working out solutions as soon as practical.

Finally, the Group remains optimistic and hopeful about the future, and
believe that through the efforts of all employees, the Group will overcome
the current difficult conditions. Accordingly, the Group would like to
express its sincere gratitude to the Company’s shareholders, investors,
partners, customers and employees.

The Group operated in a capital-intensive industry and has funded its
growth primarily through cash generated from operations including
proceeds from the sale of its properties, debt financing and capital
contributions from shareholders. The Group’s cash requirements relate
primarily to acquisitions of lands, properties development, debt repayment,
and clearance of all applicable taxes for projects developed.

Going forward, the Group believes that its liquidity requirements will be
satisfied by cash generated from its operating activities, banking facilities
available to us, and the net proceeds received from the Company’s global
initial public offering and issuing notes.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB37.2 million as compared to approximately RMB126.2
million as at 31 December 2023. The decrease was primarily due to an
decrease in proceeds from sales of properties during the current period.
Substantially all of the Group’s cash and bank balance are denominated in
RMB.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group's net current liabilities were
approximately RMB3,078.8 million, and as of 31 December 2024, the
Group's net current liabilities were approximately RMB3,919.6 million. The
increase in net current liabilities was mainly attributable to (i) an increase in
other payables, deposits received and accruals by approximately RMB489.3
million as of 31 December 2024; (i) an increase in current interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings by approximately RMB121.6 million as of 31
December 2024; and (iii) an increase in overdue interest, which resulted
in an increase of approximately RMB142.7 million in senior notes as of 31
December 2024.

22  ESEREBRRZAT Huiing Holdings Company Limited



BB 2w AT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

R2024F12A31H AEBARK16701 5
BT (203F : AR¥ 16701 BETT) B
BIZEFREK -

R2024F 128318 AEERTHERLR
BARKE2838EBEL EFEFHANARE

e —

2322 BB (HHER81.8%) °

FERKLER

R2024F 12 A31 8 ARENEEBER (&
BEBENGREAVEERBRINEERETE)
%49 5 93.8% #2023 12 831 B #4783.8% 1%
ET119% - @GN EZHRMN2024F12 A
31 BERBEEE B AR 41637%FTEL -

MR2023F N2024F12A31H  AEEMRE
LR TDEEES BHMNARESEER AR
BAETE  2hlAE0691E K0621F °

S E [ B
RNEBHBRIDWAFIZ B IAARBE
B~ R2024F 128318 KEBI RiEKT
AR S - AEEIE BT ) EERINERE R
SETEIIERR  HEETSEEYFE
RONEH O o

IR AR

A B R RE B BRT R
RHE - AREEBEDERAREDHIES
RAHHAEBAERRMONTEREEA
EEOEHEAERHERR -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's borrowings of RMB1,670.1 million
(2023: RMB1,670.1 million) were borrowings with floating interest rates.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had banking facilities in the total
amount of RMB2,838 million, of which approximately RMB2,322 million,
representing 81.8% has been utilized.

Key financial ratios

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's asset-liability ratio (calculated as the
total liabilities net of contract liabilities balances divided by total assets)
was approximately 93.8%, which represented an increase of 11.9% as
compared to approximately 83.8% as at 31 December 2023. The increase
was primarily attributable to the significant decrease of approximately
163.7% in the balance of total equity as at 31 December 2024,

The Group's current ratio was calculated based on its total current assets
divided by its total current liabilities as of the respective dates and at 0.69
times and 0.62 times respectively as at 31 December 2023 and 2024.

Foreign exchange risk

Substantially all of the Group's revenue and expenditure are denominated
in RMB. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has not entered into any
hedging transactions. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

Interest rate risk

The interest rates on the Group's borrowings are primarily affected by
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The Group manages its
interest rate risk by closely monitoring the trend of interest rate fluctuation
and its impact on the Group's interest rate risk exposure, as well as
regulating the debt portfolio of the Group.
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Pledge of assets

The Group’s bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2024 with
carrying amounts of RMB3,871.6 million (31 December 2023: RMB3,757.6
million), and RMB262.8 million (31 December 2023: RMB255.2 million)
denominated in RMB and United States dollars, respectively, out of
which RMB4,134.4 million (31 December 2023: RMB4,012.8 million) were
secured by certain land held for development for sale, equity interests in
certain subsidiaries, properties under development, property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, right of rental income and completed
properties held for sale of the Group.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had commitments that are contracted
but not provided for in respect of property development expenditure as
follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
2024 £

2023 4

2023
(AR¥TIT)
(RMB'000)

2024
(AR®T )
(RMB’000)

BET4E R Contracted, but not provided for:
RS Properties under development 1,767,317 1,886,771
TR EY Investment properties under construction 299,899 296,553
ERKEEERABERE i Purchase of land through acquisition of
assets and liabilities 216,665 283,975
&t Total 2,283,881 2,467,299
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Financial guarantees and contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's total financial guarantees are as
follows:

W12831H
As at 31 December
2024 £

2023

2023
(AR®TIT)
(RMB'000)

2024
(AR®T )
(RMB’000)

Guarantees given to banks in connection with
mortgage facilities provided to customers of
the Group's properties

1,368,544 2,500,969
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The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by
certain banks to the customers of the Group’s completed properties held
for sale. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements, in case of
default on mortgage payments by the customers, the Group is responsible
to repay the outstanding mortgage principals together with any accrued
interest and penalties owed by the defaulted customers to those banks.

Under the above arrangement, the related properties were pledged to
the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, upon default on mortgage
repayments by these customers, the banks are entitled to take over the
legal titles and will realise the pledged properties through open auction.
The Group's guarantee period starts from the start of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance and registration of property
ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will generally be available
within one to two years after the customers take possession of the relevant
properties.
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The Group did not incur any material losses during the year in respect
of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities granted to customers
of the Group's completed properties held for sale. In the opinion of the
Directors that in case of default on payments, the net realisable value of the
related properties would be sufficient to repay the outstanding mortgage
loans principals together with any accrued interest and penalties and
accordingly, no financial liability has been made in connection with these
guarantees.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

As of 31 December 2024, the Group did not carry out any material
acquisitions or disposals of its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Significant investment held

As at 31 December 2024, there was no significant investment held by the
Group.

Employee and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 153 employees (for
the year ended 31 December 2023: 260). Total expenditure on salary and
welfare of the Group’s employees for the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to approximately RMB34.7 million (2023: approximately RMB97.4
million). The Group has adopted a system of determining the remuneration
of employees based on employees’ qualifications, experience, position
and seniority. In general, the Group provides competitive remuneration
packages to employees, which include basic salaries, allowances,
discretionary bonuses, performance-based rewards and year-end bonus.
The Group operates share option schemes for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group's operations, particulars of which will be set out in
the section headed “Share Option Schemes” of the Company’s annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group also pays social
security insurance for the Group's employees, including social insurance
and housing funds. In terms of employee training, the Group provides
consistent and systematic training to employees based on their positions
and expertise, in order to enhance their expertise in real estate and related
fields.
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The following table sets out the GFA breakdown of the Group’s land
reserves by property project as at 31 December 2024:

Property Type

FUEE
BiER

Unsaleable
GFA
(F5%)

R204512A31HERT

Completed as at 31 December 2024

Bl
BE HE/RE
BEER REER

GFA

available for
GFAsold sale/lease
(Frx)  (Frx)

(sqm)

Investment
property

R2024E12 831 B

Under development as at 31 December 2024
THE/
g
BEER

FUHE
BEER

Saleable/
leaseable
GFA

Unsaleable

(sqm,)

FHES

R

REME  REER
Total

estimate

GFA

Investment  for future
property development
(IERF) (Erk

(sqm)

BREER

frEy%En Residential property project
Rx Dongguan 162,706 940338 33668 - - - - AR
AR Heyuan 100715 590,865 957 - 285060 59,942 - 532707 1570246
T Pinghu 21903 61533 - - - - - - 83436
il Chenzhou - - - - 266456 61781 - - 3827
Gl Xuzhou - - - - 333383 9813 - - 3131%
NGt Subrotal 8534 159273% 34625 - 884899 1315% - 007 3461807
GeNEER Integrated property project
S Dongouan 2865 122204 37% - - - - - 154659
Al Hefei 7415 142812 318 - 61520 6545 - - 27740
R Changsha 64672 143862 88080 - - - - - 26614
NGt Subrotal 100746 408878 95004 - 61520 62545 - - 78693
RENE Investment property
% Dongguan - - - 41109 - - - 41,109
Al Hefe - - - - - - 8121 - 8,121
NGt Subtotal - - - 41,109 - - 84121 - 125230
EBBETEN Property project promoting
ELE] specificindustry
&l Hengyang 12867 90001 347 - 81369 14574 - 100559 1307878
NG Subrotal 12867 90001 347 - 81360 14574 - 10055 1307878
ait Total 308937 2091615 133,100 4109 1027788 208655 BT 1638303 561368
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RuouEnRANABRT RuEnANAER
Completed asat 31 December 2024 Under developmentasat 31 December 2024
AR
BE  WftKE ThE  TEE BE  TURE hEE  ERE ERR EM/M ER/ER ER/MN
BRER REEW  RWNR BEEE REER BEEE REER  REN BYEE REER A% RIRE RREERE  HIRE
Actual
Total Actual/Estimated  ActuaEstimated  Estmated
GFA TotalGFA  estimate GFA Construction Presdle Construction
Unsaleable available  Investment  Total GFA Saleable  Pre-saleable Presold  Unsaleable  Investment under  forfuture Commencement ~ Commencement  Complete
GFA  GFAsold Property  completed GFA GFA GFA  Property development development  TotalGFA Time Time Time
(Frk) (k) Fpk) E%) EFpk) Ek K FpR (%) * (E55)
lsqm) lsqm,) lsqm) lsqm) lsqm) lsgm)
e RE 31587 0y B 698 R | - - - - - - - 09 41 e
Hujing Rversice Vla Dongguan
WEER o R 10220 5206 8 - - B4 - - - - - - - /147 20191 2018428 219626
Huijing Riversice Vil ¢ Perfection ~ Dongguan
BREL R 119999 om ww 336 1) - - - - - - - 6417 20101228 01520 01739
Royal Spring Hil Dongguan
LA R 59665 U6 13653 57 - T - - - - - - - 876 204415 141125 1876
City Valley Dongguan
ESHTRD R 3705 BEY 1M 37% 1539 169988 - - - - - - - 16998 0151006 Wi648 1978
Huijing City Centre Dongguan
HEET B 17314 768 50200 8308 - 85676 - - - - - - - 85676 2011121 012521 1515
Century Gemii Dongguan
ESH ] - - - - 178 5780 - - - - - - - 25760 011121 HMafna 015430
Huijing City Dongguan
BRER B 18914 11610 6614 4746 - 79030 - - - - - - - 7900 2010414 10428 w1120
Central Palace Dongguan
ESSE-ESERRRRL 3% - - 1441 9000 - 1041 - - - - - - - 1041 Rk Fafna TR
Huijing Group — Hujing Global Centre Dongguan
L] B 6042 2745 1547 I} - 188% - - - - - - - 18895 20181024 219119 200630
Fenghua Mansion Dongguan
g
Subtotel M6 19035 1060 17464 4009 1340 - - - - - - B KT
Siest R 40007 BM 18078 - - ey - - - - - - - 2609 w6707 201958 218125
Bund Nog Heyuan
NEERR R T30 841 410080 %7 S eS8 B0 5 TI6% 5994 - WM - 8110 20181130 20181220 001231
Nine Miles Bay Heyuan
RIZB(H5) R 2633 - - - - - - - - - - - s TERna HMafna HMafna
Dongjang River Gallres (3 portion of) - Heyuan
Uy
Subtotel R0 100715 590865 %7 SRS B0 5T TI6 5994 S S 15026
RERETHD = AL 45180 318 B i) 61520 8% bt £2545 @i 2818 - KIS 009 017831 22930
Hefei Huiing Ciy Centre Hefei
ERER EHLEURIE &R 938407 187 90001 34 B 5] 81,369 59739 4090 14574 - B9 LI055% 1307878 2016428 20171030 21231
Huijing Yanhu Intemational Resort ~~ Hengyang
$RE ] B4 1903 6153 - - 843% - - - - - - - 8343 200630 01215 30816
Xingfu Distict Pinghu
EiR il 107319 - - - - - X646 58956 2369 61781 - - 3817 9B 10623 2492
Yonghe District Chenzhou
k il 939 - - - - -, 54652 1549 9813 - W% - 3% m 010877 4110
Jieyou District Kuzhou
Uy
Subtotel 1205037 085 %U6 659 SN 7B 263 T8 M7 @2 9B LIS 244268
ER¥ERRDD ) 0 17/ ) 83080 - e - - - - - - - %M 206630 07125 200630
Huiing Global Centre Changsha
A
Total WA IR W15 1310 4009 ATl 10T8 9883 NS 86 WIS 16833 368
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The Board wishes to draw the attention of the shareholders of the Company
to the section headed “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” as contained in the
Independent Auditor’s Report issued by the Company’s auditors, Prism
Hong Kong Limited (“Prism”). In view of the basis for disclaimer of opinion as
disclosed in the Independent Auditor’s Report relating to the appropriateness
of the assumption regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern (“Disclaimer of Opinion”), the Board has undertaken the following
plans and measures to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position:

1. The Company has maintained regular discussion with creditors regarding
extending payment terms of existing loans and borrowings when
needed. As at the date of the report, the Company has been actively
engaging in discussions and negotiations with its creditors. The creditors
generally hope that the Company can overcome its difficulties and
ultimately formulate a viable repayment plan. In addition, with signs of
recovery emerging in the real estate market, creditors have no intention of
exacerbating the Company's operational challenges. As a result, both the
creditors and the Company are more confident than in the previous two
years that a successful restructuring plan can be formulated;

2. The Company is currently in discussion with a potential strategic
partner and/or investor regarding cooperation at the project company
level as well as the Company level for three key projects. The Company
targets to reach certain agreement regarding the cooperation of
one or more projects in the next one to two years. If such project
cooperation materialized, the Company expects to generate certain
cash inflow from such cooperation. As at the date of the report,
communication regarding the relevant projects is still actively ongoing.
Once project cooperation is executed, the Company may soon after
proceed forward with the discussion regarding cooperation at the
Company level. After that the Company may be able to leverage on
the background of the strategic partner and/or investor to negotiate
an overall extension of repayment terms with the existing loans and
borrowings as well as acquiring new loans and borrowings;

3. As certain economic data released may signaled that the China
economy may be stabilizing, and as the supporting policies enacted
may start to take effect in the near future, the management is of
the view that the sentiment of the property market may improve
in the coming year, which would be beneficial to the Company
in terms of enabling the Company to sell properties in a timely
manner when needed. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
completed properties held for sale, properties under developments
and investment properties amounted to approximately RMB915.9
million, RMB3,113.4 million and RMB1,394.3 million, respectively.
If the Company is able to sell properties as planned in the coming
year, this would generate substantial cash inflow for the Company;

4. The Company is trying to explore more sales channels by
implementing diversified sales strategies. For example, the
marketing department has currently developed sales plans tailored
to project characteristics, including three-tiered collaboration,
online digital marketing, targeted advertising, and upgraded sales
office experiences. These plans are being rolled out in conjunction
with policy measures such as reduced mortgage rates and housing
subsidies for talent, to stimulate sales. The Company aims to achieve
sales revenue recovery within one to two years, aligning with market
recovery and project launch timelines;
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5. The Company is updating its leasing schemes and increasing
promotional efforts for existing rental properties, conducting
monthly market leasing campaigns. The goal is to increase the
occupancy rate and rental income of existing rental properties
within one to two years; and

6. The Company will streamline its workforce and control operating
costs to achieve cost reduction and efficiency improvements. This
includes cost control, project consolidation, position consolidation
to optimise headcount, reducing business entertainment expenses,
and controlling travel expenses. The relevant optimisation plans
are expected to be implemented gradually starting from the fourth
quarter of 2025.

The Board is of the opinion that, taking into account the above plans
and measures implemented during the year ended 31 December 2024
and those it intends to continue, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within the next twelve months from 31 December
2024. Accordingly, the Board is satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 on a going concern basis. Notwithstanding the above
plans and measures, significant uncertainties exist as to whether the Group
will be able to implement them successfully. Should the Group be unable
to operate as a going concern, adjustments may have to be made to write
down the carrying values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Board maintains a proactive stance toward the Company’s current
challenges and believes that the real estate market has shown signs of
gradual recovery. However, due to the fact that certain core assumptions in
the cash flow projections (such as the introduction of strategic investments
and debt restructuring) are still under negotiation, the relevant documents
have not yet attained sufficient legal validity, and the auditors were unable
to meet the stringent requirements for evidence under the principle of
prudence.

Therefore, although the Board believes that the going concern basis
has a reasonable foundation, the auditors, based on their independent
professional judgment and unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence, issued a qualified opinion, which differs from the Board’s
position.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Disclaimer of Opinion, the
management’s position concerning the Disclaimer of Opinion (the
“Management’s Position”) and measures taken by the Group to address
the Disclaimer of Opinion. The Audit Committee agreed with the
Management'’s Position based on the reasons above and in particular, a
critical review of the measures and action plans to address the Disclaimer
of Opinion, together with the timeline stated therein to address the
Disclaimer of Opinion. Moreover, the Audit Committee requested the
management to take necessary actions where possible to address
the uncertainties regarding going concern underlying the Disclaimer
of Opinion that no such Disclaimer of Opinion will be made in the
forthcoming audited financial statements. The Audit Committee had
also discussed with Prism regarding the financial position of the Group,
measures taken and to be taken by the Group, and considered the Prism's
rationale and understood their consideration in arriving their opinion.
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As of the date of this report, the profile of directors and senior management
are as below:

Chairman and Non-Executive Director

Mr Lun Ruixiang, aged 57, was appointed as a Director on 9 January
2019 and was appointed as chairman of the Board and redesignated as a
non-executive Director on 25 March 2019. He is also the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of the remuneration committee
of the Board. Mr Lun is responsible for formulating the overall strategies,
development and directions, as well as monitoring the operations and
management of the Group. Mr Lun founded the Group in 2004 and
has over 20 years of experience in residential and commercial property
development and business development. Mr Lun Ruixiang has been
engaging in the automobile industry in Dongguan since January 1995.

Mr Lun Ruixiang is a relative of Mr Lun Zhao Ming” and the father of Ms Lun
Ying Kit.

Executive Directors

Mr Lu Peijun, aged 52, joined the Group as the financial controller in
March 2005 and became a vice president of the Group in May 2015. He has
been appointed as a Director and redesignated as an executive Director
and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company on 25 March 2019. Mr
Lu is mainly responsible for risk control department of the Company and
assisting in monitoring project implementation and progress. He has more
than 14 years of finance-related experience before joining the Group. He
worked at Guangdong Development Bank (/& 5 2% & R 77) (now known
as China Guangfa Bank (28R 1T)) from January 1994 to March 2005.

Mr Lu graduated from South China Normal University with a degree of
bachelor in legal studies through online education in February 2005.
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Mr Luo Chengyu, aged 41, is the vice president of the Group and was
appointed as an executive Director on 7 May 2021. Mr Luo is mainly
responsible for the management of the investment development
department and financing management department of the Company.
He obtained a bachelor’s degree in traffic engineering from Huazhong
University of Science and Technology in 2006 and a master’s degree in
architecture and civil engineering from Huazhong University of Science
and Technology in 2014. From 2008 to 2016, he worked for the People’s
Government of Town Street governed by Dongguan City, responsible for
urban construction and planning, investment promotion, major municipal
projects management, industrial park development and etc. From
2016 to 2017, he was the head of the Urban Renewal Industry Centre of
Guangdong Zhongtian Group. He is familiar with the operation mode and
rules of urban renewal with rich experience in project management, as well
as excellent coordination capability.

Ms Wang Di, aged 47, joined the Group in July 2018 and was appointed as
an executive Director on 16 May 2025. She is currently the general manager
of Risk Control Center of the Group, responsible for the management
of Company'’s risk control and legal matter. Ms Wang is a director of
a subsidiary of the Company and also a company secretary of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. From 2003 to 2006, she worked at the Nanhui
District People’s Court of Shanghai for trial work. From 2007 to 2013, she
worked for the group of Henderson Land Development Company Limited
(a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
0012), responsible for management of legal affair. From 2013 to 2018, she
was engaged in legal management in South China Holdings Company
Limited (a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 0413).

Ms Wang holds a Bachelor of Science degree from East China Normal
University in 2000. She later received a Master of Laws degree from East
China University of Political Science and Law in 2003 and a Master of
Laws degree from City University of Hong Kong in 2012. In 2002, she also
obtained the Legal Profession Qualification Certificate of the People’s
Republic of China.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr Chan Kin Man, aged 45, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 26 July 2023. He is also the chairman of the audit
committee of the Board.

Mr Chan studied at Saint Joseph's College from September 1998 to
June 2000 and obtained a Bachelor degree of Arts in Accountancy from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2003. Mr Chan is
a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of the
UK (ACCA) and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA).

Mr Chan has many years of experience in financing, auditing, accounting,
etc.. From September 2003 to March 2010, Mr Chan acted as an accountant,
senior accountant and audit manager in Ernst & Young, and participated
in projects relating to listings in Hong Kong and annual audits for various
companies. From August 2010 to November 2015, Mr Chan served as the
financial controller in New Northeast Electric Holding Limited (¥ 5 1t &
SRR FBR 2 A)). From July 2016 to September 2019, Mr Chan served as
the general manager of capital operation center and the investor relations
director in LVGEM (China) Investment Company Limited (4% & (Ff &) %
& B BR A &)). From September 2019 and November 2019 to September
2024, Mr Chan served as the chief financial officer and company secretary
of LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited (a company
whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”), stock code: 00095), respectively. Starting from June
2020, Mr Chan is an independent non-executive director of Zuoli Kechuang
Micro-finance Company Limited* (#c 71 Bt &I/NEEE KR D B R A 7l)
(@ company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
06866).

Ms Ou Ningxin, aged 44, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 26 July 2023. She is also a member of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Board.

Ms Ou has around 20 years of working experience as solicitor. She obtained
the legal professional qualification certificate in the PRC in March 2004
and qualified practicing certificate in the PRC in 2005, respectively. Ms Ou
is currently a practicing lawyer in Dongguan, PRC. She is the co-founder
and chief lawyer of Guangdong Tianbing Law Firm* (B8R X Z 2 A0 =
7% FIT). Ms Ou specializes in work associated with legal services including
corporate equity investment and financing, corporate governance and
inheritance, family offices, commercial arbitration and mediation etc..
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Ms Ou has served as the director of the Female Lawyers Working
Committee of the Dongguan Lawyers Association* (5 ¢ T 12 Al #
L EA T EZ B €), the director of the Family Law Professional
Committee* %?i@ﬁiiﬁ =
of outstanding committee director in both committees. She is currently
the director of Dongguan Lawyers Association* (R 2R &),
director of the Legal Professional Committee of Commercial Arbitration
and Mediation* (B E MM HEAREZEZEEZE®), the arbitrator
of Dongguan Arbitration Commission* (R 52 £ Z 8 &), and the
arbitrator of Guangzhou Arbitration Commission* J?)l\1ﬂl”i&§,\ & She
is also the supervisor of Dongguan Red Cross Society* (B 5 M 4L + 5
annual legal counsel of Shatian Town Government* (¥ FH 58 B ), ch|ef
supervisor of New Social Stratum Friendship Association in Wanjiang* (£
ST 37 B% B ), executive committee of Young Entrepreneurs’ Association in
Wuchuan Chamber of Commerce of Dongguan City* (R R I A& FH
tg), d|rector of Association of Women Entrepreneurs in Wanjiang* (&)L
I FE R E) and legal counsel of Chamber of Commerce in Wanjiang*

(BT 2), Individual Private Association* (&8 FL & 17 & ) and Catering
(B 81 €). Ms Ou graduated with a degree of Bachelor in
Civil and Commercial Law from Southwest University of Political Science &
Law in the PRCin 2003.

), which she was awarded the honor

Association*

Mr Chen Guilin, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 25 April 2023. He is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee, and a member of audit committee and nomination committee
of the Board.

Mr Chen has over 30 years of experience in engineering design consulting,
project contracting, real estate development and property investment. He
has been appointed as the chairman and design director of Dongguan
Meilin Jianye Design Engineering Co., Ltd.* EMEMBERTI
2 B BR A A)) since August 2004. He has also been appointed as the
chairman of Hefei Meilin Land Investment Co,, Ltd.* (& BT EME 1%
& AHBRAT]) since April 2013. He is the founder and chairman of Chizhou
Meilin Real Estate Co,, Ltd* Gti/NZEMEBE E B R A F])

since April 2014

in Anhui Province

Mr Chen holds a Bachelor of Engineering degree in Water Conservancy and
Hydropower Engineering Construction from Hohai University in Nanjing.
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Mr Chen Shaobin, aged 57, is a vice president of the Group. He first joined
as the deputy general manager of Real Estate Development Department
in the Group in April 2004 and became our vice president in May 2016. Mr
Chen is responsible for assisting the Group's outreaching affairs.

Ms Lun Ying Kit, aged 30, is the vice president of the Group. In 2016,
she obtained a bachelor’s degree in art and business from the University
of New South Wales, Australia, and a master's degree in marketing from
University of New South Wales, Australia in 2018. She is in charge of the
Group's brand management, customer relationship management and
commercial sector of property with excellent market acumen, insight and
team management ability.

Ms Lun Ying Kit is the daughter of Mr Lun Ruixiang and a relative of Mr Lun
Zhao Ming”.
*  For identification purpose only

A

Mr Lun Zhao Ming was the executive Director and chief executive officer of the
Group. His resignation took effect on 1 January 2025.
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The Board is committed to achieving high corporate governance standards.
The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are essential
in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The
Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its
own code of corporate governance.

The Board had reviewed its corporate governance practices throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024, and confirmed that up to the date of this annual
report the Company has complied with all principles and code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The
Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance practices and will
review from time to time to ensure the compliance with the evolving regulatory
requirements.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its code for dealing in securities of the Company
by the Directors. Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and
all the Directors have confirmed their compliance with the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has also established written guidelines on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for
securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession
of unpublished inside information of the Group. No incident of non-
compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was
noted by the Company during the period commencing from the Listing
Date to the date of this annual report.
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The composition of the Board as at the date of this annual report is as
follows:

Non-executive Director:

Mr Lun Ruixiang (Chairman)

Executive Directors:

Mr Lun Zhao Ming (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned with effect from 1 January 2025)
Mr Lu Peijun
Mr Luo Chengyu
Ms Wang Di (appointed with effect from 16 May 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr Chan Kin Man
Ms Ou Ningxin
Mr Chen Guilin

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual.

The chairman, being Mr Lun Ruixiang, provides leadership for and
management of the Board. He is responsible for ensuring that all Directors
are properly briefed on issues to be discussed at Board meetings and
receive, in a timely manner, adequate, accurate, clear, complete and
reliable information. He also takes primary responsibility to ensure that the
Board works effectively, performs its responsibilities and discusses all key
and appropriate issues in a timely manner. He fulfills this by encouraging
Directors to make a full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs
and ensure the Board acts in the best interests of the Company. He also
encourages Directors with different views to voice their concerns, allows
sufficient time for discussion of issues and ensures Board decisions fairly
reflect Board consensus. The chairman is responsible for facilitating the
effective contribution of non-executive Directors and ensuring constructive
relations between executive and non-executive Directors.
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The chief executive officer, being Mr Lun Zhao Ming, is responsible for
leading the day-to-day management of the Group’s business in accordance
with the strategy, policies and programmes approved by the Board. The
chief executive officer is also responsible for providing reports and advice
to the Board on the performance of the Group's business. The chief
executive officer would be supported by the management, who provides
relevant information and recommendations to facilitate informed decision
making.

Mr Lun Ruixiang is a relative of Mr Lun Zhao Ming. Save as disclosed
aforesaid, none of the members of the Board is related to one another.

Mr Lun Zhao Ming tendered his resignation to the Board as an executive
director and the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from
1 January 2025. After his resignation, the duties of the CEO have been
undertaken by all executive Directors and the senior management of the
Company collectively.

Independent Non-executive Directors

As at the date of this report, the Board met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board, with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Paragraph C.2.7 of the CG Code provides that the chairman should at least
annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive Directors
without the executive Directors and non-executive Directors present. The
Chairman held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors
during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Appointment and re-election of Directors

In accordance with the Code Provision B.2.2, every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Under the Articles of Association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for
the time being, (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. Also, under the Articles of Association of
the Company, any Director appointed either by the board or in a general
meeting by ordinary resolution to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting.

Each of the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) is
appointed for an initial term of three years and is subject to retirement by
rotation once every three years.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. The Directors make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company as well as the services and advice from the company secretary
and senior management of the Company. The Directors may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expenses, for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by
them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution required from each
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company.

Confirmations have been received from all Directors that they have
provided sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024. Directors have also disclosed
to the Company their interests as director or other office in other public
companies and organisation in a timely manner, and have regularly
reported to the Company on any subsequent changes.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), significant domestic and/or overseas investments, financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational
matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing
decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company's expenses and/or reading materials relevant to the Company’s
business or to the directors’ duties and responsibilities.

A summary of training received by Directors and/or reading materials
relevant to the business or directors’ duties during the period under review
and as at the date of this annual report according to the records provided
by the Directors is as follows:

HESN NG

Z3,FE

Attended

briefings/

trainings/

Directors read materials
fin L& Mr Lun Ruixiang v
IR A (820251 A1 HRET) Mr Lun Zhao Ming (resigned with effect from 1 January 2025) v
EME LA Mr Lu Peijun v
B E Mr Luo Chengyu v
Tzt (B2025F5 16 ABEZ ) Ms Wang Di (appointed with effect from 16 May 2025) v
PR fi R 5 A Mr Chan Kin Man v
BlERL+ Ms Ou Ningxin v
BRAEMRSE A Mr Chen Guilin v
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Name of Directors

Board meetings

Code provisions C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the Board should meet
regularly and Board meetings should be held at least four times each year.
The Board held four meetings and one annual general meeting during the
year ended 31 December 2024. The table below sets forth the details of the
attendance record:

HiE
RERBFRE HE B
HITRE HITRE

Attended/

Number of Attended/
annual general Number of

meeting(s) meeting(s) held

fm It 55 A Mr Lun Ruixiang 1/1 4/4
mRAA LA (B 202561 A1 BRREHE)  MrLun Zhao Ming (resigned with effect

from 1 January 2025) 11 4/4
EME LA Mr Lu Peijun 1 4/4
RIS R E Mr Luo Chengyu 0/1 4/4
PR R 5 A4 Mr Chan Kin Man /1 3/4
Br=mea 4 Ms Ou Ningxin 1 4/4
BREEME & Mr Chen Guilin 11 4/4

EEEZETE
EFRCKUBREER HHEATRE
EEEE NEEAARABERBOEY-
ART LR AEFEEERYEHTER
BAEEE WRADTRGRAEN W
FERR R ERIRYL -

tAEFERZBENARIOK B BB
WITES BEEFTEZREENTIFRKE
HEHENAFRIRBER ] —H -

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company's affairs. All the said Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference, which are posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and are available to
shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of the said Board committees are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman and
members of each Board committee is set out in the section headed
"Corporate Information” of this annual report.
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Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are (i) to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and to consider any
questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditor; (ii) to review and
monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards;
(iii) to communicate and monitoring the work of internal audit and external
auditors to develop and implement policy on the engagement of an
external auditor to supply non-audit services, and to report to the Board,
identify and make recommendations on any matters requiring action
or improvement; (iv) discuss with the external auditor before the audit
commences, the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations,
and ensure coordination where more than one audit firm is involved:; (v)
to examine the financial positions of the Company; (vi) to oversee the
Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; and (vii) to oversee the Company’s corporate governance
functions.

As of the date of this report, the Audit Committee was chaired by Mr Chan
Kin Man with two other members, Ms Ou Ningxin and Mr Chen Guilin, all
being independent non-executive Directors.

Mr Chan Kin Man is the chairman of the Audit Committee, met the
appropriate professional qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and
3.21 of the Listing Rules.

42  ESERABRAT Huijing Holdings Company Limited



RYNVEY, vax

PEEBME

=
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERZESCEHNEZTE  FERFENK
E FHREIINBZEMESHEEREZ
BEPHNERBRARH 2 ZHRE  FHE
ANBEZEE FHUBRESE 645
BrE- A ERREESNERERF 2
EABEINBIZEE AR TEHE - B
HR G BMRARAMEEEABRERET
FYXRTEHOBE c AR EEAMS -
EBEREZEgNEHNARRARETEMAARAK
TEEAMBRENPESE BERLTESHZE
204F NANALEFERNDRIT=ZRGHE
TR E 8

Name of committee member

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audit plan, reviewed the annual
financial results and report as well as the audit report prepared by the
external auditor relating to accounting issues and major findings in course
of audit, reviewed major internal audit issues, reviewed the financial
reporting system, compliance procedures, internal control and risk
management systems and processes, recommended re-appointment of
external auditors and relevant scope of works and continuing connected
transactions, ensured the Company’s corporate governance function
and fulfilled duties as aforesaid required. From the perspective of the
Company's corporate governance, the Audit Committee has also reviewed
the Company’'s compliance with the Listing Rules and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
three Audit Committee meetings were held. The table below sets forth the
details of the attendance record:

HEER
HITRH

Attended/
Number of
meeting(s) held

BRIER K& (F/E) Mr Chan Kin Man (Chairman) 3/3

BrEmeat Ms Ou Ningxin 3/3

BRAEMR ST 4 Mr Chen Guilin 3/3
SMEES Remuneration Committee

FWZEENEIEBEREIREARARES
ReBREEEHMO T NER RERE k&
VIER R EFERAE 22 FF LASIET 5 B BUOR M
BECREES (I 2REFENDLERIEZ
RRE A RAEE R H I EZ (i) st &
FHTEELSREEENTNGE (BEE
AN ERN RARSEFNNGEES (2FE
ERFKIFPERBKETMEZINOEE))
MEEGRHES  (VRIERTESFH M
MESCREED  WVEBEARAKLEMNIT
¥PUL QBN IE  BHAGNE
E VA Ko 7N 62 5] L th 45 &8 b [ &9 h 35 061

RW)IRIBE B R IERERTE - BRI
REFEHARTESRSAEREMNHERE -

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are (i) to recommend
the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for the
Directors and senior management remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;
(i) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; (iii) to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment; (iv) to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive
Directors; (v) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies in
the industry in which the Company operates, time commitment and
responsibilities, and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group; and
(vi) to consider and recommend to the Board for approval the grant of
share options to Directors and senior management pursuant to any share
option schemes in effect.
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BB RS2 ()
s s
REELL

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the second model described
in paragraph E.1.2(c) under Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules (i.e. make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Director and senior management member).

As of the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee was chaired by
Mr Chen Guilin, an independent non-executive Director with two other
members, Mr Lun Ruixiang, a non-executive Director and Ms Ou Ningxin,
an independent non-executive Director. No Director involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has considered and recommended to the
Board the remuneration package of the individual executive Directors and
senior management as well as the remuneration of the non-executive
Directors and fulfilled duties as aforesaid required. During the year ended
31 December 2024, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held. The
table below sets forth the details of the attendance record:

HEER
HITRHE

Attended/
Number of
meeting(s) held

Mr Chen Guilin (Chairman) 11
Mr Lun Ruixiang 11
Ms Ou Ningxin 11

REEMREENFMFBENERAVBER

TR

Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the period under review are set
out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Details of the remuneration by band of the members of senior
management (excluding Directors) of the Company for the year ended 31

December 2024 is set out below:

3 B 0 ] (PR A 45 B A B BR RE B 2 BR M) A

Remuneration bands (excluding Number of

equity-settled share option expense) person(s)

AR 750,000 TTEIA TR RMB750,000 or below 1

AR ¥ 750,001 . E AR ¥ 1,000,000 7T RMB750,001 to RMB1,000,000 1

AR # 1,000,001 7T A RMB1,000,001 or above 0
BErrae Nomination Committee

REZEGNIZRECEIEFRVES
EMAB BB HERkZTE ARES
& RECA AR AR D X BRS FF AV E 52

REDRERY OREARBEEFAE
TR () DEAENARBEEE

THERBETESTHNARAEZTSRHE
i VERNEFEREZTTEMBRR R
REXERRETIFLERE VBT
FRITEFNEIULI -

RAZESEHERBEFHHEREARREA
WHIE BB REEURRARREEBENIA
BITRGEBEMNEN REZEQNER
EEHERBIRETESTSELRE -

BEARERY REAZECHINTES
IR EEETRE  REMMEBEIIFHR
TEERERL T RREMEL -

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy; (i) to make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors; (iii) to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Directors and make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorship; (iv) to review the policy on Board diversity and make
disclosure of such in the corporate governance report; and (v) to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision.

As of the date of this report, the Nomination Committee was chaired by Mr

Lun Ruixiang, a non-executive Director with two other independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms Ou Ningxin and Mr Chen Guilin.
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Name of committee member

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board, reviewed the board diversity policy, as well
as assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors,
made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of the retiring
Directors and fulfilled duties as aforesaid required. During the year ended

1 December 2024, one Nomination Committee meeting was held. The
table below sets forth the details of the attendance record:

HE &3
BITRE
Attended/
Number of

meeting(s) held

fmin i (FE) Mr Lun Ruixiang (Chairman) 11
ErEmi+ Ms Ou Ningxin 11
BREEMRSE A& Mr Chen Guilin 1/1
REBR Nomination Policy
HE204FN2ANBLEFE REZES During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee
EmEBBER ([IRRABK]) - #IBEZEH  adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) setting out the

RRERE  U9E MEREREFRE
A RABBHEMT -

i) B8
REZEERANESTERLEENIKE
A DR RBEIL ABCRER - RBRE
RELEBR/EFT ITIwREFEM
e B ZE R ©

REZEGHEEBR/EENBRT @ R
FEEPRERRRE LEPREHNED
REANE AR =R AR -

selection criteria and nomination procedures to identify, select and
recommend candidates for Directors. Details of the Nomination Policy as
follows:

(i)  Objective
The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates
to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to the
Shareholders for election as the Directors at general meetings or
appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

The Nomination Committee may, as it considers appropriate,
nominate a number of candidates more than the number of
Directors to be appointed or re-appointed at a general meeting, or
the number of casual vacancies to be filled.

46  CESERAR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited



RY VA, vax

PEEIRWRSE

)
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(i) BEZE
EAEEZENREAUEBEGREN
FmAESENE REZTESLEN
AEPEETRERY  EENRIZBE .
ERAEELEMITE LN KL
B B AR KRR S ARG
IEBAARRTKRREMNEES L TL
BERENESFEZLERAE - ZEA
REHSZ WIERMENZSERER
EM - RERZEEEERABEEMBNR
TERNBERREREMA -

(iii) REBEEF
RAZESRBFESSHRERREE
A(NE)  HERSHANEE -REZE
Bgh RN IIESTSKERZMNFEE
}\o

REZEGRYERBREZRE Y
ExenHiEK BRI HEFS
BRME - REAZEGREEZRE
ARBRAGES2E MEEGIEHE
AFE BRI o

FEBMBBKA WERATZRBRES
CERBHEEBRRAGL2E -

RTRFEZTSRENEEARBERASZ
EHER NRAGRBRR B XBE - E2E
REANES  BE (BREENMIBEER)
B REFWMEERRE  ROIRER
RENEAEMEMN SR GERRABRT

REAAERRAE A AT ERERR AR
WEBRZXEMBANHLEREAER -

EEeRMHEBREANEARRAS2E
HIFTE R RER SR

(ii)  Selection Criteria

In assessing a proposed candidate for the recommendation of
appointment or re-appointment of the members of the Board,
the factors which would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee include but not limited to the Director’s reputation for
integrity, his/her accomplishment and experience in the industry
which the Group operates, his/her commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest as well as the diversity in all
its aspects as set out in the Board Diversity Policy adopted by the
Company from time to time. These factors are for reference only,
and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it
considers appropriate.

(iii) Nomination Procedures

The Nomination Committee shall invite nominations of candidates
from Board members if any, for consideration by the Nomination
Committee prior to its meeting. The nomination committee may also
put forward candidates who are not nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy and/or as an addition to the Board, the
nomination committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s
consideration and approval. For proposing candidates to stand for
election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make
nominations to the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated persons shall not
assume that they have been proposed by the Board to stand for election at
the general meeting.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated by the
Board to stand for election at a general meeting, a circular will be sent to
shareholders. The names, brief biographies (including qualifications and
relevant experience), independence, proposed remuneration and any
other information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations, of the proposed candidates will be included in the circular to
shareholders.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time before the
general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the Company Secretary.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its

recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general
meeting.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”) in
accordance with the provisions of the Listing Rules, which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. All Board appointments shall be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against selection
criteria, having regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board. The nomination committee
will monitor the implementation of the Diversity Policy and will review the
Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The Diversity Policy also sets out the Board’s commitment to gender
diversity and other diversity aspects. As at the date of this annual report,
the Board consists of five male members and two female members, and
the Board will take opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members over time as and when selecting and making recommendation
on suitable candidates as Directors.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the period under review with the support
from the Company’s finance and accounts department.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company's financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Material uncertainties relating to
going concern” in the Independent Auditor’s Report, the Directors are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company'’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

Notwithstanding the above, as set forth in the section headed “THE
MANAGEMENT POSITION, VIEWS AND ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER
OPINION" in this Corporate Governance Report, the Directors have taken
and will continue to implement measures to improve the Group's liquidity
and financial position. Based on the plans and measures, the Board
is satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 on a going
concern basis.
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The Board wishes to draw the attention of the shareholders of the Company
to the section headed “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” as contained in the
Independent Auditor’s Report issued by the Company’s auditors, Prism
Hong Kong Limited (“Prism”). In view of the basis for disclaimer of opinion as
disclosed in the Independent Auditor’s Report relating to the appropriateness
of the assumption regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern (“Disclaimer of Opinion”), the Board has undertaken the following
plans and measures to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position:

1. The Company has maintained regular discussion with creditors
regarding extending payment terms of existing loans and
borrowings when needed. As at the date of the report, the Company
has been actively engaging in discussions and negotiations with
its creditors. The creditors generally hope that the Company can
overcome its difficulties and ultimately formulate a viable repayment
plan. In addition, with signs of recovery emerging in the real estate
market, creditors have no intention of exacerbating the Company’s
operational challenges. As a result, both the creditors and the
Company are more confident than in the previous two years that a
successful restructuring plan can be formulated;

2. The Company is currently in discussion with a potential strategic
partner and/or investor regarding cooperation at the project company
level as well as the Company level for three key projects. The Company
targets to reach certain agreement regarding the cooperation of
one or more projects in the next one to two years. If such project
cooperation materialized, the Company expects to generate certain
cash inflow from such cooperation. As at the date of the report,
communication regarding the relevant projects is still actively ongoing.
Once project cooperation is executed, the Company may soon after
proceed forward with the discussion regarding cooperation at the
Company level. After that the Company may be able to leverage on
the background of the strategic partner and/or investor to negotiate
an overall extension of repayment terms with the existing loans and
borrowings as well as acquiring new loans and borrowings;

3. As certain economic data released may signaled that the China
economy may be stabilizing, and as the supporting policies enacted
may start to take effect in the near future, the management is of
the view that the sentiment of the property market may improve
in the coming year, which would be beneficial to the Company
in terms of enabling the Company to sell properties in a timely
manner when needed. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
completed properties held for sale, properties under developments
and investment properties amounted to approximately RMB915.9
million, RMB3,113.4 million and RMB1,394.3 million, respectively.
If the Company is able to sell properties as planned in the coming
year, this would generate substantial cash inflow for the Company;

4. The Company is trying to explore more sales channels by implementing
diversified sales strategies. For example, the marketing department
has currently developed sales plans tailored to project characteristics,
including three-tiered collaboration, online digital marketing, targeted
advertising, and upgraded sales office experiences. These plans are
being rolled out in conjunction with policy measures such as reduced
mortgage rates and housing subsidies for talent, to stimulate sales. The
Company aims to achieve sales revenue recovery within one to two
years, aligning with market recovery and project launch timelines;
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5 The Company is updating its leasing schemes and increasing
promotional efforts for existing rental properties, conducting monthly
market leasing campaigns. The goal is to increase the occupancy rate
and rental income of existing rental properties within one to two years;
and

6 The Company will streamline its workforce and control operating costs
to achieve cost reduction and efficiency improvements. This includes
cost control, project consolidation, position consolidation to optimise
headcount, reducing business entertainment expenses, and controlling
travel expenses. The relevant optimisation plans are expected to be
implemented gradually starting from the fourth quarter of 2025.

The Board is of the opinion that, taking into account the above plans
and measures implemented during the year ended 31 December 2024
and those it intends to continue, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within the next twelve months from 31 December
2024. Accordingly, the Board is satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 on a going concern basis. Notwithstanding the above
plans and measures, significant uncertainties exist as to whether the Group
will be able to implement them successfully. Should the Group be unable
to operate as a going concern, adjustments may have to be made to write
down the carrying values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Board maintains a proactive stance toward the Company’s current
challenges and believes that the real estate market has shown signs of gradual
recovery. However, due to the fact that certain core assumptions in the cash
flow projections (such as the introduction of strategic investments and debt
restructuring) are still under negotiation, the relevant documents have not
yet attained sufficient legal validity, and the auditors were unable to meet the
stringent requirements for evidence under the principle of prudence.

Therefore, although the Board believes that the going concern basis has a
reasonable foundation, the auditors, based on their independent professional
judgment and unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence,
issued a qualified opinion, which differs from the Board's position.
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The Audit Committee had reviewed the Disclaimer of Opinion, the
management’s position concerning the Disclaimer of Opinion (the
“Management’s Position”) and measures taken by the Group to address the
Disclaimer of Opinion. The Audit Committee agreed with the Management's
Position based on the reasons above and in particular, a critical review of the
measures and action plans to address the Disclaimer of Opinion, together with
the timeline stated therein to address the Disclaimer of Opinion. Moreover, the
Audit Committee requested the management to take necessary actions where
possible to address the uncertainties regarding going concern underlying
the Disclaimer of Opinion that no such Disclaimer of Opinion will be made in
the forthcoming audited financial statements. The Audit Committee had also
discussed with Prism regarding the financial position of the Group, measures
taken and to be taken by the Group, and considered the Prism’s rationale and
understood their consideration in arriving their opinion.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor's Report”.

The remuneration paid to Prism Hong Kong Limited (“Prism”), the external
auditors of the Company for the period was RMB3.7 million for audit
services.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
supports the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board
and the Board policy and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary
is an employee of the Company and has day-to- day knowledge of its
affairs. The selection, appointment or dismissal of the Company Secretary
will be approved by the Board as appropriate at a physical board meeting.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Tang So Him served as the
company secretary of the Company. Ms Tang So Him is a director and a founder
of AFFLUENT SEA CORPORATE SERVICES LIMITED, the external professional
service provider, and engaged by the Company as its company secretary. The
external professional service provider’s primary contact person at the Company is
Ms Wang Di, the general manager of Risk Control Center of the Group.

Ms Tang So Him has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Duties of the Board and the Management

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and reviewing
their effectiveness at least annually through the audit committee.

The Board is responsible for assessing and determining the nature and
extent of the risks that the Group is willing to take in achieving the
strategic objectives, and monitoring the establishment and maintenances
of appropriate and effective risk management and internal controls
system. The management is responsible for designing and maintaining an
effective risk management and internal control system as well as providing
confirmations to the Board on the effectiveness of the system.
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Such risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
that there will be no material misstatements or losses.

Risk Management

The Group's risk management structure meets the best practice model
known as “Three Lines of Defense Model” with the first line of defense
being operational management and internal control measures, the second
line of defense being finance, cost and quality control, human resources
functions, legal and compliance, and company secretarial, and the third
line of defense being internal audit.

E—ER EERR F=ERR
1st Line of Defense 2nd Line of Defense 3rd Line of Defense
: : : IhEE
B : B EEHE
. External Regulator
» F
EEEE P fnanee Auditor
Operational RARESEE
Management . Cost and Quality
. Control
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Internal Control Legal and Compliance
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board, through the audit
committee, conducted a comprehensive review of the risk management
system, identified the risks facing the Group and adopted the relevant
countermeasures with the help of external consultants, clarified the main
department responsible for risk management, countermeasures, objectives for
improvement, and reported the assessment results to the audit committee.

Internal Control

The Group's risk management system is integrated with internal control
system which was developed based on the COSO (the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission) principles.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance on the effectiveness and efficiency of operations in
achieving the established corporate objectives, safeguarding the Group’s
assets, providing reliable financial reporting information and complying
with the applicable laws and regulations. Systems and procedures are also
established to identify, measure, manage and control, rather than eliminate,
different risks arising from different business and functional activities.

Internal Audit

The internal audit department plays an important role in enhancing
internal control system of the Group. It assists the Board in determining
whether sound internal control system is maintained and operated in
compliance with the established processes and standards by performing
periodic audits over all major operations of the Group, under a rotational
cycle. An annual audit plan (comprising annual audit focus and audit
frequencies) is prepared based on the department’s independent risk
assessment. Such work plan is discussed and agreed with the audit
committee at the beginning of each financial year. If any material risks
or internal control defects are found, the internal audit department will
discuss with respective department heads to have actions agreed and
subsequently followed up, in order to ensure that satisfactory controls
are maintained. Major internal audit findings will be submitted to the
audit committee for review and all improvement actions will be properly
followed up by management to ensure that they are implemented within
a reasonable period of time.

The Group complies with the requirements of Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“SFO") and the Listing Rules. The Group will disclose inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the “safe harbours” provisions and satisfies
the conditions under the SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed
to the public, the Group will ensure that the information is kept strictly
confidential.
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The Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside
information and established and implemented procedures for responding
to external enquiries about the Group's affairs, so that only the executive
Directors are authorized to communicate with parties outside the Group.

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted annual review
of the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems for the Year, covering all material financial, operational and
compliance controls, and it has considered the Group's risk management
and internal control system to be effective and adequate.

The Board strives to maintain on-going dialogues with the shareholders
through various communication channels, for instance, the publication
of notices, announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports. All such
information are available on the Company’s website.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides an opportunity for
shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The Chairman of
the Company and the Chairman of the Board committees will attend the
annual general meeting to answer shareholders’ questions. The external
auditor of the Company will also attend the annual general meeting to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor’s
independence.

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy which will
be reviewed regularly to ensure its effectiveness to enhance shareholders’
relationship with the Company and to comply with the relevant rules and
corporate governance code.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’” communication policy and considered it to be conducted
effectively during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

According to Article 58 of the Company's Articles of Association, any one or
more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general
meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
However, shareholders who wish to propose resolutions may follow
Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association for requisitioning an
extraordinary general meeting and including a resolution at such meeting.
The requirements and procedures of Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of
Association are set out above.

Regarding proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures are
available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders’ enquiries
If shareholders have any queries in connection with their shareholdings,

please write to or contact the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at:

17/F Far East Finance Centre 16 Harcourt Road Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2980 1066

Fax: (852) 2262 7584

Website: www.tricorglobal.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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The Directors pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Year.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

The results of the Group for the Year and the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 96 to 212 of this annual report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The Board has adopted a dividend policy. The principles and guidelines of
such are as follows:

(@) The Company has no fixed dividend payout ratio;

(b)  Any declaration and payment of dividends by the Company shall
be made in accordance with the constitutional documents of the
Company and the relevant laws and regulations, including the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (the “Cayman Companies
Law”). Pursuant to the Cayman Companies Law, the Company
shall not declare or pay a dividend or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus (which, for this purpose, includes proceeds
arising from donated shares, credits resulting from the redemption
or conversion of shares at less than the amount set up as nominal
capital, and donations of cash and other assets to the Company), if
there are reasonable grounds for believing that (i) the Company is,
or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due; or (ii) the realisable value of the Company’s assets
would thereby be less than its liabilities;

(@  Any declaration and payment of dividends by the Company,
including the amount of any dividends to be declared, is subject
to the discretion of the Board and, where required under the
constitutional documents of the Company and the Cayman
Companies Law, the approval of the shareholders of the Company
(the "Shareholders”); and
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(d)  The Directors may recommend a declaration and payment of
dividends after taking into account the Group's operations and
earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial
condition, contractual restrictions, capital expenditure and future
development requirements, Shareholders' interests and other factors
which they may deem relevant at such time.

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (2025 AGM")
will be held on Friday, 5 September 2025. The notice of 2025 AGM will be
published and issued to shareholders of the Company in due course.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 2
September 2025 to Friday, 5 September 2025 (both days inclusive), for the
purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at
the 2025 AGM. In order to be entitled to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM,
all completed transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited of 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong
Time) on Monday, 1 September 2025. The record date for the attending
and voting at the 2025 AGM is Friday, 5 September 2025.

An overview and the outlook of the Group's business are provided in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
& Analysis” of this annual report. No important event affecting the Group
has occurred since the end of the Year. Certain financial key performance
indicators can be found in the section headed “Financial Highlights”.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
shown in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

An account of the Group's relationship with its key stakeholders and
discussions on the Group's environmental policies and performance are
included in a separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”,
which will be published in compliance with the stipulations under the
Listing Rules, and in the section headed “"Corporate Governance Report”.

The Company is in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Company for the Year.

3R 2024 Annual Report 57



HEG W

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

FTERRRTEEMN
AEERBEREEENIBER Y EK
RE DERE B AF R BEA R AR MR
BRI 2 E KM B AR IR R -

HAIER MATSECRR P B ET S
BRI - WA R BERT 5K B AT
M

BMEREFNNOM IS FES T AR
RAMEEM

BP2EBETERERAGEFTRZESK
AREBR MEBEROEER A
KAlgE N @R

i FR AP R R - RIFR AT AT RE SBOR M (Bl
EAENER

BT RE M R RS ISR - AR H Al
FRAPI AT BE SOE M R RO BRPA

HPIRARIRAIBEEE ARG ¥ LRI R M
EREEARMBERAE MBS LT
itk SRR ERMNER B
B - EEXBERATR

HANEBLEE (BREREMANETHE
MIER)ERARE EXBFBE M
BMAARR - RAIBRSZ B P EEET
35 R B P8 & PR b [ O BOSR S )
MR

MEFRE S RTEESE  WERMNE
FE S TR E# ST RA7T - B
B EEEE (BRETOEE &
EMERBFIEFENERIME) BE
BB &

HPEREELCENERERR

B B 7N 5% (8] I 7 0 e ) L At R B B TR RE 1A

== 52

=k

58

FAkERIERRAE] -

Principal risk and uncertainties

The Group believes that the risk management practices are important and
use its best effort to ensure it is sufficient to mitigate the risks present in our
operations and financial position as efficiently and effectively as possible:

Our business and prospects depend on the performance of the
PRC property market and may be adversely affected by any market
fluctuations;

Our expansion into new geographical markets presents certain risks
and uncertainties;

Our involvement in urban renewal developments may require more
costs and resources and the benefits from such developments may
not become apparent in the near future;

We may not be able to recoup committed resources if our land
acquisition fails;

We may acquire land parcels in the future, title or other defects of
which we may not be able to remedy;

We may not be able to acquire land reserves in desirable locations
that are suitable for our development at commercially acceptable
prices in the future, which may affect our business, financial
conditions, results of operation and prospects;

Our business and operations, including our urban renewal projects,
are highly subject to government policies and regulations. We are
susceptible to adverse changes in policies in the PRC real estate
market and in regions we operate;

Property development involve uncertainties, and we may incur
impairment losses of our assets (including our land reserves,
properties under development and completed properties held for
sale) if our property development or our property becomes less
economically viable; and

We are exposed to the credit risk of our joint venture.

For other risks and uncertainties facing by the Group, please refer to the
section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.
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FHRSRIERERASE USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

AARFR2020F1 B16 BN EB KM The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock
T BREEEESRINBBTHERAZE  Exchange on 16 January 2020. 788,100,000 new ordinary shares of the
REITHREE001 B TTH 788,100,000 % ¥ Company of HK$0.01 each were allotted and issued at the offer price of
B - FEMBBRMOBITRAR ETWEA% - HKS$1.93 per share. The net proceeds from the Company’s listing amounted
AARMEMABREFEAIIEED  to HKS1,391.1 million after deducting share issuance costs and listing
T RSB RBFERBESERIER  expenses. Such net proceeds are intended to be or have been applied
ERIAKRFEINAEBRERZR] —EFTEA  in accordance with the proposed applications as set out in the section
BEEA - AEREREREEHIINT headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. A summary
of the use of proceeds is set out below:

ARRAETAEREFE(EEET)
Net proceeds from the Company’s listing (in HK$ millions)

REAFHEAM REFHAH REANEZ

FiBRERE TEAR L AfEA BitBEE
Expected
Utilized asat Unutilized as at timeline of
the date of this the date of this unutilized
Use of proceeds Planneduse  annualreport  annual report proceeds
BHEERMBHIEE - Tofund development costs to advance 765.] 765.] - TERA
REFRKAL urban renewal projects N/A
BEMEER (AAM - Developmentand construction costs for the 2782 2782 - N
ESHTHRLR development of existing property projects, N/A
HHES B ER namely Hefei Hijing City Centre and
XfRNE) M E R Huijing Yanhu International Resort
BEKA
EEETHANE « Repayment of certain existing interest 2782 2782 - S
RITEAREMER bearing bank borrowings and other N/A
borrowings
REESEEEES . Toprovide funding for working capital 696 696 - il
REM—RARBRE and other general corporate purposes N/A
wE Total 13911 13911 -
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Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

Save for the share option schemes of the Company as disclosed in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report of the Directors
and in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group during the Year or subsisted
at the end of the Year.

No charitable donations made by the Group during the Year (2023:
HK$93,100).

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 48 to the financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

Under the Cayman Companies Law, the Company may make distribution
to the Shareholders out of contributed surplus. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of this
contributed surplus if it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

The five largest customers in aggregate accounted for less than 30.0% of
the Group's turnover for the Year. The five largest suppliers in aggregate
and the largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 64.4%
and approximately 21.5% respectively by value of the Group’s total
purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5.0% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the major customers or
suppliers noted above.

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Chairman and Non-Executive Director

Mr Lun Ruixiang

Executive Directors
Mr Lun Zhao Ming (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned with effect from 1 January 2025)
Mr Lu Peijun
Mr Luo Chengyu
Ms Wang Di (@appointed with effect from 16 May 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr Chan Kin Man
Ms Ou Ningxin
Mr Chen Guilin
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According to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Ms Wang Di who
was appointed as executive Director on 16 May 2025, shall held office only
until the 2025 AGM.

According to Articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles of Association,
and the provisions in the CG Code, Mr Lu Peijun, Mr Luo Chengyu and
Mr Lun Ruixiang will retire from office, and being eligible, have been
recommended by the Board for re-election as Directors at the 2025 AGM.
The proposals for the re-election of the aforementioned Directors will be
put forward at the 2025 AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors and as at the date of this
report still considers them to be independent.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the Group
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive and/or their respective associates of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance ("SFO")), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required to be entered in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code,
were as follows:
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(i) MRAEQTRMDZER () Interestsin shares of the Company
RABE  EEEEN BRAEML
BB (ffzt1) HER G By B
Underlying Approximate
Number of shares percentage of
Name of Director Nature of Interests shares (Note 1) interested Total shareholding
fim3m 55 4 RmrEER (Hat2) 3,937,331,000 (1) - 3,937,331,000 74.94%
Mr Lun Ruixiang Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2)
Ao B es 44,659,000 (L) 2,600,000 47,259,000 0.90%
Interest of spouse (KteE3)
(Note 3)
EREEA - 9,600,000 9,600,000 0.18%
Beneficial owner
fmERALE EREAA - 6,000,000 6,000,000 0.11%
MrLun Zhao Ming Beneficial owner
EmELE ESEAA - 6,000,000 6,000,000 0.11%
Mr Lu Peijun Beneficial owner
BKEESE ExEBA - 1,800,000 1,800,000 0.03%
Mr Luo Chengyu Beneficial owner
Htat - Notes:
1. FEILIRERZATRZEROOTAI(E 1. The letter "L" denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part XV of

EREZLAEGEOEXVED)

REBEREEEME L REBEEARDA
3,937,331,000 R D W ERIERBR A G AR
ELEER2ERE -

F5 8 782 R] 44,659,000 A% A% 1 79 T BX 15 AR B PR
ANAHBROZLZITER2ERR  MIBEFE
FREIEED - BRI =2 TR A EERE
RRER A B FTFAEREE MDA -
HRGREELEARD =L ENER  BIE
BHERBERY  BTAEREARREG =L I
FriFfaRI 2B MR+ A -

the SFO) in such shares.

2. Wui Ying Holdings Limited, which was incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, holding 3,937,331,000 shares of the Company, is beneficially wholly-
owned by Mr Lun Ruixiang.

3. Wui Shing Holdings Limited, holding 44,659,000 shares of the Company, is
beneficially wholly-owned by Ms Chan Hau Wan and Ms Chan Hau Wan is
deemed to be interested in the same number of shares held by Wui Shing
Holdings Limited by virtue of the SFO. Since Mr Lun Ruixiang is the spouse of
Ms Chan Hau Wan, he is also deemed to be interested in the same number of
shares which are held by Ms Chan Hau Wan by virtue of the SFO.
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(i) RAQTHEBEENESR (ii) Interestsin the associated corporation of the Company

HEEEEN  REBEEN
HEEE RS HEERBE REBDE

Numberof Percentage of

class of shareholding
securitiesin interests in the

the associated associated
Name of Director Name of associated company Nature of interests company company
i i 5 5 A M &R B R AR EnBAA 1 100%
Mr Lun Ruixiang Wui Ying Holdings Limited Beneficial owner
Br ESCRTHEEE SN - 702024 F 12 A 31 Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
A BMEESEERAAAN&ESTTHRAER Directors and the chief executive of the Company had registered
RAR R SEFMAERER 2 K&K - A an interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
R REEETHEEREBEES RAE debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
EOIEID2IGER 2 BERAR - R that was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
BIRESFRIASTTHE AR R REERZ A or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
ZIERRRE ° pursuant to the Model Code.
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EIEHIE 36 IELEAARBEFELM

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO:

BRHOBE HEEERHN REMA
RRERW MR EmtE (Hrat1) ME R Bk
Underlying Approximate
Number of shares percentage of
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interests shares (Note 1) interested shareholding
ERERARLDA REEEES 3,937,331,000 (1) - 3,937331,000 74.94%
Wui Ying Holdings Limited  Interest in a controlled corporation
ROkt (R ¥ 3,937,331,000 (L) 9,600,000  3,946,931,000 75.12%
Ms Chan Hau Wan Interest of spouse (Kiz22)
(Note 2)
REEE RS 44,659,000 (L) - 44,659,000 0.85%
Interest in a controlled corporation
ERBEAA - 2,600,000 2,600,000 0.05%
Beneficial owner
Bitat Notes:
1. FHILARRZALRZERGOITEIGE 1. The letter 'L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part XV of

EREZFRAEGEPEXVE)

2. ¥ 5 N A 7] 3,937,331,000 B A% 19 B FE 22 458 A%
BRARHABHELEERZEEE MR
EEERBEES - BImELERRABRE
BIERBERARMFEREBOROTES
R ARBRO=Z T ARIsHE L EnEeE
BEEERAEED  BIAEE AN R
FSEFTFEREE MR T A RS -

P % 1758 % B R A BlHF A 44,659,000 & 2R A 7 %
- HROEZT2EERER  MIBREE
FREEGEN  RIO=Z Wi A% ER
TIRBMR AR E AR EE RMDOER -

M EXCATIREE SN R2024F 128318 -
B|ATRARRZRG AR D PR
B E RHIEEOIE B6 BETFN AR TN E
ARz ESSAE -

the SFO) in such shares.

2. Wui Ying Holdings Limited, holding 3,937,331,000 shares of the Company,
is beneficially wholly-owned by Mr Lun Ruixiang and Mr Lun Ruixiang is
deemed to be interested in the same number of shares held by Wui Ying
Holdings Limited by virtue of the SFO. Since Ms Chan Hau Wan is the spouse
of Mr Lun Ruixiang, she is also deemed to be interested in the same number
of shares which are held by Mr Lun Ruixiang by virtue of the SFO.

Wui Shing Holdings Limited, holding 44,659,000 shares of the Company, is
beneficially wholly-owned by Ms Chan Hau Wan and Ms Chan Hau Wan is
deemed to be interested in the same number of shares held by Wui Shing
Holdings Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person had registered
an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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FETHRDEBEURERAR
SHHGEBITRANE S X
R2024F 128318 BEHELA
SR BREE ] FEITH
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A.

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”), effective
from 6 April 2019:

1. Purpose:

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
provide selected participants with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage
selected participants to work towards enhancing the
value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme provides the Company with a flexible
means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to selected
participants.

2. Participants:

The Board may in its absolute discretion, select any persons to
whom options are offered or granted.

3.  Total number of shares available for issue under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the percentage of issued
share capital as of the date of this report:

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of shares of the
Company available for issue under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is 45,250,000, representing 0.86% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

4, Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme:

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme contains no provisions on
the maximum entitlement of each participant.

5.  The period within which shares must be taken up under
an option:

Subject to the provisions for early termination contained in
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the options granted to the
grantees shall become exercisable in accordance with the
time as indicated in the letter of grant to each grantee.
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THEENETEE:

RBEE R AR EE A B REE
RUNSHBRENZBESRN
ERBEMNREFRZNETA
DA R R AR B E B 50%
70% °

BERARBENBRETENR
BREFEH
BEXAHAEEMBRESSIER
EHBEHEm - BEEAERAFE
ERBRESE ZER  BTH
BUHBRTERE -HEERIQHF
HER BRI ZBRKIDAA
KRN R PR 2 BB AR 1Y &
ADABRBEREAIREERA
B 3% & B B R AT 81 T ATT I -

The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments must be
made:

An offer of the grant of an option shall be deemed to
have been accepted when the duplicate letter comprising
acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee together
with a non-refundable remittance in favour of the Company
of RMB1.0 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is
received by the Company within the period specified in the
letter containing the offer of the grant of the option. Once
such acceptance is made, the option shall be deemed to have
been granted and to have taken effect from the offer date.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised:

The Board may in its absolute discretion when offering the
grant of an option impose any conditions, restrictions or
limitations in relation thereto in addition to those set forth in
the Pre-IPO Share Scheme as the Board may think fit (to be
stated in the offer letter) including, among others, vesting
period and conditions, restrictions or limitations relating to the
achievement of operating or financial targets.

The basis of determining the exercise price:

The subscription price in respect of an option granted under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be 50% to 70% of the
final offer price at which the shares of the Company are being
offered and issued to investors in the global offering.

The remaining life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme:

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was expired on the Listing
Date. Subsequent to the expiry of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, no further option shall be offered but in all other
respects, the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect and all options granted
prior to such expiry shall continue to be valid and exercisable
subject to and in accordance with the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme.
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BEERAGEESRERES S The movements in the number of share options under the
REHNERESE N AFENE Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the Year were as follows:
FIFREHNTE
BREETHROEA
Number of shares under the options
#2024 5 KEE rEE rEE AEE  R2024%
SREBRRYES 118 i % Fis | %% 128318 T /B/%)
Asat Vesting/
Asat  Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 31 Exercise Exercise
Dateofgrant  1January during during during during December price per period
Category and name of participant  (dd/mm/yyyy) 2024  theYear  theYear  theYear  theYear 2024 share (dd/mm/yyyy)
gz
Directors
RinELE 06/04/2019 8600000 - - - - 8600000  0965ITT (Hzt1)
Mr Lun Ruixiang HK$0.965 (Note 1)
23/10/2019 1,000,000 - - - - 1000000 09657 (1)
HK$0.965 (Note 1)
WRBLE 06/04/2019 6,000,000 - - - - 6000000 09657 (W##1)
MrLun Zhao Ming HK$0.965 (Note 1)
EPELE 06/04/2019 6,000,000 - - - - 6000000 09653TT (Hzt1)
MrLu Peijun HK$0.965 (Note 1)
EMEEE 06/04/2019 1,800,000 - - - - 1800000 1351AT (1)
MrLuo Chengyu HK$1.351 (Note 1)
gt 23400,000 - - - - 23400000
Sub-total
EZUHEA
Associate of Director
RBzZ T (fi#2) 23/10/2019 2600000 - - - - 2600000 09657 (Hrs#1)
Ms Chan Hau Wan (Note 2) HK$0.965 (Note 1)
g 2600000 - - - - 2600000
Sub-total
EE
Employees
At 06/04/2019 14900000 - - - 5000000 9900000 0965787 (Hi#1)
In aggregate HK$0.965 (Note 1)
06/04/2019 4,550,000 - - - — 4550000 125457 7T (W)
HKS1.2545 (Note 1)
06/04/2019 2,000,000 - - - - 2000000 1351 (z#1)
HK$1.351 (Note 1)
06/04/2019 2800000 - - - - 2800000 135137 (B1:#3)
HK$1.351 (Note 3)
i) 24250000 - - - 5000000 19,250,000
Sub-total
@t 50,250,000 - - - 5000000 45250000
Total
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FeH19BE2021F384HH
HEYERNEK

Notes:

20% of the underlying shares of the Company were vested
from 16 January 2020 to 15 January 2021; 20% of the
underlying shares of the Company were vested from 16
January 2021 to 15 January 2022; 20% of the underlying shares
of the Company were vested from 16 January 2022 to 15
January 2023; 20% of the underlying shares of the Company
were vested from 16 January 2023 to 15 January 2024; 20% of
the underlying shares of the Company were vested from 16
January 2024 to 15 January 2025.

Ms Chan Hau Wan is the spouse of Mr Lun Ruixiang. Pursuant
to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, Ms Chan Hau Wan is an
associate of Mr Lun Ruixiang.

The underlying shares of the Company were vested in five
vesting periods as the same manner in note 1 above. The first
vesting date varies for different grantees from 19 June 2020 to
4 March 2021.
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Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (the
“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”) by resolutions in writing of the
Shareholders on 11 December 2019. The following is a summary of
the principal terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme:

1. Purpose:

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
provide eligible participants with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage eligible
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and
Shareholders as a whole. The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
will provide the Company with a flexible means of retaining,
incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or
providing benefits to eligible participants.

2. Participants:

Any individual, being an employee, director or proposed
director, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent,
franchisee, partner, adviser or contractor of any member
of the Group or any affiliate or a close associate of any of
the aforesaid individuals, whom the Board considers, in its
absolute discretion, qualified is entitled to be offered and
granted options.

3.  Total number of shares available for issue under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the percentage of issued
share capital as at the date of this report:

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Post IPO-Share Option Scheme and any other schemes,
in aggregate, is 525,400,000, being no more than 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue on 16 January 2020, being
the date the shares of the Company commence trading on
the Stock Exchange, unless approved by the Shareholders at
general meeting.
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The maximum number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

From the Listing Date up to and including as of the date of
this annual report, no options were granted under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme:

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the option already granted or to
be granted to each eligible participant (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant shall not exceed 1%
in aggregate of the shares of the Company in issue. Any grant
of further options above this limit shall be subject to, among
others, approval of the Shareholders at general meeting,
with such eligible participant and his close associates (or his
associates if such eligible participant is a connected person of
the Company) abstaining from voting.

The period within which shares must be taken up under
an option:

The period which the Board may in its absolute discretion
determine but in any event not exceeding ten years from the
date of grant.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised:

The Board may on a case-by-case basis and at its discretion
when making an offer, impose any conditions, restrictions or
limitations in relation thereto in addition to those expressly
set forth in the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme as it may think
fit (which shall be stated in the offer letter) including, among
other things, vesting period and conditions, restrictions
or limitations relating to the achievement of operating or
financial targets.
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The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments must be
made:

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted when the
Company receives a duplicate offer letter duly signed from
the grantee together with a non-refundable remittance of
HK$1.00 in favour of the Company as consideration for the
grant thereof within 20 business days from the date of offer.
Once accepted, the option shall be deemed to have granted
as from the date on which it was offered to the relevant
eligible participant. Unless otherwise stated in the terms of
the offer letter, any offer may be accepted for a number of
the Company’s shares less than which is offered provided
that it is accepted in respect of a board lot for dealings in
the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral
multiple thereof.

The basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price of the option shall be determined by the
Board but shall be not less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of the
grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer of the grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of
offer of the grant.

The remaining life of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme:

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date.
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Save as disclosed in the sections headed "“DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS” and "SHARE OPTION SCHEMES”, at no time during the
Year did there subsist any arrangement to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or holding companies, was a party, and the objects of or one
of the objects of such arrangement are/is to enable the Directors or their
respective spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

Save as disclosed in the section headed "CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS”
on pages 75 to 86 of this report, none of the Directors (or any entities
connected with the Directors) had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

Directors’ interests in competing business

During the financial year, none of the Directors, the controlling shareholder
of the Company and their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) has any interests in any business apart from the Group’s
business, which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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Other than the Directors’ letters of appointment, no contracts concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the
Year.

The Company shall receive, from each of the controlling shareholders
of the Company (the “Covenantor”), an annual declaration on his/her/
its compliance with the undertakings contained in the deed of non-
competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) entered into by each of
them in favour of the Company pursuant to which each of the Covenantors
has undertaken to the Company that he/she/it shall or shall procure that
his/her/its close associates (other than members of the Group) shall:

(i) not, directly or indirectly, carry on, or participate in, or be interested
or involved or engaged in or acquire or hold any right or interest
(in each case whether for his/her/its own account or in conjunction
with or on behalf of other person, and as a shareholder, partner,
agent or otherwise and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) in
any business which is or is about to be engaged in any business
or investment activities in the PRC and Hong Kong, except for the
existing Ancillary Properties (as defined in the Prospectus), which
is the same as, similar or in competition or likely to compete with
the businesses carried on or contemplated to be carried or by any
member of the Group (the “Restricted Business”);

(i) ifthere is any project or new business opportunity that relates to the
Restricted Business (“New Business Opportunities” and each, a “New
Business Opportunity”), refer such New Business Opportunity to the
Group for consideration;

(i) notinvest or participate in any Restricted Business;

(iv) If any of the Covenantors, their respective close associates and/
or companies controlled by them (other than the Group) wishes
to sell any interest in land to any third party (the “Opportunity for
Sale”), each of the Covenantors will and will procure their associates
that the Opportunity for Sale is offered to the Company and
the Company shall have a first right of refusal in respect of such
Opportunity for Sale; and
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(v)  provide, during the Relevant Period (as defined in the Prospectus),
where necessary and at least on an annual basis, all information
necessary for the review by the Company and the independent
non- executive Directors, subject to any relevant laws, rules and
regulations or any contractual obligations, to enable them to review
the Covenantors’ and their close associates’ (other than members of
the Group) compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition, and to
enable the Company to enforce the Deed of Non-Competition.

Details of the Deed of Non-Competition were disclosed in the Prospectus
under the section headed “Relationship with Our Controlling Shareholders”.

As of the date of this annual report, the Company had received an annual
written confirmation from each of the Covenantors in respect of their and
their close associates’ compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition. The
independent non-executive Directors had reviewed and were satisfied that
each of the Covenantors has complied with the Deed of Non-Competition
for the Period and up to the date of this annual report.

Details of the continuing connected transactions of the Company during
the Year are as follows:

(1) Residential Property Management Services Framework
Agreement with Dongguan Huijing Property
Management Company Limited (“Dongguan Property
Management”)

On 17 December 2021, the Company entered into a Residential
Property Management Services Framework Agreement with
Dongguan Property Management. Dongguan Property Management
shall provide services to the Group include but not limited to the
provision of safety and security services, daily cleaning, hygiene,
greening and maintenance services and fire safety management
services to the unsold residential properties. Dongguan Property
Management is beneficially owned as to 60.0% by Ms Chan Hau Wan
and as to 40.0% by Mr Lun Ruixiang, and is therefore an associate of
Mr Lun Ruixiang and Ms Chan Hau Wan and a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Residential Property Management Services Framework

Agreement shall take effect from 1 January 2022 and continue until
31 December 2024 (both dates inclusive).
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The services fees shall be determined principally by arm’s length
commercial negotiations after taking into account factors including
the numbers and locations of the projects, the operational costs
(including labour costs, material costs, management costs and the
mark-up rate, if applicable) with reference to the comparable market
price for similar services and similar type of projects of Dongguan
Property Management in the market from three independent third
party service providers.

The above term of the Residential Property Management Services
Framework Agreement has been incorporated to ensure that the
pricing terms are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms
and shall be no less favorable than those offered by the independent
third parties.

The annual cap of the service fees under the Residential Property
Management Services Framework Agreement for the period ending

1 December 2024 shall not exceed RMB15 million. The service fees
are expected to be satisfied by internal resources of the Group.

The above annual caps have been determined by reference to,
among others, the following factors:

(i) the historical transaction amount incurred under the 2019-
2021 Property Management Services Framework Agreement
(and revised by the Supplemental Agreement);

(i) the current property projects under which had engaged
Dongguan Property Management for the unsold residential
property management services, and new property projects
which are expected to complete from 2022 to 2024
respectively, with reference to the historical unsold rate,
projected increase of GFA of unsold residential property as
a result of the Group's expected growth in the number of
property projects and subsequent projected increase for the
current property projects;

(i) the comparable market price by independent third parties on
normal commercial terms for providing similar services and
guidance rate by relevant government authorities; and

(iv)  other factors such as the experience of Dongguan Property
Management in provision of management services for unsold
residential properties.
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(2)

Commercial Property Management Services Framework
Agreement with Dongguan Property Management

On 17 December 2021, the Company entered into a Commercial
Property Management Services Framework Agreement with
Dongguan Property Management in relation to the services agreed
to be provided by Dongguan Property Management to the Group
include but not limited to the office support services for the existing
and anticipated new office buildings such as in Guangdong, Hunan,
Zhejiang and Jiangsu provinces, including property and facilities
maintenance, security services, cleaning services, gardening services,
public area maintenance, greeting and other property management
related services.

The Commercial Property Management Services Framework
Agreement shall take effect from 1 January 2022 and continue until
31 December 2024 (both dates inclusive).

The service fees shall be determined principally by arm'’s length
commercial negotiations after taking into account factors including
the numbers and locations of the projects, the operational costs
(including labour costs, material costs, management costs and the
mark-up rate, if applicable) with reference to the comparable market
price for similar services and similar type of projects of Dongguan
Property Management in the market from three independent third
party service providers.

The above term of the Commercial Property Management Services
Framework Agreement has been incorporated to ensure that
the pricing terms are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial
terms, and shall be no less favourable than those offered by the
independent third parties.

The annual cap of the service fees under the Commercial Property
Management Services Framework Agreement for the period ending
31 December 2024 shall not exceed RMB12.9 million. The service
fees are expected to be satisfied by internal resources of the Group.
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(3)

The above annual caps have been determined by reference to,
among others, the following factors:

() the historical transaction amount incurred under the 2021
Commercial Property Management Services Framework
Agreement;

(i) the anticipated growing demand for office support services for
the forthcoming year from 2022 to 2024, with reference to the
expansion of the Group to new regions such as Zhejiang and
Jiangsu provinces, and the anticipated increase in demand of
quantity and quality of the existing administrative services of
the Group;

(i) the comparable market price by independent third parties on
normal commercial terms for providing similar services; and

(iv)  other factors such as the experience of Dongguan Property
Management in provision of office support services.

Sales Centre Support Services Framework Agreement
with Dongguan Property Management

On 17 December 2021, the Company entered into The Sales Centre
Support Services Framework Agreement with Dongguan Property
Management in relation to the sales centre support services agreed
to be provided by Dongguan Property Management to the Group
include but not limited to the provision of cleaning and security,
customer reception and other relevant support services in sales
office, showrooms, display units and club houses in various locations
in the PRC, depending on the location of the property projects on
project based.

The Sales Centre Support Services Framework Agreement will
take effect on 1 January 2022 until 31 December 2024 (both dates
inclusive).

The service fees shall be determined principally by arm’s length
commercial negotiations after taking into account factors including
the numbers and locations of the projects, the operational costs
(including labour costs, material costs, management costs and the
mark-up rate, if applicable) with reference to the comparable market
price for similar services and similar type of projects of Dongguan
Property Management in the market from three independent third
party service providers.
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The above term of the Sales Centre Support Services Framework

Agreement has been incorporated to ensure that the pricing terms

are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms, and shall be no
less favourable than those offered by the independent third parties.

The annual cap of the service fees under the Sales Centre Support
Services Framework Agreement for the period ending 31 December

2024 shall not exceed RMB30.9 million. The service fees are expected

to be satisfied by internal resources of the Group.

The above annual caps have been determined by reference to,
among others, the following factors:

0]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

the historical transaction amount incurred under the 2021
Sales Centre Support Services Framework Agreement;

the sales centres of existing projects and new property
development projects in the forthcoming year from 2022 to
2024 with reference to size, geographical locations, facilities
and human resources allocation of the relevant display units,
sales offices and clubhouses;

the comparable market price by independent third parties on
normal commercial terms for providing similar services; and

other factors such as the experience of Dongguan Property
Management in provision of sales centre support services
and the demand of the Company in improving efficiency of
marketing operation.
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(4)

Construction Consultation and Inspection Services
Framework Agreement with Dongguan Property
Management

On 17 December 2021, the Company entered into The Construction
Consultation and Inspection Services Framework Agreement with
Dongguan Property Management in relation to the Construction
Consultation and Inspection Services agreed to be provided
by Dongguan Property Management to the Group include but
not limited to the provision of consultation services at the early
construction stage and inspection services before delivery for the
property projects of the Group.

The Construction Consultation and Inspection Services Framework
Agreement shall take effect from 1 January 2022 and continue until
31 December 2024 (both dates inclusive).

The service fees shall be determined principally by arm’s length
commercial negotiations after taking into account factors including
the numbers and locations of the projects, the operational costs
(including labour costs, material costs, management costs and the
mark-up rate, if applicable) with reference to the comparable market
price for similar services and similar type of projects of Dongguan
Property Management in the market from three independent third
party service providers.

The above term of the Construction Consultation and Inspection
Services Framework Agreement has been incorporated to ensure
that the pricing terms are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial
terms, and shall be no less favourable than those offered by the
independent third parties.

The annual cap of the service fees under the Construction
Consultation and Inspection Services Framework Agreement for the
period ending 31 December 2024 shall not exceed RMB5 million.
The service fees are expected to be satisfied by internal resources of
the Group.
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The above annual caps have been determined by reference to,

among others, the following factors:

U]

(if)

(iif)

the historical transaction amount incurred between the
Group and Dongguan Property Management for construction
consultation and inspection services;

the estimated demand of the Company for construction
consultation and inspection services for the coming year from
2022 to 2024;

the comparable market price by independent third parties on
normal commercial terms for providing similar services; and

other factors such as the experience of Dongguan Property
Management in provision of construction consultation and
inspection services.

As each of the Dongguan Property Management Agreements

("Dongguan Property Management Agreements”) was entered into

between the Company and Dongguan Property Management,

the Company has aggregated the annual caps of the transactions

contemplated under the aforesaid agreements under Rule 14A.82

of the Listing Rules. As a result of aggregation, the aggregate value

of the proposed annual caps for the aforesaid agreements for each
of the year ending 31 December 2024, amounts to RMB63.8 million,
respectively.
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(5)

Commercial Operational and Value-added Services
Framework Agreement with Dongguan Huisheng
Commercial Management Co., Ltd. (“Dongguan
Huisheng”)

On 17 December 2021, the Company entered into the Commercial
Operational and Value-added Services Framework Agreement in
relation to Dongguan Huisheng is commissioned to provide the
commercial operational services and value-added services for
various investment properties in connection with the management
projects of (i) Huijing City in Houjie in Dongguan, the PRG; (ii) Huijing
City in Zhangmutou in Dongguan, the PRC; and (iii) Huijing City in
Hefei, the PRC (the “Three Huijing City”) which are held by the Group.
Pursuant to the Commercial Operational and Value-added Services
Framework Agreement, the services agreed to be provided by
Dongguan Huisheng to the Group include but not limited to the (i)
commercial operational services such as shopping mall operational
management, promotion and marketing, security and logistics and
maintaining good relationships with tenants and customers; and
(ii) value-added services, such as market positioning of potential
customers and tenants, selection of style of decoration and layout
or the Three Huijing City. Dongguan Huisheng is beneficially owned
by Mr Lun Ruixiang, and is therefore an associate of Mr Lun Ruixiang
and a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Commercial Operational and Value-added Services Framework
Agreement shall take effect from 1 January 2022 and continue until
31 December 2024 (both dates inclusive).

The service fees shall be determined principally by arm’s length
commercial negotiations after taking into account factors including
conditions of the “Three Huijing City”, the operational costs (including
labour costs, material costs, management costs and the mark-up
rate, if applicable) with reference to the comparable market price for
providing similar services of Dongguan Huisheng in the market from
three independent third party service providers.

The above term of the Commercial Operational and Value-added
Services Framework Agreement has been designed to ensure that
the pricing terms are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial
terms, and shall be no less favourable than those offered by the
independent third parties.
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(6)

The annual cap of the service fees under the Commercial Operational
and Value-added Services Framework Agreement for the period
ending 31 December 2024 shall not exceed RMB28.8 million. The
service fees are expected to be satisfied by internal resources of the
Group.

The above annual caps have been determined by reference to,
among others, the following factors:

(i) the historical transaction amount incurred under the 2021
Commercial Operational and Value-added Services Framework
Agreement;

(i) the estimated demand of the Company for commercial
operational services and commercial value-added services for
the forthcoming year from 2022 to 2024;

(i) the comparable market price by independent third parties on
normal commercial terms for providing similar services; and

(iv)  other factors such as the experience of Dongguan Huisheng
in commercial operational and value-added services.

Framework Decoration Services Agreement with
Guangdong Huifeng Eco-technology Limited
(“Guangdong Huifeng”) for the provision of interior
decoration services

On 17 December 2021, the Company entered into a framework
interior decoration services agreement with Guangdong Huifeng to
govern the terms and conditions of the transactions between the
Group and Guangdong Huifeng in connection with the provision
of interior decoration services to the Group (the “Framework
Decoration Services Agreement”). Pursuant to the Framework
Decoration Services Agreement, where Guangdong Huifeng shall
be selected following the relevant selection process, Guangdong
Huifeng shall provide interior decoration services to the Group
according to the definitive building decoration services agreement
to be signed by the Group with Guangdong Huifeng from time to
time. Guangdong Huifeng is beneficially owned by Mr Lun Ruixiang,
and is therefore an associate of Mr Lun Ruixiang and a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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The Framework Decoration Services Agreement shall take effect
from 1 January 2022 and continue until 31 December 2024 (both
dates inclusive).

The service fees shall be determined principally by arm’s length
commercial negotiations after taking into account factors including
the numbers and locations of the projects, the operational costs
(including labour costs, material costs, management costs and the
mark-up rate, if applicable) with reference to the comparable market
price for providing similar services of Guangdong Huifeng in the
market from three independent third party service providers.

The above term of the Framework Decoration Services Agreement
has been designed to ensure that the pricing terms are fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms, and shall be no less
favourable than those offered by the independent third parties.

The annual cap of the service fees under the Framework Decoration
Services Framework Agreement for the period ending 31 December
2024 shall not exceed RMB100 million. The service fees are expected
to be satisfied by internal resources of the Group.

The above annual caps have been determined by reference to,
among others, the following factors:

(i) the historical transaction amount incurred under the 2019-
2021 Framework Decoration Services Agreement;

(i) the estimated demand of the Group for the relevant interior
decoration services, projected with reference to the aggregate
GFA under development for our existing property projects in
forthcoming year from 2022 to 2024, respectively;

(i) the comparable market price by independent third parties on
normal commercial terms for providing similar services; and

(iv)  other factors such as the experience of Guangdong Huifeng
in interior decoration services and the diversity of our supplier
base in connection with the interior decoration services.
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As the highest applicable percentage ratio under Rule 14A.78 of
the Listing Rule in respect of the proposed annual cap under (1) the
Dongguan Property Management Agreements, (2) the Commercial
Operational and Value-added Services Framework Agreement,
and (3) the Decoration Services Framework Agreement exceeds
0.1%, but is less than 5.0%, such transactions contemplated under
each of the Agreements are therefore subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements, but are exempt
from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Mr Lun Ruixiang has abstained from voting on the relevant board
resolutions of the Board in relation to the Agreements in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company. Other than Mr Lun
Ruixiang, none of the other Directors is required to abstain from
voting on the relevant board resolutions of the Board in relation to
the Agreements.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Dongguan Property Management Agreements, the Commercial
Operational and Value-added Services Framework Agreement, and
the Framework Decoration Services Agreement, and confirmed that
each of the continuing connected transactions has been entered
into:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the
Company;

(b)  on normal commercial terms or better to the Group; and
() in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
above continuing connected transactions, the terms of which

are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole.
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Prism, the Company's auditor, was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions above in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor's Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Prism has issued an unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other non-exempt connected
and continuing connected transactions, arrangement or contracts
of significance to which the Company, its holding company or
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest or interest in competing business, whether directly or
indirectly, nor contracts of significance between the Company or
its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries,
subsisted at the end of the Year. Further, subsequent to the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Company entered into certain
new continuing connected transactions, including (i) 2025-2027
Residential Property Management Services Framework Agreement
with Hui Life Property Service for the provision of residential
property management services; (i) 2025-2027 Commercial Property
Management Services Framework Agreement with Hui Life Property
Service for the provision of office support services; (i) 2025-2027
Sales Centre Support Services Framework Agreement with Hui Life
Property Service for the provision of sales centre support services;
and (iv) 2025-2027 Construction Consultation and Inspection
Services Framework Agreement with Hui Life Property Service for
the provision of construction consultation and inspection services.
For details, please refer to the “Renewal Continuing Connected
Transactions” of the Company’s announcement dated 30 December
2024.

Certain significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year, which do not constitute connected or continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules are disclosed in note 43 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to the Company'’s Articles of Association, the Directors or other
officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets and profits of the Company against all losses or damages which
they may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty in their respective offices.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities
of the Company.

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as of 31
December 2024 are set out in notes 29 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

A summary of the results and the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of
this annual report.

Particulars of the projects and land parcels of the Group are shown on
pages 11 to 16 of this annual report.

The Directors and senior management of the Company receive
compensation in the form of fees, salaries, contributions to pension
schemes, discretionary bonuses, housing and other allowances and
other benefits in kind. The Company also reimburses Directors and senior
management for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably incurred
for providing services to the Company or discharging their duties in
relation to the operations of the Company.

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the
Human Resources Department and the employees’ emoluments are
determined on the basis of their qualifications, experiences and area of
expertises.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company
are reviewed and recommended by the remuneration committee of the
Company and decided by the Board, having regard to the Company’s
performance and the remuneration benchmark in the industry.
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The Group has adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme for the Directors and the employees of the
Group, details of which are disclosed in section headed “Share Option
Schemes”.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements set out in this annual report.

As at the date of this report, breaches of the following loan agreements
have given rise to a disclosure obligation pursuant to Rules 13.19 and 13.21
of the Listing Rules:

A civil proceeding was filed by a trust company (the “Trust Company A”")
against certain subsidiaries of the Company in respect of a past-due trust
loan. The Trust Company A demanded (i) the relevant subsidiaries to repay
the outstanding principal of trust loan together with accrued interests
amounting to approximately RMB300 million (calculated up to 25 June
2023); and (i) the Trust Company A shall have the priority in compensation
over the proceeds from the auction or sale of certain assets or equity
interests pledged by the relevant subsidiaries for the trust loan. As at the
date of this report, the civil proceeding was in the enforcement stage with
a judgment for the payment of principal and interest.

A civil legal proceeding has been filed to the Middle Civil Court of
Dongguan, Guangdong* (& R & R 2 1 & A REBR) (the "Court”)
against certain subsidiaries of the Company. The legal proceeding was filed
by a trust company (the "Trust Company B") regarding a subsidiary of the
Company failed to repay a fixed-income financial product in connection
with a subsidiary of the Company (the “Financial Product”) issued by the
Trust Company A. The outstanding principal of the Financial Product
together with accrued interests amounting to approximately RMB156
million as at 26 December 2023. The chairman and non-executive director
of the Company, Mr Lun Ruixiang and his spouse are guarantors (the
“Guarantors”) to the Financial Product. The Trust Company A has applied
for and the Court has granted a freezing order on certain assets owned
by the Group and the Guarantors, including certain retail shops and car
parking spaces. As at the date of this report, the civil legal proceeding was
in the enforcement stage and certain collaterals were in the auction stage.

88 ESEMRABERRZATE  Huijing Holdings Company Limited



HEE RS

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ARBIEEA (EEAD R LESBXRIE

ENREHFD  ARZRITKEEAELD
—ERMIAER EEARRETHELR

B ARBFEERIEFNTESRIBHELER
HEg@ - BERABRKOHABHBAREERESR
AERNAREERAS REFHEMS € LHE
BMEBRANARES300BEL GFEEZE2023F
12A8H) RiVERALHEENBRARAZ
AERERNE TEESRERE S
SHE ZHEELZEE - RARES B
IERBFRINZ HSRE AR - WEEABITIER -

BARRETHEATMREZ —REFXER
MMITRE (R4 BEE2REER - B RIE
AEAFBBEHARKISOBETAS 2 B HK
WER - EEEMEBARRERARBER
HRHEFXREREE RFENARK 15458
Bl -RAREAH  HRAEFHOERY
AT -

REEEHRERQA(BEEEERAAD BAAR
RETHERAFEREEERREMBELER
ERD-BETEQNRBEROEEKHBER A
EEREEERACERETIEHNARE
3U0B BT RMMEEEREAAIEELERS
EREXHERBENBEARRERERENS
TEESREFRGHREEE NARERH -
IR EFACHBER S EANTEER o

BEARSAH AAFEEEGBREA
AERFA ERAFRBREEEEAREITH
B WESTHBEERRERF - BHFE F2

MARXA BB A2023F9 8298 2023412
RA27 B M2024F3 4B 2R

B EXWEEIN RARESAH - WHEAM
HBERBELETARUNEB2GETFUARENER
74 -

A civil proceeding was filed to the Shanghai Financial Court* ( L8 &
B % BT) by a creditor of the Company (the “Creditor”) against certain
subsidiaries of the Company, Mr Lun Ruixiang, the chairman and non-
executive director of the Company, and his spouse, in respect of a past-
due entrust loan made by the Bank of Dongguan on behalf of the
Creditor. The Creditor requested (i) the relevant subsidiaries to repay the
outstanding principal of the entrust loan together with accrued interests
and penalties and related expenses amounting to approximately RMB530
million (calculated up to 8 December 2023); and (ii) the Creditor shall have
the priority in compensation over the proceeds from the auction or sale
of certain assets or equity interests pledged by the relevant subsidiaries
for the entrust loan. As at the date of this report, the judgment of the civil
proceeding has come into effect and was in the enforcement stage.

An enforcement case (the “Case”) was submitted to the Court against
certain subsidiaries of the Company relating to a past-due pledged loan
lent by Trust Company B with a principal amount of RMB150 million,
requiring the relevant subsidiaries of the Company to repay the Trust
Company B the outstanding principal of the trust loan and interests
amounting to approximately RMB154.5 million. As at the date of this report,
certain collaterals involved in this case were in the auction stage.

A civil proceeding was filed by an asset management company (the “AM
Company”) due to the breach of loan repayment by certain subsidiaries of
the Company. The AM Company demanded (i) the relevant subsidiaries to
repay the outstanding principal of the loan together with accrued interests
amounting to approximately RMB394.0 million; and (i) the AM Company
shall have the priority in compensation over the proceeds from the
auction or sale of certain assets or equity interests pledged by the relevant
subsidiaries for the loan. As at the date of this report, the civil proceeding
has been settled by mediation and was in the enforcement stage.

As of the date of this report, the Company is in the process of negotiating
with the Creditors, the Trust Company A, the Trust Company B and the AM
Company, and complying with the relevant legal procedures regarding the
relevant proceedings or the Case. Please see the announcements of the
Company dated 29 September 2023, 27 December 2023 and 4 March 2024
for details.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other matter subsisting as at the

date of this report which requires disclosure pursuant to Rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules.

3R 2024 Annual Report 89



E5g

=i

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

$E?F%*5ﬁé§%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ7 E5 EmA R
%808 AIERRE SRKETMWEBESNEER
F#EJrn%—J&%*ﬁ}\Eﬁtm;ﬁ%%m&h}EEE@
NBRFRE —MME - BIEEMAREZET
AmaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁyﬁﬁﬁMmﬁ%ﬁ
A o RIE LR AN 808(1)(d) 1 - fikiZE1T

tmﬁvﬁﬂﬁﬁlﬁmﬁﬁ_ﬂmofﬁ;‘%ﬁ EIJE?%}
BTHRET HMXAUEERBEES —EN
F15.0% E 250% 7 HREREBR D -

sﬁXﬁﬁET’iIH\M#TE?“T“K BABRIE
LTJ:FD%EWE\'J%S% {\ﬁﬁ,mﬁ’] A - B
BIEAZFRE D

) REIRFREEERN@150% : 2 (b)
RERER Eﬂé"%%lﬂifé@ﬁ%hﬁﬂ@ﬂxfﬁ
RITEBRERE (Ex R BERER)
FEITNEMROTENNE DL

LW AARHHEEBI100EE

o %

(i) ﬁ“ﬂﬂ%?‘?ﬂ&%ﬁﬁq?ﬁ@ﬁ/&iﬁhﬂﬁ

DHEREERE  BRNLEHMERE

féiﬁ_r‘ﬁ*ﬁ’]i#ﬁzw{ﬁw NBFRRENT
ERERE: R

vy EXBEMRZZLENRMDBA LMD
% BRI #E REDIRIZE KEESHE
MIZIERES -

REARB A AHAESNEERBESHA

RAHE R ﬁﬁ CARRBE T EWARRATR
ERERARFFRE -

20 E=

According to Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, there must be an open market in
the securities for which listing is sought and for a sufficient public float of
an issuer’s listed securities to be maintained. This normally means that at
least 25.0% of the issuer’s total number of issued shares must at all times be
held by the public. Pursuant to Rule 8.08(1)(d) of the Listing Rules, the Stock
Exchange may, subject to certain conditions and at its discretion, accept a
lower percentage of between 15.0% to 25.0% in the case of issuers with an
expected market capitalization at the time of listing of over HK$10.0 billion.

The Stock Exchange had granted the Company a waiver from strict
compliance with the requirement under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules
to accept a lower public float percentage subject to the condition that:

(i) the minimum public float shall be the higher of (a) 15.0%; or (b) such
percentage of Shares to be held by the public immediately after the
completion of the global offering (as increased by any Shares to be
issued under any exercise of the Over-allotment Option (as defined
in the Prospectus));

(i) the Company’s market capitalisation at the time of listing is over
HKS$10 billion;

(i)  the Company will make appropriate disclosure of the lower
prescribed percentage of public float in the Prospectus together
with a confirmation of sufficiency of public float in its successive
annual reports after the listing; and

(iv)  there will be an open market in the shares offered in the global
offering, and the number of shares and the extent of their
distribution would enable the market to operate properly.

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained the sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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The changes in Directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules for the reporting period and up to the
date of this annual report are set out below:

On 1 January 2025, Mr Lun Zhao Ming resigned as an executive director
and the chief executive officer of the Company in order to devote more
time on his other personal commitments. Please see the announcement of
the Company dated 31 December 2024 for details.

On 16 May 2025, Ms Wang Di was appointed as an executive Director.
Please see the announcement of the Company dated 16 May 2025 for
details.

The Company is committed to maintain a high level of corporate
governance. Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report as set out on
pages 36 to 55 of this annual report. Save as disclosed in this annual report,
the Board is of the opinion that the Company has complied with all code
provisions set out in the CG Code during the Year.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have been
audited by Prism Hong Kong Limited. Prism Hong Kong Limited will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Prism Hong Kong Limited as independent auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

By Order of the Board
Lun Ruixiang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 11 July 2025

*  For identification purpose only
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To the shareholders of Huijing Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
Huijing Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 92 to 212, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. Because of the significance of the matter described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects,
in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Material uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
incurred a net loss of RMB801,318,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024 and as of that date, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by RMB3,919,628,000, net liabilities of RMB334,475,000, the interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes and accrued interests
on these payables with the carrying amounts of RMB4,134,446,000,
RMB1,051,260,000 and RMB762,831,000 respectively, which will be due for
repayment within the next twelve months from the end of reporting period
or repayable on demand, while its available cash and cash equivalent
amounted to RMB2,327,000. In addition, the Group had defaulted or cross
defaulted certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and the
senior notes with accrued interests in aggregate of RMB5,948,537,000 as at

1 December 2024 and remained outstanding as of the date of approval
of the consolidated financial statements. The non-compliance constituted
an event of default, such that the lenders may exercise their rights to serve
notice to demand immediate repayment of all outstanding debts including
interests. Apart of the aforesaid, subsequent to 31 December 2024 and
up to the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements,
the Group did not repay principal and interest in total of approximately
RMB6,220,792,000 for certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and senior notes. These events and conditions, together with other matters
as set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course
of business.
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Material uncertainties relating to going concern (Continued)

The directors of the Company have taken measures to improve the Group's
liquidity and financial position as set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared by the directors of the Company on a going concern basis, the
validity of which depends on the outcome of these measures, which are
subject to material uncertainties. We are unable to determine whether
the use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is appropriate.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments
would have to be made to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively, and to write
down the values of assets to their recoverable amounts and to provide for
any further liabilities which may arise. The consolidated financial statements
do not include any such adjustments. However, material uncertainties exist
in relation to the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in view
of the Group's future cash flow. We consider that appropriate disclosures
have been made in the consolidated financial statements concerning this
situation but we have not obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the Group's ability to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due and we consider the potential cumulative effect on the
consolidated financial statements of this material uncertainty relating to
going concern to be so significant that we have disclaimed our opinion.
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BERAERARARBERGFMAE ([&
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fh EXERELENEN YEEEBR
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# BEEEFERIFILEZL  SFEEME
BREVERTE -

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor's report, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. However, because of
the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our
report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee Kwok Lun.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lee Kwok Lun

Practising Certificate Number: P06294

Hong Kong
11 July 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BUZ 2024 4F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

2024 F 2023 4F
2024 2023
k23 ARET T ARETFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Uk & REVENUE 5 240,915 941,219
$HE KA Cost of sales (178,271) (682,803)
EH Gross profit 62,644 258416
E MU A K Wz Other income and gains 5 15,521 7,608
HE R HAX Selling and distribution expenses (10,998) (44,429)
THEHX Administrative expenses (89,220) (235,861)
EYENFEEBERE Fair value losses on investment
properties, net 14 (200) (70,717)
B 5 N E b fE W AR FURE Impairment of trade and other receivables (3,506) (45,683)
WoR T EE ] #IR FE Write-down of inventories to net
realisable value (144,387) (48,507)
HimAx Other expenses (113,368) (292,812)
WBERERENTE Remeasurement of financial guarantee
contracts 5,050 1,164
BT AR Finance costs 6 (441,332) (178,409)
DIEEECEEE Share of losses of joint ventures (24,529) (14,446)
D —REE D EEE Share of loss of an associate = (1,053)
MRB AT BT 1B LOSS BEFORE TAX 7 (744,325) (664,729)
FriS i > Income tax expense 10 (56,993) (65,621)
FRER LOSS FOR THE YEAR (801,318) (730,350)
LA FEA - Attributable to:
NREE A Owners of the parent (799,479) (696,720)
eI Non-controlling interests (1,839) (33,630)
(801,318) (730,350)

BAREEAELERER LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE PARENT

EAREE(BRARKET) Basic and diluted (RMB per share) 12 (0.15) (0.13)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

B 20244F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

2024 F 2023 4
2024 2023
AR%T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FREE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (801,318) (730,350)
EHBRE T gETs B EEEY Other comprehensive income that
HpzmUA - will not be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods:
BERNRPMEHRR ZERZ5 Exchange differences on
translation of financial
statements of the Company 8,201 11,444
HizfngEfsEzBmke Other comprehensive loss that
Hth2mEE - may be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
BREWBARMEHRERIELEE Exchange differences on
translation of financial
statements of the subsidiaries (68,856) (38,149)
FAHMEHEEE Other comprehensive loss for the year (60,655) (26,705)
FRE2HMEBEER TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR (861,973) (757,055)
AT REAG Attributable to:
ISYNSIETFSPN Owners of the parent (860,134) (723,425)
3H MR i 2 Non-controlling interests (1,839) (33,630)
(861,973) (757,055)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R20244F 12 H31 H Asat 31 December 2024

2024 F
2024

AR®T
RMB’000

2023 4
2023
ARET T
RMB'000

FREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
L E Y Property, plant and equipment 13 57,969 64,824
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15(a) 1,239 23,112
mEMHE Investment properties 14 1,394,300 1,394,500
mEEE Intangible assets 16 2,891 3,880
REBRENRE Investments in joint ventures 17 192,426 216,955
R—RBECENKRE Investment in an associate 18 7,295 7,295
FERMEUHEEN i Land held for development for sale 19 1,809,295 1,808,138
EIERIAE BE Deferred tax assets 32 179,963 165,800
FIRBEERE TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 3,645,378 3,684,504
REEE CURRENT ASSETS
FIERBAEEEN it Land held for development for sale 19 513,011 513,011
EEYE Properties under development 20 3,113,417 3,132,198
FELENERIYE Completed properties held for sale 21 915,949 935,667
E ZREBIRR Trade receivables 22 13,377 9,669
TERT /I8 ~ HALEUGRIBE R H Ath Prepayments, other receivables and

BE other assets 23 1,562,734 1,594,550
JEWE BB ERFIR Receivables from joint ventures 17 346,084 373,897
BAFEFABRZEBMEE  Finandal assets at fair value through

profit or loss 24 10 44311

A LR ER Prepaid land appreciation tax 3,252 3,238
B RIRTTH S Cash and bank balances 25 37,179 126,160
REEEHLE TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 6,505,013 6,732,701
REBAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
E I REMNER Trade payables 26 1,288,552 1,290,873
HMEMHIE - B S RIEST Other payables, deposits received and

=g accruals 27 1,583,235 1,093,927
HEAE Lease liabilities 15(b) 1,215 5,445
AHEE Contract liabilities 28 968,726 1,162,247
FFERITREMMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 29 4,134,446 4,012,871
BAERE Senior notes 30 1,051,260 908,543
RS E Provision for corporate income tax 677,356 674,419
T IR E R Provision for land appreciation tax 37 719,851 663,200
mEEEAE TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 10,424,641 9,811,525
REBEEFE NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (3,919,628) (3,078,824)
EEHAERTBERS TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES (274,250) 605,680
98 ESIEIRAEMR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited



ire BB
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R20244F 12 A31 H Asat 31 December 2024

2024 F 2023
2024 2023
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
kRBERE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
HEaE Lease liabilities 15(b) 103 20,091
FEIERIEE E Deferred tax liabilities 32 60,122 60,170
kRBEEETE TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 60,225 80,261
(BB BEFE NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (334,475) 525,419
e EQUITY
BAREREARBGER Equity attributable to owners of
the parent
BETIRA Issued capital 33 47,972 47,972
1 Reserves 35 (895,882) (35,789)
(847,910) 12,183
FEVE R R = Non-controlling interests 513,435 513,236
(B 4t), fESMEE Total (deficit)/equity (334,475) 525419
EME EIE
Lu Peijun Luo Chengyu
2 BFE
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BUZ 2024 4F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

BRREEAEE
Attributable to owners of the parent
(F4)/
BRTRA ROEE BRERE E45BK &4R E EiffE ZifER &t FEREE BR4E
Share Statutory Non- Total

Issued Share option Capital Merger surplus  Exchange Accumulated controlling (deficit)/

capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR AR¥TR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

RuEIA1R At 1 January 2024 47,972 737,120 82,065 656 499 259,962 (69,081)  (1,047,010) 12,183 513,236 525,419
ERER Loss for the year - - S = = = = (799,479) (799,479) (1,839)  (801,318)
FREMRREEE Other comprehensive loss for the year:
BEHBRROELEE  Exchange differences on translation

offinancial statements - - - - - - (60,655) - (60,655) - (60,655)
FRREFEAEE Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - - (60655  (799,479)  (860,134) (1,839)  (861,973)
REFERBRE A Contrbution from non-controling

shareholders - - - - - - - - - 2,038 2,038
IRBEENBRERE  fquitysettled share option

(Wit 34) arrangements (note 34 - = 4 - - - - - 0 - M

204 E12A318 Asat 31 December 2024 47972 737,120% 82,106* 656* 499% 259,962*  (129,736) (1,846,489)*  (847,910) 513,435 (334,475)

100 SESIEIRAEMRZAF] Huijing Holdings Company Limited



GAMNEDE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

B Z 20244 12 A 31 HIFFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

RuBE1A18 At 1 January 2023 47972 737120 81,161 656 499 259962 (42376) (352302) 732,692 585979 1318671
ERES Loss for the year - - - - - - S %720 (967200 (336300 (7303%0)
EREMRERS: Other comprehensive loss for the year:
BEHBRRNELESE  Exchange differences on translation
of financial statements - - - - - - (26,705) - (26,705) - (26,705)
FNEEBELEE Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - - 26705 (697200 (723425) (33630 (757059
MEMBRAFMF38)  Disposalof subsidiaries (nofe 38) - - - - - - - - - (EATE IR
IRBEENBRERSE  Fquitysettled share option
(Wigt34) arrangements (note 34) - - 302 - - - - - 30 - 302
BREXUKERD Transferring share option reserve
ERERERE upon the forfeiture or expiring of
share options - - @ng - - - - 2012 (106) - (106)
RasE1NANA Asat 31 December 2023 47972 731120 82,065 656 499° 259962 (69,081) (1,047,010 12183 513236 525419

* ZERERBERNGAVMBERARARBAR =+ These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserve of negative
& 895,882,000 7T (2023 4F : A R 35,789,000 amount of RMB895,882,000 (2023: negative amount of RMB35,789,000) in the
TEGARE) NaRERE - consolidated statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BUZ 2024 4F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

2024 F
2024

AR®TR
RMB’000

2023 5
2023
ARETFIT
RMB'000

REZEH OPERATING ACTIVITIES
M RTEE Loss before tax (744,325) (664,729)
FE Adjustments for:
RITHFIEHA Bank interest income 5 (158) (248)
W BEREREBITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 7 7,160 7,776
ERAEEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 7 2,095 5,705
M\ EEHE Amortisation of intangible assets 7 989 1,056
o i B IR R AE R 2 Equity-settled share option expense 7 4 3,022
B8 M K Forfeited contributions 7 - (106)
RENENTFEEERFE Fair value losses on investment
properties, net 14 200 70,717
BAFEABRZEZEMEE  Fairvalue changes on financial assets at
Z AT EES fair value through profit or loss 7 45,713 57615
HEME - HER Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of
REEE MEE () property, plant and equipment 7 846 (137)
BB A R H B R R R Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net 38 - 33,407
HE—XRAEDERNBFIEFEE  Lossondisposal of ajoint venture, net = 63,605
/\1I5A EEEIE Share of losses of joint ventures 24,529 14,446
D —REE D EERE Share of loss of an associate 18 = 1,053
B 5 M E A YRR RO E Impairment of trade and other
receivables 3,506 45,683
WRGFEE]EIRFE Write-down of inventories to net
realisable value 7 144,387 48,507
WBEREREMGTE Remeasurement of financial guarantee
contracts (5,050) (1,164)
B IDS Finance costs 6 441,332 178,409
(78,735) (135,383)
FHEMBE A HEN LI Increase of land held for development for
sale (29,592) (73,951)
EEMEIE N Increase in properties under development (164,264) (434,464)
FIELENERIYE Decrease in completed properties
e held for sale 202,323 711,307
BHrE Hﬂl E-E R (A0, (Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (1,870) 9,665
TEATFRIE  Ho b e WA Decrease in prepayments, other receivables
ﬁ’r&ﬁﬁéfﬂz L and other assets 52,038 184,818
B 5 EMAERCRD) (Decrease)/increase in trade payables (2,321) 333,489
BHEERD Decrease in contract liabilities (193,521) (815,260)
HMENFIE clkize Rk Increase in other payables, deposits
FEET & FE received and accruals 57,343 257,300
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

B 20244F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

2024 F
2024

AR®TR
RMB’000

2023 5
2023
ARBFIT
RMB'000

K (FiA),/ FBRe Cash (used in)/generated from
operations (158,599) 37,521
BUF & Interest received 158 248
BEATF B EMSH PRC corporate income tax paid = (22,679)
B 3 L g E R PRC land appreciation tax paid (11,616) (2,360)
REED (A FBERE NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM
REFHE OPERATING ACTIVITIES (170,057) 12,730
REEE INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BYTEBELEZEX Advance to joint ventures = (489)
BEEME BERREBIER Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment 13 (355) (848)
NBEREME Additions of investment properties 14 = (7,423)
Jliegi: WEQ\EJ Acquisitions of subsidiaries 37 = 1,403
HERBA Disposal of subsidiaries 38 - (2,567)
HEwE J’r‘?i%& REEEEH  Proceeds from disposal of items of
Fr {5 3/ 38 property, plant and equipment = 574
SIRHIE SR, (5 ) Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash 85,299 (69,152)
HER—REELENKRE Disposal of investment in a joint venture = 50,900
BREZBRE (FIRA)RE NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN)
MBI INVESTING ACTIVITIES 84,944 (27,602)
REEE FINANCING ACTIVITY
ERALE Interest paid (5,629) (133,952)
FERIT M E 8 3R New bank and other borrowings 128,500 249,233
BEIRIT R EAMER Repayment of bank and other borrowings (14,473) (98,946)
B SRR 2 K Contribution from non-controlling
shareholders 2,038 -
HENRHESH Principal portion of lease payments 39(c) (2,220) 6,717)
METDREREREBFE NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES 108,216 9618
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BUZ 2024 4F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

2024 F 2023 5
2024 2023
iikz3 AR® T ARET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ReRBELEEYEM NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
OR2) F8 AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 23,103 (5,254)
FURESRRESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
BEGINNING OF YEAR 6,009 27,269
RN EFE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,
net (26,785) (16,006)
EXRBAERRELEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR 2,327 6,009

ReRBeEEYERIN ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Ba MBRTES Cash and bank balances 25 37,179 126,160
B R HIRE Less: Restricted cash (34,852) (120,151)
RERESRERTIA Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the

HeMBEESEEY consolidated statement of cash flows 2,327 6,009
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 20244F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

ERZERERAA (AR2F]) B —K
562019¢1H9E1$E})§Sﬂ§ﬁ¥%@575£
(BnE)EREHSTMAINERR
BRAT - ARG EE IR
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °
AN/ TE"%/’éEE**ﬁiﬁJEMEAE/E/E
BB 23R EAR L1918 1907 =

AABBHDR2020F1 B 16 BEER B
ARG ARAT ([T R EH -

ARFRIRBIEEER AT cFA - NAFA
HB AR EERFEARKLRME([F
B REYMERZERIRE - ARAIES
([BEEDRE ARG EEEE
Hn/_\jffjliﬁ? EBERAR(ER] -

ABEZHEFEMAK)  MARF
?Hﬁ&%?%ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁi(Hﬁﬁuﬁﬁf‘ﬁfj)
(FRER) MR (Rt
fwlm e L AR ERE) CERIERITRB R
RNA) (GBI RE]) -

Huijing Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) is an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 9 January 2019 under the Companies Law, Cap 22 of the Cayman
Islands. The registered office address of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong is located at Office No. 1907, 19th Floor, Great Eagle
Centre, No. 23 Harbour Road, Hong Kong.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 16
January 2020.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year,
the Company's subsidiaries were principally engaged in property
development and investment in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC"). In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
"Directors”), the ultimate and immediate holding company of
the Company is Wui Ying Holdings Limited (“Wui Ying”, which
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands) and the controlling
shareholders of the Company are Mr Lun Ruixiang (“Mr Lun Ruixiang”,
through Wui Ying) and Ms Chan Hau Wan (“Ms Chan”, spouse of Mr
Lun Ruixiang and through Wui Shing Holdings Limited) (collectively,
the “Controlling Shareholders”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUZ 2024 4F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

1. 2EIREEER #)

EREHWERARNER

ARANEEMBERAWFEBOT

BEERERAF
Hai Feng Holdings Limited

REMES S\ nEREHERZ
AR DE

Dongguan Huijing Kailun Bay Property
Development Limited

EREBARAR
Huijing Group Limited

EHERFHERERRDA
Hengyang Huijing Property Development
Limited

ShEREHEZRRBRAF
Dongguan Huijing Property Development
Company Limited

REMERRBTEERER
ARRAR(REERRHBAE])

Dongguan Huijing East Automobile
Development Limited ("Dongguan
Huijing East Automobile”)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

MR
WERELHE

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
place of operations

Hong Kong

FEL/ RN
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FE, R E
PRC/Chinese Mainland

HE, R E
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FE R E A
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FEL/ R A
PRC/Chinese Mainland

RETERYBEUMERBZERLA PE/TEAM

Dongguan Jade Peninsula Property
Development Limited

106

PRC/Chinese Mainland

CRTLER
HMRAEE

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered share

capital

1,000,000 7T
HK$1,000,000

AR 50,000,000 7T
RMB50,000,000

AR 1,500,000,0007C
RMB1,500,000,000

AR 50505051 7T

RMB50,505,051

AR 1,0000007T
RMB1,000,000

AR 30,000,0007T

RMB30,000,000

AR 10000007
RMB1,000,000

SESHEMRABR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited

KRR
BRERDL

Percentage of

indirect equity
interest
attributable

to the Company

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%
100%

40.8%""

40.8%""

100%
100%

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

TERH

Principal activities

RERRK

Investment holding

ESGE:S

Property development

MEFRER
REER

Property development
and investment
holding

MERHE

Property development

MER%E

Property development

ESEE:S

Property development

ESEE:S

Property development
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 20244F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

1. REAREERER & 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)
ERMBARNER (&)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

ML B ERTEER/ ZROAEEME

AREEEXERAA

Hefei Fuhua Properties Limited

RRBERIKBENRERR
BRRA*

Dongyuan Dongjiang River Village Long He
Investment Development Limited

RREREELREERAR"
Dongyuan Yayuan Property Investment
Limited

REMEGRESHRRAR
Dongguan Haiya Trading Limited

REMREMENEERRDA
Dongguan Humen Wanfang Properties
Limited

BB AHELERAA"
Dongyuan Dongjiang River Vilage
Properties Limited

EEERERIREER A

Hengyang Yanhu Eco-tourism Limited

PRHRER(RZ)ERAE
Songsen Furniture (Dongguan)
Company Limited

BEREEHE

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
place of operations

FE/ R E R
PRC/Chinese Mainland

R ERE R
PRC/Chinese Mainland

R/ E A
PRC/Chinese Mainland

REL/ R E R
PRC/Chinese Mainland

R ELRE R
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FRE i
PRC/Chinese Mainland

FREL/ R E R
PRC/Chinese Mainland

R/ E A
PRC/Chinese Mainland

MR E

Nominal value of

issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

AR 150,000,000 7T
RMB150,000,000

AR 50,000,000 7T
RMB50,000,000

AR 30,000,000 7T
RMB30,000,000

AR #5500,0007T
RMB500,000
AR 100,000,000 70

RMB100,000,000

AR#61,250,000 7T
RMB61,250,000

AR 5,0000007T
RMBS5,000,000

11,000,000 7T
HK$11,000,000

REB L
Percentage of
indirect equity
interest
attributable

to the Company

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%
98%

98%

92%
92%

100%

100%

100%
100%
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Principal activities

MERERIREER

Property development
and investment
holding

ESHES

Property development

ESHES

Property development

ESGE:

Property development

ESHES

Property development

UESGES

Property development

UEGE

Property development

ESHES

Property development
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1. REREERER &) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

ERNBARNEER (&)

SRR
BHREL

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
place of operations

REMEaTEEREGRAAY B/ FEAM
Dongguan Jiayishi Investment Limited PRC/Chinese Mainland
FRERIEFRBEEREBRAT  HE/ FEAM
([RTER]) PRC/Chinese Mainland
Dongyuan Dongjiang River Galleries
Tourism Development Company Ltd.
("Dongjiang River Galleries”)
REMumRBERAF B/ RN
Dongguan Shangyi Clock Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland
REMhBESLRBRAF Bl E
Dongguan Ruicheng Information PRC/Chinese Mainland
Consulting Co, Ltd.
* RIBERBERBELRRNERRAF - *
: REREERELRINEEERE - "
e REFBEERBLRATINAERRER @
M ARBEEAEAEERGZERRED "

RS0%HBERT  NEBNESRBE
YR ERE M AR TIARN AKX
EEWEB AR

‘ EHCM%’&TI,E.EH%EHIETE’J ’
NEMW MEEXEEIAAR
E%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%&ﬁqﬂiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%% °

ERIHEBERRTITEFEAKEFNA
EEIBRASBEEFERBAN D Z
ARBIMBEBAR - EERAE - JIHEAM
MEARZHBHE<IREBNITE

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

EROEER/ FAAELHE
AfRAEE BREBDL
Percentage of
Nominal valueof indirect equity
issued ordinary/ interest
registered share attributable
capital tothe Company Principal activities
A 50,000,000 7T 100% ¥R
RMB50,000,000 100%  Property development
AR 29,679,950 7T 100% MERE
RMB29,679,950 100%  Property development
27,000,0007 7T 100% FHEEE
HK$27,000,000 100%  Real estate rental
AR #5,0000007T 1000 FEHERE
RMB5,000,000 100%  Realestate rental

Registered as domestic limited liability companies under PRC law.
Registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.
Registered as a sino-foreign equity entity under PRC law.

This company is accounted for as subsidiary of the Group because
the Group owns more than half of the voting rights even though the
equity interests in this entity attributable to the Group are less than
50%.

The English names of these companies represent the best effort made
by management of the Company to directly translate their Chinese
names as they did not register any official English name.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of the other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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AEBMEE2HUFNLANBILEFEE
£ EEFEARE801,3180007T B 2
ZBH AEENRHAEBHERD
BEANR39196280007C  SEFAEA
R #334,475,0007C * 51 B R1T R E M (&
RBEEBEMZERMNFENES
FIEBREED B A A R 4,134,446,000
7T~ AR #1,051,260,000 T & A R I
762,831,0007C * WA M E B KRB R
REZEARNDHEESIZERERE
MENHBAASEREEZEWAAR
# 2,327,000 7T © Ik S+ 7220245 12 A 31
B AEBETFTERITREMERUA
MEREREREFFBELN I NGE
#4 5 AR #5948,537,000 7T © B A 4R
A EHmAAEEENARER - ZED
TREKENSEMH  BILERAR AT
FEHFHBANES  ZRINEER
BREEANMBRERR - B Ll
N A2024F 12 A3TB R REELGEA
P mERIERR  AEETREES
FEERITREMBETAREBELEZEDY
e R B A £ ARE6220792,000
T REEHRBARBEEEANTRE
EVE - A rEENFELEE TN
EAEERRMN-

ERLERh EFCEBEERAKE
B W& ME 2z BED DR+ )\ (@A &
RengRma YROERE T ERLHHF
BREENELBARENEE - BE
BMESRIEEN R EARE BT BN
R RNEEEHIE AT EIMEE

@ AEB-EBEFIREXLXNY
XER NAREHEMREZYE
RERTYEEENEG

The Group incurred a net loss of RMB801,318,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and as of that date, the Group's current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by RMB3,919,628,000, net
liabilities of RMB334,475,000, the interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, senior notes and accrued interests on these payables
with the carrying amounts of RMB4,134,446,000, RMB1,051,260,000
and RMB762,831,000 respectively, which will be due for repayment
within the next twelve months from the end of reporting period or
repayable on demand, while its available cash and cash equivalent
amounted to RMB2,327,000. In addition, the Group had defaulted
or cross defaulted certain interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and the senior note with accrued interests in aggregate
of RMB5,948,537,000 as at 31 December 2024 and remained
outstanding as of the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements. The non-compliance constituted an event of default,
such that the lenders may exercise their rights to serve notice to
demand immediate repayment of all outstanding debts including
interests. Apart of the aforesaid, subsequent to 31 December
2024 and up to the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not repay principal and interest in total
of approximately RMB6,220,792,000 for certain interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and senior notes. These events and
conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

In light of the above, the Directors have carefully considered the
Group's expected cash flow projections not less than 18 months
from the date of reporting period and have given due consideration
to the matters that give rise to material doubt as to its ability to
continue as a going concern. The following plans and measures are
formulated to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve the
financial position of the Group:

(@)  the Group has been focusing on the completion and delivery
of its property projects as well as the implementation
of measures to accelerate the sale of properties under
development and completed properties;
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b)) AEB—EHEEAERUNEMLE
BIWRLHAIREATH B
ERAERYIARBAREETYE
FRIEE  UEEBINRERA
RSRBRRES R o thoh - A&
B 2 F A A 15 ) FE e R B BR T
NENEARY RERDHES
SERREBEMESRRIEE
53

© AEBILEGHEREERAE
EBEAEHE TERRE XU
EITHERME - ASECREER
BHBETERMESEE KA
EEMBREERERE -

EXCEVREEEREAEEB RS
,HJHEE?JrT\'J\EMEMIHHHF'EJE’JEE%‘M‘E
EBEA BERR BRI L EJrEU
i ARBERENREESRER

B WEITHER A LA RS JE@E’JEM%T
T-RAKt EERE- ET%ZE%“M%E%
FREZFFEAMBRRIIEE

BEWL  TEEESER LMFE R
BEDEEEATHERETE AEERE
MR ELCE BREUARAEEEBUT
FREATERE RLERSRARE

@ BRI M SER AN R B ) %
HRE URERMREZYER
ERTYREENTER &

b)) AEETERXNEER =i
THRE -

(b)  the Group has been consolidating resources to optimise its
operations and reducing expenses and capital expenditures,
including to look for partners to jointly develop certain
property development projects to generate additional cash
inflows and/or reduce cash outflows. In addition, the Group
has implemented cost control measures and eliminated
unnecessary capital expenditures to preserve liquidity for on-
going development of its existing property development
projects; and

(c)  the Group is actively in discussion with its existing lenders to
renew and/or refinance the Group's certain borrowings. The
Group has engaged in constructive dialogue with prospective
financiers to explore possible refinancing options.

The Directors have reviewed the cash flow projections of the Group
prepared by the management covering a period of not less than
18 months from the end of the reporting period, they are of the
opinion that, taking into account the above plans and measures,
the Group will be able to adequately fund its operations and meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, the Directors consider that the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis is
appropriate.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as a
going concern would depend upon the Group's ability to generate
adequate financing and operating cash flows through the following:

(@)  the successful and timely completion and delivery of its
property projects as well as the implementation of measures
to accelerate the sale of properties under development and
completed properties; and

(b)  the successful renewal and/or refinancing of its certain
borrowings.
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Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the value of
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets as
current assets and non-current liabilities as current liabilities. The
effects of these potential adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (the “HKFRSs") (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi ("RMB")
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB'000) except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e, existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).
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Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee,

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.
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The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year's financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the 2020 Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the 2022
Amendments”)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

HKFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”);
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a
liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a
liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

Upon adoption of the amendments, the Group has reassessed
the terms and conditions of its loan arrangements. The
application of the amendments has no material impact on the
classification of the Group's liabilities.
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(b)

(c)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback

The amendments to HKFRS 16 add subsequent measurement
requirements for sale and leaseback transactions that satisfy
the requirements of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers to be accounted for as a sale. The amendments
require a seller-lessee to determine “lease payments” or
“revised lease payments” such that the seller-lessee would not
recognize a gain or loss that relates to the right of use retained
by the seller-lessee.

Since the Group has no sale and leaseback transaction, the
application of the amendments had no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier
Finance Arrangements

The amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users
of financial statements in understanding the effects of supplier
finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk.

As the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements,
the amendments did not have any impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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REBEZEVBHRERANNAEA T The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that have

BB R R R A BV IS BT B B B 5 3k been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

HFEA - AEBEEEEBTENCEEN The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when

BWERDEREBER (LMER) - they become effective.

BRUMBRERAE SR  HEBXNZSIRRE HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements?

BEUBREENE 9 HZAREELY HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

L RE & Accountability: Disclosures®

BB RAE DR RZARHN Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability'
(BFIR)

BRMBRERAEIRR 2BIASBRIEY Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification
ARUMBRERAEIR LT and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
(BER) Instruments?

BENBREENE 1R BEYFHLEN S Amendments to HKFRS 1, Annual Improvements to HKFRS
BRRBRERIET R E R — HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 Accounting Standards —

W A HREER Z1% and HKAS 7 Volume 112

£9%  BEMBAEE
HE0RREEGHER

F75% (BITX)

BEMBREENE 0 REFRABECES Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
RERLHERERE  AELEAWEELE and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
(BFIR) 93 Associate or Joint Venture*

ERMBRERAEIRR FREBEAZFLES Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
REUBBREENE IR JHas’ and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

(BETR)

! 20251 A1 Bz BHABMFER ! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
A

2 H20265F1 A1 Bz M FEH 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
i A2

? 20271 A1 Bz 2R FEEH : Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
A

# RETHBHS 2 ERANFESRHEAE ‘ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
3 determined

AEEFEAHZEFHRERERD The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the

MBFtEENTE 25 RIE HiEH impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of

BRAZEERT KA 4R 6 B R initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them

REAERTE - is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements.
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Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s share
of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income
of associates and joint ventures is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group's investments in the associates or joint ventures, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group's investments in
associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other case, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values
of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
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Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group'’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for non-financial asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

()

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i)

(ii)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of each reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

Property under construction or development for future use as an
investment property is classified as investment property under
construction. If the fair value cannot be reliably determined, the
investment property under construction will be measured at cost
until such time when fair value can be determined or construction is
completed.

When the Group completes the construction or development of a
self-constructed investment property, any difference between the
fair value of the property at the completion date and its previous
carrying amount is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

ESIERABR /AT Huijing Holdings Company Limited



NN

AR e F I R M Rt

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 20244F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

ME-  BERRBERITE

WE - BEEREBIERARRITE
FAEFDRERB BRI - W - BB &
BEBRABEEBEBREIAKEE
EHERABFERR LIS ERE RS
B A RCAN ©

R - BB N REEB RAEERAN
SIS MEERREES  BE
REEBBEF ABER o {6 ERIF
Z O IBREXHEFEREE NEE
%ﬁﬁﬂ?iﬁﬁk WAREBDWE - W=

1%//\THT$E $Elﬁgwuggirﬁ
E%MEUEE%E—I@ﬁﬁiﬁHE’UéE&
MRS EELTE -

PrE AR SR B (5T A E A 4 2

HEIBWE - F}%& REEBKAEE
FHREETE UM EMIRANEE
FRHIOF :

HEWEEE THEH
FRE - BEEBERIFARME 20-3333%
RE 25%
B—IHYE BEARENSIHHEDL

RIRIE A FHIE - ZIB B R ATIIEA
BEEERIS 2HOE  MEEEDTD
BRI E - FgrEE AIEAFHR
FEDEELNEMBFERER - I
EL AR (ER) -

—IEWE BELRE (BRGER
MEMEARLD) AL ERKTEHRTE
TEEfE F Sk BRI AR IR 2 B 4%

IFHER - AL E X BEREENEE
RIBRFEREAENEREENHE
FIERRFREREENERAERRER
':P ﬁgm\ °

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
atintervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20-33.33%
Motor vehicles 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach

leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments

and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office premises Over the lease terms
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(©

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of office premises (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.

Land held for development for sale

The land held for development for sale represents parcels of land
owned by the Group for the purpose of development of properties
for sale. The land held for development for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. It is transferred to properties
under development upon commencement of the construction work
of the related property development project.

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost,
comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs incurred directly attributable to such
properties during the development period, and net realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless
the construction period of the relevant property development
project is expected to complete beyond the normal operating
cycle. On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.
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Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

Cost of completed properties held for sale is determined by an
apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings attributable
to the unsold properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the sale proceeds
of properties sold in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses, or by management estimates based on the
prevailing market conditions.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets represent computer software, which acquired
separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value
at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software is stated at cost less any impairment loss and is amortised
on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 5 to 10 years.
The useful life of software is determined mainly with reference to (i)
maintenance expenditure required to obtain the expected future
economic benefits from the software for continuous operations, (i)
expected usage required from the operations of the Group and the
infrequent change of the software, (iii) product life cycles for the
similar software used in the past, and (iv) the period of control over
the software.
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Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out
for "Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI") on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted
for as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks
are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the
same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition
of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset
out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be
classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss.
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Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
lease liabilities, senior notes and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts
at the higher of: (i) the expected credit loss ("ECL") allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment
of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e, removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
orloss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments
not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit
risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed,
for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is
recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in
the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of each reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

3R 2024 Annual Report 135



ARE

R E e s

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUZ 2024 4F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

136

FRGW (&
mL%RIETbEKﬁHEE%?M&%EHF’&X%
ERBENHEEE BENE2 R
EEZEMEEREZRELEE -

AT ARERNE R ZREDELHER
& LA B IERRSD

ERHHIEEES m?T'J‘JZf%
Pom MR BB IERT A HR

S %)J*/Fﬁﬁwﬁﬁ@jzﬁﬁjzéﬁs
RELMELHBARE BTE
EERFERT LA NREEE
B

RRMEBRAR BMELCENRAE
m%&éﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ’\]%aﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ

A1) 7% 78 (3 By 2= R A B
—JLM H AERERERA RS
KATgE P& m o

EEHBEERBEMBAMRERZ
mEARPARBAR R MEAARSH
MIBEEER BEHEMEARRY
A A AER A AR R Z R A K AT
MAHEERPATIER R MRS ARIE
BRBIE - EATERRI

E?&%B%T%;ga = /ﬁﬁﬂcu&ﬁgn%
BaMKERNEXBTaNHRSH
TS HREERBERES
EAMBEREZEEBNELER
BEE BTEELHREERM
MAMHERERE &

ARHBELR BELERAE
CERENHBAUNKEREZR
ms BEEHRBEEEEANEER
EZRHRAIARARRED A&
R o A A AT A B 8 B R
BB T HER

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associate and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associate and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15
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Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Sale of properties

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the contract
and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the asset may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the asset is
transferred over time if the Group's performance:

provides benefits which are received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the asset is transferred over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on the Group's efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of the performance obligation that best depict the
Group's performance in satisfying the performance obligation.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effect of a financing component if it
is significant.

For sales contracts for which the control of the property is transferred
at a point in time, revenue is recognised when the customer obtains
the physical possession and the Group has a present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources
Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis, using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument
of the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e, transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Contract costs
Costs to fulfil a contract

Other than the costs which are capitalised as properties under
development, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,
costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as
an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

(c)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the asset relate. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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Contract costs (Continued)
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. Incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the
costs relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are charged to the statement of profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the pattern of
the revenue to which the related asset is recognised. Other costs of
obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees (including
directors of the Company) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services
in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial model, further details of which are given in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where an
equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on
the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Chinese
Mainland are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain proportion of their payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they have been
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB while the
Company’s functional currency is the Hong Kong dollar. In the
opinion of the directors, as the Group’s operations are mainly in
Chinese Mainland, the use of RMB as the presentation currency is
more appropriate for the presentation of the Group's results and
financial position. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange prevailing at
the end of the financial periods. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e, translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain subsidiaries
operating outside Chinese Mainland are currencies other than
RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements
of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve,
except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of Hong Kong subsidiaries are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of Hong Kong subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Classification between investment properties and completed
properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and properties held
to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Judgement is made
by management in determining whether a property is designated
as an investment property or a completed property held for sale.
The Group considers its intention of holding the properties at the
early development stage of the related properties. During the
course of construction, the related properties under construction
are accounted for as properties under development included in
current assets if the properties are intended for sale after their
completion, whereas, the properties are accounted for as investment
properties under construction included in non-current assets if the
properties are intended to be held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Upon completion of the properties, the properties
developed for sale are transferred to completed properties held for
sale and are stated at cost, while the properties developed to eamn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation are transferred to investment
properties and are subject to revaluation at each reporting date.

ESIZERRAEBRZAE]  Huijing Holdings Company Limited



NN

A SRR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 20244F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

F i ()
REYE AR IR

A EUARFERUAENRENE
EENEEHRAEENELCHEEE
ms EFCEHNAKENREDFE
B URBAKENRENEIIAEB
BRERMIFEBHEEBRZRED
EFERABI KBNS RBIRNEE
BARE - Al REEAKEEBR
BYMENELCHEAR EFER A
SR ERE 2R FHAEER R FE
BAGTEMNKREMXBEBHERLNRE
RIS

EERIEEE
BERBEERMA AN SR E5E
HEAPARBEREABARIERIE
F AR - WA ] AL IR AR B 0E F AT
FAUREPT I BN E5E A8 XA
TIEHE 2 R ARE AT BB ER T AR
R-BEERETEN TUBRZBEER
HEEHRER  ARETIRRKRE
REE A 2 R R A AR R
BB ER ERAE - R 2024F 12 A
3NHCEEREEENREBEAARE
179,963,000 7 (2023 FF = A R % 165,800,000
J0) o E— B EEE N A M EmR M
320

Judgements (Continued)
Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolio and concluded that the Group's
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group's deferred tax
on investment properties, the directors have determined that the
presumption set out in HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes that investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
through sale is rebutted.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and carry forward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. The carrying amount of
deferred tax assets at 31 December 2024 was RMB179,963,000 (2023:
RMB165,800,000). Further details are included in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
disclosed below:

Impairment review for properties under development,
completed properties held for sale and land held for
development for sale

Properties under development and completed properties held for
sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling price less
selling expenses and the estimated cost of completion (if any), which
are estimated based on the best available information. The land held
for development for sale is initially stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is not depreciated.

The Group has engaged an external valuer to perform a valuation of
the Group's properties under development, completed properties
held for sale and land held for development for sale as at the end
of the reporting period to assess if the net realisable values of these
assets are lower than their carrying amounts.

The carrying amounts of properties under development, completed
properties held for sale and land held for development for sale at 31
December 2024 were RMB3,113,417,000 (2023: RMB3,132,198,000),
RMB915,949,000 (2023: RMB935,667,000) and RMB2,322,306,000
(2023: RMB2,321,149,000), respectively.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC. As certain
matters relating to the income taxes have not yet been confirmed
by the local tax bureau, objective estimates and judgements based
on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies
are required in determining the provision for income taxes to be
made. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact on the
income tax and tax provisions in the period in which the differences
realise. The carrying amount of corporate income tax payables at 31
December 2024 was RMB677,356,000 (2023: RMB674,419,000).
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT")

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT is based
on management’s best estimates according to the understanding
of the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination
by the tax authorities upon the completion of the property
development projects. The Group has not finalised its LAT calculation
and payments with the tax authorities for certain of its property
development projects. The final outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and any differences will
impact on the LAT expenses and the related provision in the period
in which the differences realise. The carrying amount of provision
for land appreciation tax at 31 December 2024 was RMB719,851,000
(2023: RMB663,200,000).

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

Investment properties, including completed investment properties
and investment properties under construction, are revalued at the
end of the reporting period based on the appraised market value
provided by independent professional valuers. Such valuations are
based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty
and might materially differ from the actual results. In making the
estimation, the Group considers information from current prices in
an active market for similar properties and uses assumptions that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the reporting date.

The principal assumptions for the Group's estimation of the fair value
include those related to estimated rental values with reference to
the current market rents for similar properties in the same location
and condition, appropriate rental growth rates, discount rates, long
term vacancy rates, occupancy rates and capitalisation rates.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 December 2024

was RMB1,394,300,000 (2023: RMB1,394,500,000). Further details are
set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR") to
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group
would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such
as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or
when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions
of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s
stand-alone credit rating).

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The amount of ECLs on trade and other receivables is calculated by
management using an internal credit rating model. The provision
ratio is determined on the creditworthiness and financial condition
of each debtor, while the historical default rate and the forward
looking data of the market environment were considered also.

The Group is principally engaged in one single operating segment,
i.e, the property development and investment business. Accordingly,
no operating segment information is presented.

Geographical information

No geographical information by operating segment is presented as
the Group’s revenue from the external customers is derived solely
from its operations in Chinese Mainland and more than 90% of the
non-current assets of the Group are located in Chinese Mainland.
Accordingly, in the opinion of the Directors, the presentation of
geographical information would provide no additional useful
information to the users of these financial statements.

Information about major customers

During year ended 31 December 2024, no revenue from transaction
with a single external customer contributed 10% or more of the
Group's total revenue (During the year ended 31 December 2023:
Nil).
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5. Uz - Hitr AR U&= 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
REBHKZESTAT - An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows:
2024 F 2023 FF
2024 2023
ARSI ARBTE
RMB’000 RMB'000
g Revenue
FKEEPE K Revenue from contracts with customers
PRI EIEE Sale of properties in the PRC 201,187 909,200
2K A A i R 89 7 Revenue from other sources
MW ABE Gross rental income 39,728 32,019
ULz Total revenue 240,915 941,219
REEFEHANKRER Revenue from contracts with customers
(a) WZERBHA (a) Disaggregated revenue information
FERBEFEAMNNREE— All revenue from contracts with customers are recognised at a
FrE BT point in time.
TRETRANFERN PR A The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised
WEBVEHNEAENRESREIZ in the current year that were included in the contract liabilities
NEEENNBHETRER at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised from

performance obligations satisfied in present periods:

2024 20234
2024 2023
ARBTRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
REFAEHNEED Revenue recognised that was
B R included in contract liabilities

at the beginning of the year:

ESich Sale of properties 197,044 897,063

3R 2024 Annual Report 151



/nﬂ‘

CLlkiE el

pu] ]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUZ 2024 4F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

5. Uz

EL it Ut A B2 U 25 42)

REFEFEWHWE (&)

(b)

152

BHEE
ERASERAOEEMNERSL
LI

YMEHE
EEFESEREIWENTDRA
REERETENET-

RNRANASEESHRTENEE
MAEHHEESER

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Contin

ued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied when the physical
possession or the legal title of the completed property is
obtained by the customer.

The contracted sales amounts allocated to the remaining
performance obligations as at 31 December are as follows:

2023 5
2023
ARBTT
RMB'000

2024 F
2024

AR®T R
RMB’000

TEHER AN RN SE Amounts expected to be

recognised as revenue:
—FR Within one year 10,641 329,558
—F1& After one year 1,051,805 1,150,212
HEt Total 1,062,446 1,479,770

TEERTERONEENANEE
THEBHNHEENE —FRER
Al HPBEHNEESRBF
NET-MBEMOEESRTE
MECHENHESRERHERN —
FABARERE LXRBENS
BT EEZRAAERE -

The contracted sales amounts allocated to the remaining
performance obligations which are expected to be recognised
as revenue after one year relate to the sale of properties, of
which the performance obligations are to be satisfied within
two years. All the other contracted sales amounts allocated
to the remaining performance obligations are expected to
be recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts
disclosed above do not include variable consideration which
is constrained.
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5. Yrzs - HiUg AR URES () 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)
REBEAMWPARKEHIDTIT An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains is as follows:
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
ARBTRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
H WA R & Other income and gains
X E=RFE Foreign exchange differences, net 9,483 1,586
HRITHFEHA Bank interest income 158 248
Aleirn Forfeiture of deposits = 30
HEWE  BEMEHEEER  Gainon disposal of items of property, plant and
0z equipment = 137
HAt Others 5,880 5,607
E A R 258 Total other income and gains 15,521 7,608
6. EIIFAA 6. FINANCE COSTS
BRI TAT : An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
ARSI ARETE
RMB’000 RMB'000
HEBERE Interest on lease liabilities 90 1,552
IRIT R EAMIERFE Interest on bank and other borrowings 452,644 371,147
BAEEEFE Interest on senior notes 114,124 115,580
WaaHWEENF B Interest expense arising from revenue contracts - 5,008
566,858 493,287
o BARIEFE Less: Interest capitalised (125,526) (314,878)
mEt Total 441,332 178,409
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7.

154

B i B0 5 48 7. LOSS BEFORE TAX
REBRKRTATEB & GTA),/H The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after (crediting)/charging:
BRATRIERER
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
HtaE ARBTRT AREBTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
EEWMEKR Cost of properties sold 173,114 675,854
PEFH S IR EMEELHR  Direct operating expenses (including
HEELERX repairs and maintenance) arising on
(BIEHERREERE) rental-earning investment properties 5,157 6,949
W BERREBTE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 13 7,160 7,776
ERAREENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15(c) 2,095 5,705
B EE#E Amortisation of intangible assets* 16 989 1,056
HEMBARMEE Loss on disposal of subsidiaries* 38 = 33,407
HEAETENBE Loss on disposal of a joint venture* = 63,605
HEWE - BENEHBIEE  Loss on disposal of items of property,
Eo)Ei= e plant and equipment* 846 -
MORTFE 2] 1R FE Write-down of inventories to net realisable
value:
FERZE TSN i Land held for development for sale 93,907 1,245
EEYE Properties under development 38,901 13,298
BEHERNE®R TS Completed properties held for sale 11,579 33,964
144,387 48,507
BRATEFTAERZ Changes in fair value of financial assets at
ERMEEM AT EZS fair value through profit or loss* 45,713 57615
Z BN BN & Auditor's remuneration 2,380 3,700

BERFIRAEZ (BIEEZH M Employee benefit expense (including

(Hiats)) : directors’' remuneration (note 8)):
e EAREMER Salaries, bonuses and benefits in kind 32,558 86,941
RIKE u‘fiU R Pension scheme contributions* 2,083 7,542
VAR #E 45 5 RO B IR 7 =2 Equity-settled share option expense 4 3,022
B BRI FR Less: Forfeited contributions - (106)
34,682 97,399
fEH =% %5 Foreign exchange differences, net (9,483) (1,586)
# ARG EERMITTHRAX] - ¢ Included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.
* FPARE BRI HAMRE] - * Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit
orloss.
e MEE SR H R EHAERE (ERE ““ There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as
) ARBEEIRBH-FKE - the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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8.

EERESITHRASEHM

FRAEENESTRABHFMIRE L
mARA - BB R FNEGIF 383(1)@) ~ (b)
OROERAT (REEEMNEER) R
RIS 2B F LI ER -

ZEWBRANPBHRERTERBNZF
EEZaMHMEIINT

8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation.

The remuneration of each of these directors as recorded in the
financial statements of the subsidiaries is set out below:

2024 & 2023 5

2024 2023

ARBTr ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

e Fees 948 1,046
Hi e - Other emoluments:

e BB REYER Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4,371 5,885

BIFTEAL Discretionary bonuses = 300

VARR #E 45 5 A0 B IR 5 =2 Equity-settled share option expense - 1317

BRIKESFT B R Pension scheme contributions 60 212

INET Subtotal 4,431 7,708

ERANMEMME 25 Total fees and other emoluments 5,379 8,754

RBEFE BTEFRERATES
BERAASBEREORBEREARFE
RAFBENBRETS (E& M
34) BERBARE  BRAE - THEBEHER
FEMBWMARME - ZERRENR
FEMNEBHRANBRERNER) REX
HAHEE BAFEN BRI AME
THOCERAELREZRESITRAR
BN EA -

In prior years, certain directors and the chief executive officer were
granted share options, in respect of their services to the Group,
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (as defined in note 34) of
the Company, further details of which are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements. The fair value of such options,
which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the
amount included in the financial statements for the current year is
included in the above directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
disclosures.
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8. EENESITHAEE M= 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(@) BIAFHTEE (a) Independent non-executive directors
FAMBIUINTETIAOE The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during
ST the year were as follows:

2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
ARBTRT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
HEEZ T Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna = 207
RRBEL A Mr Hung Wan Shun Stephen - 207
BRAEMSEAE Mr Chen Guilin 316 278
PR fd R 5t A& Mr Chan Kin Man 316 177
BER AL Ms Ou Ningxin 316 177
HEt Total 948 1,046
Btat Note:
FAMBEEMENBYIENTESZ There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-
B (20234 : &) - executive directors during the year (2023 Nil).
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8. EENERETHAE®®M = 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) BITEE - —BFHTESE (b) Executive directors, a non-executive director

=353 #EN Bike
BENER BEERL BREBX HE 3 g
Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled Pension

and benefits Discretionary  share option scheme Total

Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions remuneration

ARBTR AR®TR ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR ARET:R
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000

2024 2024
HTES: Executive directors;

mERBA LA Mr Lun Zhaomnin - 1,070 - = 17 1,087

EhELE Mr Lu Peijun - 956 - - 13 969

BRRRE Mr Luo Chengyu - 931 - - 13 944
et Subtotal - 2,957 - - 43 3,000
FHTES Non-executive director;

finELE Mr Lun Ruixiang - 1,414 - = 17 1,431
@t Total - 4,371 - - 60 4,431
2023 2023
HOTESE: Executive directors:

B EAE Mr Lun Zhaornin - 1057 - 370 55 1482

EhERE Mr Lu Peijun - 1357 153 370 51 1931

BRBLE Mr Luo Chengyu - 1314 147 - 51 1512
e Subtotal - 3728 300 740 157 4,925
FHTES: Non-executive director;

i EE Mr Lun Ruixiang - 2157 - 571 55 2783
@t Total - 5,885 300 1311 212 7708
FAMBEEI L NELF There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
EMEEMETMH - agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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9. HEBERSHHES 9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
FRNEEEaFWEERRAERES The five highest paid employees during the year included five (2023:
(2023%F : =) » HEFMFBEHN Lt three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note
MisEg o A T ZE % (2023F : MA) BLIE 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining
KAREENIEARAERITHAED Nil (2023: two) highest paid employees who are neither director nor
e EERAFEENFHMEFBNT chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2024 F 2023

2024 2023

ARBTR AREBTx

RMB’000 RMB'000

e EREYEF Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind = 2,895

BB IEAT Discretionary bonuses = 153

LA RS e 45 S O BE AR RE A =2 Equity-settled share option expense = 308

RIKEEHEIHR Pension scheme contributions = 78

it Total - 3,434
FMNFUTHENFESRFTMNE The number of non-director highest paid employees whose

BAHMT remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

2024 F 2023

2024 2023

1,500,001 78 7T & 2,000,000 78 7T HKS$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 - 2
RBEFE HTIHESRIEESTH In prior years, share options were granted to certain non-directors
ABZEeHMEENRESEMAEREIR and non-chief executive highest paid employees in respect of their
HE R MEREARE - EHEE— 25 services to the Group, further details of which are included in note
BENGE T BMEMFT4 - ZFBER 34 to the consolidated financial statements. The fair value of such
EHATEREEHRRNESRARE options, which has been recognised in the statement of profit or
RIORBELBHRETE  BXFEMBR loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant
KA SBOT A LMEEERIEE and the amounts included in the financial statements for the current
BITBABZ = H E S FHHIEEN - year is included in the above non-director and non-chief executive

highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.
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10.

FrisHip X

AEBARAEERERARERELEE
PRAERL TS BLA R [ & A ST 15 00 3%
a?%ﬁ%ﬁ% SH - REREFRE R
RBRABHERANMES  AEERHE
ERELRBRAHESEMKINER
BAGMEAIFTEN -

EEAZKE@EAimt#&E%;%EEEW
CE R EEREERSG
Tﬁﬁéﬁ(zozsi'éﬂ) NEERFERA
B B BT B A ) B 1R 25% B (2023
F 1 25%) BN B ERTEHR -

T ER R EENIEENZRER
E30% E60% I - BISEEWMEFTBR
ER AT RS - BRI - B3R
PRAREAMYERERS - AEBED R
BRREBERGEEERAEHOETE
et BRI BRGT A LB E R B E -
THIEERBEEARL S REE BRR
B ML o

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members
of the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules and
regulations of the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands, the
entities within the Group incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands are not subject to any income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the year
as the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year (2023: Nil). Subsidiaries of the Group operating
in Chinese Mainland are subject to the CIT at a rate of 25% (2023:
25%).

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated and included in taxation a provision for LAT
according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws

and regulations. The LAT provision is subject to the final review and
approval by the local tax bureau.

2024 5 2023 £

2024 2023

ARETRT ARBTTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

BOER : Current:

REERSR PRC CIT 2,937 49,094
o LI E R (AT 3T) PRC LAT (note 31) 68,267 51,734
71,204 100,828
TEIE (B2 32) Deferred (note 32) (14,211) (35,207)
FRABEZ LB Total tax charge for the year 56,993 65,621
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pml]]]

10. FifEHFAX (#) 10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
FRARBREKRNLZHME R GFIER A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to loss before tax
EREBEEERETENRBAIEERN at the statutory rate for the jurisdictions in which the Company and
BAMGHRAS - SBERTIERMSZHEK most of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense for the year
(I are as follows:

2024 F 2023
2024 2023
ARBTR AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BT B S 1R Loss before tax (744,325) (664,729)
BHRBATMEHETERTIE  Taxat the PRC statutory income tax rate (186,081) (166,182)
BERER—REELEEWN Profits or losses attributable to joint ventures
i M) B & 18 and an associate 6,132 3,875
BARTUA Income not subject to tax (2,750) (5,422)
A AEMB RS Expenses not deductible for tax 45,755 49,042
REERTIEE R Tax losses not recognised 142,737 145,508
T I8 BB Provision for LAT 68,267 51,734
THIZERNRE T E Tax effect on LAT (17,067) (12,934)
HIA H Tax charge 56,993 65,621
HE4F12ANBIEFEZDRA The share of tax attributable to joint ventures amounting to Nil (2023:
ﬁm%rﬂﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬂ (20234 : f8®) + & Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2024, is included in “Share of
ANREBRERPHIDEEERERET profits and losses of joint ventures” in the consolidated profit of loss.
LEE] -

11. IR 11. DIVIDENDS
EFEESTERRNEZ 2024 F K 20234 The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the
2A3HIEFEMNRE - year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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12. BATSAEAEBLESRERE 12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS

OF THE PARENT

BREREBEESEDIERATRREEA The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on
FEAL AR 1B A R 799,479,000 7T (2023 the loss for the year attributable to owners of the parent of
F: ANR¥696,7200007C) K FARE RMB799,479,000 (2023: RMB696,720,000), and the weighted average
77 3% 3B v 2 hn# ¥ ¥9 #45,254,000,000 A% number of ordinary shares of 5,254,000,000 (2023: 5,254,000,000) in
(2023 4F : 5,254,000,000 f%) 5+ & o issue during the year.

BRERREEBEDENATSER The calculations of the basic and diluted loss per share are based on:
=

2024 F 2023
2024 2023
ARBTRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
B Loss
FARTESRERKLESEIE 2 Loss attributable to owners of the parent,
B ARHE AELEBE used in the basic and diluted loss per share
calculation (799,479) (696,720)
[gvid 4=]
Number of shares
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
Bz 17 Shares
ARTEEREABEZFA Weighted average number of ordinary shares
BT mARE I T 8 inissue during the year used in the basic loss
per share calculation 5,254,000,000 5,254,000,000

BEwE TR IMNEFHE : Effect of dilution — weighted average number
of ordinary shares:
B AR Share options = -

Rt ESREFBEE TR Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
E?éﬂ AR ey hnE T 19 88 issue during the year used in the diluted loss
per share calculation 5,254,000,000  5,254,000,000

AR RBRENTTEES RGN F Because the exercise price of the Company’s share options was
HmE B AFEEREESEENT higher than the average market price for shares, the diluted loss per
IREREEER - share is same as basic loss per share during the year.
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13. Y% - MERRE

162

202412 A31H

31 December 2024

HENREE

Leasehold
improvements
ARET R
RMB’000

BAERE
Furniture,
fixtures and
office
equipment
ARETR
RMB’000

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
BRE RER

Motor
vehicles

ARBT R
RMB'000

Total

ARBT R
RMB'000

R2024F1 B8 ¢ At T January 2024:

BN Cost 22,602 70,405 23,215 116,222

ZEtiE Accumulated depreciation (8,529) (22,089) (20,780) (51,398)

EmFE Net carrying amount 14,073 48,316 2,435 64,824
R2024F1 B8 At 1 January 2024, net of

el i accumulated depreciation 14,073 48,316 2,435 64,824
NE Additions 61 294 - 355
& Disposals (710) (5) (131) (846)
FRITERE (FF7)  Depreciation provided during

the year (note 7) (2,595) (3,777) (788) (7,160)

i KB Exchange realignment 758 38 = 796
20245 12A318 - At 31 December 2024, net of

MR RETE accumulated depreciation 11,587 44,866 1,516 57,969
R2024F 128318 : At 31 December 2024:

B Cost 21,158 69,776 23,004 113,938

RETIE Accumulated depreciation (9,571) (24,910) (21,488) (55,969)

REZE Net carrying amount 11,587 44,866 1,516 57,969
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13. W% - BERRE

2023F12A31H
M2023F1 418 ¢

31 December 2023
At 1 January 2023

Leasehold
improvements
AREBTT
RMB'000

BE -KER
MAERE
Furniture,
fixtures and
office
equipment
AREF T
RMB'000

Motor
vehicles
ARETT
RMB'000

Z) 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

ARBTT
RMB'000

AR Cost 21823 63911 22,947 108,681

2HITE Accumulated depreciation (5170) (16932) (19,343) (41445)

RmFE Net carrying amount 16,653 46,979 3,604 67236
R2023F1H1A At T January 2023, net of

R ZAHTE accumulated depreciation 16,653 46,979 3,604 67,236
WBEMT BN R) (M17%37)  Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) - 4991 - 4991
NE Additions 546 12 290 848
& Disposals - (436) 1) (437)
HEM B AR (A75£38)  Disposals of subsidiaries (note 38) - (80) - (80)
FRIWERE (F1:F7)  Depreciation provided during

the year (note 7) (3,160) (3,158) (1,458) (7,776)

0 i 8 B Exchange realignment 34 8 - 42
202312 A31H At 31 December 2023, net of

R ZFHTE accumulated depreciation 14073 48316 2435 64,824
202312 A31H At 31 December 2023:

A Cost 22,602 70,405 23215 116,222

2HITE Accumulated depreciation (8,529) (22,089) (20,780) (51,398)

REFE Net carrying amount 14,073 48316 2435 64,824

R2024F 128318 AEEERAAHE
A ANRM76080007T (20234 : AR
8301,00070) MIETWE - BEMKEED
B UERR T AEENE TRT
K E A A8 5k (BT 5E29) o

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB7,608,000
(2023: RMB8,301,000) was pledged to secure certain bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 29).
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14. IREWME

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

BE%T =&
REWE REWHE
Investment
Completed properties
investment under
properties construction
ARETT ARBTT AREKETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
720231 H1BWEREME  Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 369,400 1,226,600 1,596,000
NE Additions - 19,217 19,217
HEME AR (K aE38) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) - (150,000) (150,000)
NEBERAE Fair value adjustments (6,500) (64,217) (70,717)
722023412 A 31 B }%.20244F Carrying amount at 31 December
1TATVBE®EREE 2023 and 1 January 2024 362,900 1,031,600 1,394,500
NEEHE Fair value adjustments 9,400 (9,600) (200)
M2024F12 A31BH Carrying amount at 31 December
BREE 2024 372,300 1,022,000 1,394,300

REBMEEMEMNFBE A - I
R2024F 2A3AREBEBIEXSE
BEEMFAITEHTEETHEER
ARI([EZHIT)ETHEEER A
AR #1,3943000007T (20234F : ARES
1,394,500,000 7C) °

R2024F 128318 AEBEREAE
B ANR#1234433,0007T (20234F : AR
#51,199,579,0007T) K& TR E WX EIE
R LERETAEENE TRITR
E &R (FF5E29) ©

RFEER

HE2024F M2023F12A31BIEFE -
AEFREYWETFERERTATEEEH
ABE (B #ETRFETE -

E=ZRB MARRFEFEZRED
¥oEERSARERE-

RARFEE  F—REE K rBITER
FEAEER  NEEANERE =R
NEEEE (20234 - &) o

The Group's investment properties are situated in Chinese Mainland
and were revalued on 31 December 2024 based on valuations
performed by Shenzhen Deginhang Asset Appraisal Co., Ltd. (“SDA"),
an independent professionally qualified valuer, at RMB1,394,300,000
(2023: RMB1,394,500,000).

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group's investment properties
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,234,433,000 (2023:
RMB1,199,579,000) was pledged to secure certain bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 29).

Fair value hierarchy

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair value
measurements of the Group's investment properties used significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3).

In the opinion of the directors, for all investment properties that
are measured at fair value, the properties have been used in their
highest and best use.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2023: Nil).
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14. IREWE &) 14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

NEEBHK (&) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
AT BRTEABERTOBEERIZEEY Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
EEENEZH AZE the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:
RER EXTHHERARE mEFEH
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Weighted average
2024 2035
2024 2023
EEREME
Investment properties under construction
& Lo At EEBE(ETHIRLER) AR¥125T ARBBZE1167T
Retail Income approach Estimated rental value (per sq.m. and per month) RMB125 RMB68-116
REZEEE (%)
Long term vacancy rate (%) 5 5-10
BRI E %)
Capitalisation rate (%) 5.5 425-5
BIE HRRERE) REIRE-FFHEAREHR AR¥750T  AR¥807T
Hotel Discounted cash flow approach  Average daily room rate in the first year of completion RMB750 RMB780
BEHSERE©®
Stabilised rental growth rate (%) 1 4
BEALEE @)
Stabilised occupancy rate (%) 75 70
R (%)
Discount rate (%) 7 78
ERIRENE
Completed investment properties
g RBEREE e BE(BFARREA) AR®106E ARESOT
M7z
Retail Discounted cash flow approach  Estimated rental value (per sq.m. and per month) RMB106-111 RMB8O
BTRSERE®)
Stabilised rental growth rate (%) 2-2.25 4
BRI (%)
Discount rate (%) 6-6.25 6
W& fhEEeBE(BFAARER) AR®106E AR
1Mz
Income approach Estimated rental value (per sq.m. and per month) RMB106-111 RMB8O
REZEEE (%)
Long term vacancy rate (%) 5-10 10
BRI E %)
Capitalisation rate (%) 3.75-4.25 425
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RFEBRE)

RIEFRRSREZE X FEDERAR
REMAMAENNEMBEBREEDN
FH(BERBERRREE) E1TMHEE -
RIESREMEREEN —ERRER
EFER - MBITERR T ERNTER R
TnE  WEEZEERBERANIRD
RE BERaX-REFEETHEH

REERE o

BeRENRFERRENRATRL
ARRMEDHESRE  EHREHEE
HERABHEFEMHRE - EENF
BRERXTSTA(BYEENN—E
FiE) s - E MRS RERBIA
HEZ=E A kEFEx - KEEE -
HEEE #EER RENATER
REMEEMERF AT - % — &7
EHEERAFRE  BRERNIEAH
REFHSKEEGESE BRER

(=K

RIBBAOL - BETRBEHRBHEOMN
SHSWAFETABERCET L@
EERMENERKEESN  H2EH
BREALBRSHET  ERERIED
AEEAR R 5 - 0B K R

8-

EHEEEEREL FHEREBAR
S0 B B A Y 2 A T A
IR RERER  BRERA
AR EBAEL N, W B EHITE

WMERXTFERERD, G -

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is estimated
using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of ownership
over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal value. This method
involves the projection of a series of cash flows on a property
interest. A market-derived discount rate is applied to the projected
cash flows in order to establish the present value of the income
stream associated with the asset. The exit yield is normally separately
determined and differs from the discount rate.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of inflows
and outflows are determined by events such as rent reviews, lease
renewal and related reletting, redevelopment or refurbishment.
The appropriate duration is driven by market behaviour that is a
characteristic of the class of property. The periodic cash flow is
estimated as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable expenses,
collection losses, lease incentives, maintenance costs, agent and
commission costs and other operating and management expenses.
The series of periodic net operating income, along with an estimate
of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the projection period,
is then discounted.

Under the income approach, valuations are based on the
capitalisation of net rental income derived from the existing
tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary income potential
of the properties or made with reference to comparable market
transactions and with consideration of adjustments to reflect
differences in transaction timing, location and tenure.

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated rental value and the
rental growth per annum in isolation would result in a significant
increase/decrease in the fair value of the investment properties.
A significant increase/decrease in the long term vacancy rate, the
discount rate and the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in
a significant decrease/increase in the fair value of the investment
properties.
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15. fHE
REBEAEREA

AEBBELEMARASENEM
E64 MEBNT2E3F -

@@ EREEE

RAFE AEENEREEE
REEREESHMT

15. LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in its
operations, which have lease terms between 2 to 3 years.

(@) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amount of the Group's right-of-use assets and

the movements during the year are as follows:

A5 P

Office premises
2024 F 2023 4
2024 2023
AR® T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
R1ATH At 1 January 23,112 28,440
NE Additions 2,382 -
k= Disposal (22,803) -
AEEFFESTH Depreciation charged during the year (2,095) (5,705)
bE 5 & Exchange realignment 643 377
®12A31H At 31 December 1,239 23112

(b) HEEE
RAEE AEENHEHERER

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities and the

HERSFHOT movements during the year are as follows:
2024 £ 2023
2024 2023
ARBTRT AR%TE
RMB’000 RMB'000
M1 A1 BREREE Carrying amount at 1 January 25,536 30,377
WHE New leases 2,534 -
HLIETRE Terminate leases (25,202) -
RAFE R T FLE Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 20 1,552
B Payment (2,220) 6,717)
ME 38 B Exchange realignment 580 324
R12 A31 BREREAE Carrying amount at 31 December 1,318 25,536
k= Analysed into:
mENE S Current portion 1,215 5,445
EREE D Non-current portion 103 20,091

HeEaEzIHE S
ERMERMFE46 I E o

DT R AR A B

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 46
to the consolidated financial statements.
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15. A& (»)

15. LEASES (Continued)

168

AEBEREBEAE)
(C) Ef%ﬂﬁﬂ%gﬁﬁ wE’]i%EZIDT

HERGBHNE

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
are as follows:

2024 & 2023
2024 2023
ARETIT

AR®T R
RMB’000 RMB'000

Interest on lease liabilities 20 1,552

FREEEITESH (MiF7) Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

2,095 5,705

RiBa R AR

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 2,185 7257

(d) MHERE N HAENEE TR
KW HE -

AEBEREEA

AEERBEERETHRERE W (K
T14)  BIEMCRPEMNZIEEEME -

AEERFAEZHESWABARE
39,728,0007T (20234 :+ A R # 32,019,000
TL) - BEFFBREHN R A ISR EES -

AR HH 2 E R E A T AR R A& K R
HEBEWT

(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 39(c) to
the consolidated financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting
of three commercial properties in the PRC under operating lease
arrangements. Rental income recognised by the Group during the
year was RMB39,728,000 (2023: RMB32,019,000), details of which are
included in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The future aggregate minimum rental receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2024 F 20236

2024 2023

ARBTR AREBTE

RMB’000 RMB'000

—F R Within one year 9,734 13,149
—FIRERRERN After one year but within two years 8,703 11,272
MEBRER=ZFNAN After two years but within three years 7,413 10,522
—FERERMNFRN After three years but within four years 6,730 7,120
MEBRERAEFA After four years but within five years 4,805 6,671
hF & After five years 13,065 9,797
HEt Total 50,450 58,531

R2024F 128318 AEBREERH
B AR 43150007 (20234 « AR#E
6471,00070) B H TH & W B 1EIR
B UERRTAEENE FRITRE
it £ 3 (BT EE 29) ©

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group's right of rental income
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB4,315,000 (2023:
RMB6,471,000) was pledged to secure certain bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 29).
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6. B EE 16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

LoAL

Software

2024 F

2024

AR®T
RMB’000

2023 €

2023

ARETTT
RMB'000

REY] At the beginning of the year:
B Cost 15,726 16,058
2T Accumulated amortisation (11,846) (10,961)
BREFE Net carrying amount 3,880 5,097
RE) - LM BT At the beginning of the year, net of
accumulated amortisation 3,880 5,097
HEKEB AR (Hfi38) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) = (161)
FRNEHRE (K 7) Amortisation provided during the year
(note 7) (989) (1,056)
RER - 0Bk REH 8 At the end of the year, net of
accumulated amortisation 2,891 3,880
RERX At the end of the year:
PR Cost 15,726 15,726
REHEE Y Accumulated amortisation (12,835) (11,846)
REFE Net carrying amount 2,891 3,880
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17. REEBELENRKRE

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2024 F 2023 4

2024 2023

ARETRT AREBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

DMEEEEE Share of net assets 192,426 216,955

DEAREEEMNER Receivables from joint ventures classified as

BEMRENIEA current assets 350,941 382,341
B R Impairment allowance (4,857) (8,444)

346,084 373,897
BRAEECEFEBEER 28 KR The receivables from joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and
ZREE (WEA)  RERELHEB repayable on demand, where applicable, an impairment analysis is

EREDARL M RR KR SR E N
NERETRED T -

ERAEBERFBANRERGEZSWT -

performed at each reporting date by considering the probability of
default and the timing and amounts of future cash flows.

The movements in impairment allowance of receivables from joint
ventures are as follows:

2024 F 2023 4

2024 2023

AR¥TR ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

REH] At the beginning of the year 8,444 2,971
B (#E) THREESE Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised (3,587) 5473
RER At the end of the year 4,857 8,444

EHEEEELEAEEFE L BB
DARSEYMEREIBE BNABEAEN
FIE - HABBRAG - BEERE
R R A S MR B 1 O e ok Bk
TR IEE o 72202412 318 0 B
B 5138% (2023 4F  221%) ©

170

The ECLs are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with
reference to the historical loss record of the Group and the amount
payable to the relevant contractors for the Group's property
development projects. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as
appropriate. The loss rate as at 31 December 2024 was 1.38% (2023:
2.21%).
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17. REEEENRE @) 17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
REB s EELEFBOAT - Particulars of the Group's joint ventures are as follows:
EUTES
Percentage of
EMRARRA  EMREBLE AR REE  EEEA TEEY
Registeredand Place of registration ~ Ownership Voting Profit
paid-up capital and business interest power sharing Principal activity
HEEREHEXARLA" ARB19%608400T  RE/HRERM 49% 49% 4% NERE
(Mfmm))
Hunan Development Gaoxin Properties RMB196,078400  PRC/Chinese Mainland 49% 49% 49%  Property development

Company Limited** (‘Hunan Gaoxin")

BHEREREXBRAR ARB300000007  FE/FERH 50% 50% 50% NERE
(IRIES])

Xuzhou Huijing Jiacheng Properties RMB30,000,000  PRC/Chinese Mainland 50% 50% 50%  Property development
Company Limited*
("Xuzhou Huijing’)

Htat - Notes:

NEABERERARRIBEEEE - The above joint ventures are indirectly held by the Company.

* BIEFBUZEELARNEGRAFA © * Registered as a domestic limited liability company under PRC law.

# AR ZE N A I & s R IE =AY 2 ¢ The English name of these companies represents the best effort made
NEWE WHEXEBEIARRFE by management of the Company to directly translate its Chinese
BEEEMZEEPXREmMER - name as it did not register any official English name.

HE204FN2ANBIEFEE HES During the year ended 31 December 2024, Hunan Gaoxin, which is

FHRAREENERGELE  KF considered material joint venture of the Group, engaged in property

YIERT  WHRARREAR- development and is accounted for using the equity method.
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17. REELENRE &)
TENAHNESTNAEEREE B
REHRENTAEEELER &
A MISRE MR G LE -

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
in respect of Hunan Gaoxin adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements.

2024 F 2023 4F

2024 2023

ARBTRT ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

MEEE Current assets 1,310,671 1,417,955

ERBEE Non-current assets 111,617 158,585

nBEE Current liabilities (836,181) (935,375)

ERBAG Non-current liabilities (193,400) (198,400)

BESE Net assets 392,707 442,765
HAREBERAEEDENEREIR © Recondiliation to the Group's interest in the

joint venture:

NEE A EL G Proportion of the Group’s ownership 49% 49%

KREREE Carrying amount of the investment 192,426 216,955

W as Revenue 79,295 106,745

FREE Loss for the year (50,059) (29,417)

2HEEELRE Total comprehensive loss (50,059) (29,417)

TEUPAEBANTEANAE LR
BB BB T AR -

DIEEELEZFAER
DMERELEEEEEARE

loss
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
investment in joint ventures - -

AEEREGBELEKREN
FRmAaE

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of
the Group's joint ventures that are not individually material:

2023 4
2023
ARETFIT
RMB'000

2024 F
2024

AR®T
RMB’000

Share of the joint ventures' loss for the year - 32
Share of the joint ventures' total comprehensive

AEEERIEEREEBLREEDESRM
ESMEE RAREBEAECENES
BERAAEETEZAELEPHRELS
BAREETESSBREZABELEN
BINGE - AEERAFEREFRE
REGEZAECEEBNSEI R AA
R #1,364,0007T (2023 4F : AR ¥E 1,457,000
7T) B AR #313870007T (20234 : AR
530,023,000 7T) °

172

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses
of a joint venture Xuzhou Huijing because the share of losses of
the joint venture exceeded the Group's interest in the joint venture
and the Group has no obligation to take up further losses. The
amounts of the Group's unrecognised share of loss of this joint
venture for the current year and cumulatively were RMB1,364,000
(2023: RMB1,457,000) and RMB31,387,000 (2023: RMB30,023,000),
respectively.

ESIZERRAEBRZAE]  Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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18. R—RBELENRE 18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
ARETR AREBTET
RMB’000 RMB'000
DHEEFE Share of net assets 7,295 7,295
REBIBEPEFBOAT ¢ Particulars of the Group's associate are as follows:
EUTED
Percentage of
EMRERRA  ERREBLE AR REE  EEA TEEH
Registeredand  Place of registration ~ Ownership Voting Profit
paid-up capital and business interest power sharing Principal activity
RETRHABRHERE AR¥3000000  RE/HERMY 40% 40% 40% NERE
BRRA)
Dongguan Fengshang Apartment Real RMB3,000,000  PRC/Chinese Mainland 40% 40% 40%  Property development

Estate Development Company Limited*

Kt - Notes:

A LB ERARRRIEERE - The above associate is indirectly held by the Company.

* BIEFBUZEELARNEGRAR © * Registered as a domestic limited liability company under PRC law.

# B ZE R A & E A E A E i The English name of these companies represents the best effort made
NEWE WHEXEBEIARQFE by management of the Company to directly translate its Chinese
BEEEMNZERXEEMmMER - name as it did not register any official English name.
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18.

19.

174

R—BELENRE @)
TREMAEE B ERNER 2B E

18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The following table illustrates the financial information of the Group's

EZHIBER

associate that is not individually material:

2024 F 2023
2024 2023
ARBTRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
DL E R EFEBE Share of the associate’s loss for the year = (1,053)
DhEE P E L EBEERE Share of the associate’s total comprehensive
loss = (1,053)
REBR—RBEDPEREN Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
REBE investment in an associate 7,295 7,295

MU EEN L1

19. LAND HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

2024 F 2023
2024 2023
ARBTR ARETET
RMB’000 RMB'000
FYIRMEAE Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 2,321,149 1,823,722
NE Additions 95,064 73,951
BRI B AT (BfaE37) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) = 424,721
WOR 2= A &3R5 E Write-down to net realisable value (93,907) (1,245)
FRRHEE Carrying amount at the end of the year 2,322,306 2,321,149
FEHR RN IEE S ERRA Current portion expected to be recovered
Ug [a] 7 BN HAEE 5 within normal operating cycle (513,011) (513,011)
JEBNEAEE Non-current portion 1,809,295 1,808,138

R2024F 128318 AEBEZRE AR
BB A R%1391,930,0007T (20234F © A
R ¥ 1,432,714,00070) & 15 VB 7 35 D4
EMETIHEERR  UERETA
EBEME TRITREMER (FFFE29) ©

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s land held for
development for sale with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB1,391,930,000 (2023: RMB1,432,714,000) was pledged to secure
certain bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note 29).

SESHEMRABR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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20. 1EEWE

FEHIRN LR 2 & B Uk el &

20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

2024 F
2024
AR® T
RMB’000

2023 F
2023

ARETT
RMB'000

Properties under development expected to be

TERME - recovered within normal operating cycle:

—FR Within one year = 315,000

—F1& After one year 3,113,417 2,817,198
3,113,417 3,132,198

R2024F 1283 B AKEEZRME A&
B A AR 13643030007T (20234 @ A
R #13786040007C) & THEEWEDS
EEA - LB T AEENS TIRTT
N E A (i FE29) ©

21. HELHENCRTITYME
R2024F 12 A31H  AEBZRE4AE
B AREE 40584700078 (2023 F « AREE
417,365,00070) A THRELENE R T
WEBEERE  UWERRTFALEENS
FERIT R EAEFK (FIFE29) o

22. € 5 BUWERM

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s properties
under development with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB1,364,303,000 (2023: RMB1,378,604,000) was pledged to secure
certain bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note 29).

21. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s completed properties
held for sale with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB405,847,000
(2023: RMB417,365,000) was pledged to secure certain bank and
other borrowings granted to the Group (note 29).

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2023 4
2023
ARBFT
RMB'000

2024 F
2024

AR®T
RMB’000

B 5 IR Trade receivables 13,777 11,907
VERIERE L] Impairment allowance (400) (2,238)
IREFE Net carrying amount 13,377 9,669

B 5 RUR IR E HEE SN RUR
Ko MERBRERTPRREBER
195 7 BO fER SRS AT K’*lj}i”"fﬁﬂiﬂﬁ
TR MK R K % 280 B A R AR BRAR PR )
mEEEEHERZ -

Trade receivables represent receivables arising from the sale of
properties. Consideration in respect of properties is payable by the
customers in accordance with the terms of the related sale and
purchase agreements. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and overdue balances, which are
reviewed regularly by management.
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ESBRWERR &)
%W$$@Mﬁ%ﬁ%%m % E%
TIEFER MITEEAZERRE
R o 7N 5 3 4 LB 5 R UK R R
BAITAEARKEMERALER - B5
U BR R T E B o

RERE FHRUIRFIZK A R B Hsk
BEAMYHIREEEENRRS T
T

—FR

Within 1 year

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Since the Group's trade receivables are related to a number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the year,
based on the revenue recognition date or invoice date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

2023 5
2023
ARETFIT
RMB'000

2024 F
2024

AR®T R
RMB’000

13,377 9,609

REREAH  AEEEBEBHHER
HEERIE O FTAT A M (L J7 A TL TR IR
EEBRELBE ZREAFYHME

B 5 RURFNRR = B a8 B B 18 &
- B RURFRERERBEZSHN

At each reporting date, the Group applies the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables. The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

T
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
ARBTR AR®TET
RMB’000 RMB'000
REA At the beginning of the year 2,238 642
B (#E) HREESE Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised (1,838) 1,596
RER At the end of the year 400 2,238

176
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23, JA{IFRIE - HitEUWFIERE 23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

mEE OTHER ASSETS

2024 & 2023 5

2024 2023

ARE T ARET T

RMB’000 RMB'000

T FRIE Prepayments 833,448 869,751
FERA LM A Cost of obtaining contracts 43,317 43,661
Hmh U RIER RS Other receivables and deposits 752,051 755,344
1,628,816 1,668,756
B B Impairment allowance (66,082) (74,206)
@t Total 1,562,734 1,594,550

FFALIESNCREESBRAF B
B PSR R B3R ER - LA 2 TBHERE
EEE(ER)  NEREAHEEE
WA AR AR RRERENEE RS
B UGEITRED T

HpEURBRE EHRERR 28 RR
%*1&5&3’9%’7%&% ReTREHE
e BRAVELBREAEXREE
B

fﬁiﬁ‘fﬁ’\lﬁ ’rHJJEHSZ IE)SZ%M&EAEK

The financial assets included in the above balances were categorised
in stage 1, 2 and 3 for the measurement of ECL, where applicable,
an impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by
considering the probability of default and the timing and amounts
of future cash flows.

Other receivables mainly represent deposits with contractors which
are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.
Deposit mainly represent rental deposits and has not experienced
any significant credit loss in past.

The movements in impairment allowance of prepayments, other

receivables and other assets are as follows:

2024 F 20234

2024 2023

ARETn ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

REH] At the beginning of the year 74,206 40,713
HEWB AR Disposal of subsidiaries = (5,121)
1 g5 Write-offs (17,068) -
ERBEBE Impairment losses recognised 8,944 38614
RER At the end of the year 66,082 74,206

AT ERIE  Hth R IB R E E A
BB EEEBE2EAEBEL B
FOBE N AN B W) 3 R 2508 B FE AT AR RE A
BERIE  RABBREAG - Eﬂai
HBREE RREED AR A RRERE]

T FEORI R R 48 7 RS, o 722024 12 B 31
B H)E5 18 R 5 4.06% (2023 F © 445%) °

ECL on the prepayments, other receivables and other assets balances
are estimated by a loss rate approach with reference to the historical
loss record of the Group and the amount payable to the relevant
contractors for the Group’s property development projects. The
loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate as at 31
December 2024 was 4.06% (2023: 4.45%).
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24, I D FEHETAEX 2SR E 24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
= PROFIT ORLOSS

25.

178

2024 & 2023 4F

2024 2023

AR T AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

EARAERE (RAFE) Listed equity investments, at fair value - 1,265
EMIEETESIKRE X AFE) Otherunlisted fund investments, at fair value 10 43,046
@t Total 10 44311

LLHXZIK&#t B WO B D AR
RFEFABRBRZEMEE  REKE
BRRERELFFMARINARERFE -

WAV EFABE ZEREENRFR

The above equity and unlisted investments were mandatorily

classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as

their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and

interest.

Details of the fair value hierarchy of the financial assets at fair value

BRHFFIBEN IR E M EHREM 45 - through profit or loss are set out in note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements.
RENIMITLER 25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
2024 F 2023 4F
2024 2023
AR T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
Re MIBTT4H% Cash and bank balances 2,327 6,009
2RI & Restricted cash 34,852 120,151
ReLkRESEEYD Cash and cash equivalents 37,179 126,160
Bt - Notes:

()

(b)

R2024F 12 A3 BNIE S RIRITER
BIETE A R ¥ 34,852,000 7T (2023 4F -
AR #120,147,0007T) ° EF$%I“
FHBRARRRBITRENEBEER
Eg ZEWBA 7@%&?%%
WMEERBETABERITES %%
GHREAARINMBRARELENY
EFABKAREEEBER -

R2024F 12 B3 BB S RIRITER
BREERFERZT (2023F: AR
400070) - BEAEES THE R A
FMEBNEEERMERHZE  ZEH
BARABREERITRFTFARE
EBYER -

(a)

(b)

Included in the cash and bank balances as at 31 December 2024 are
deposits of RMB34,852,000 (2023: RMB120,147,000). According to
relevant loan facility agreements signed by certain subsidiaries of the
Group with the banks, these subsidiaries are required to place the pre-
sale proceeds of their properties at designated bank accounts. The
deposits can only be used for the payment of property development
costs incurred by the subsidiaries and the repayment of the relevant
loans.

Included in the cash and bank balances as at 31 December 2024 are
guarantee deposits of Nil (2023: RMB4,000). According to relevant
loan facility agreements signed by certain subsidiaries of the Group,
the subsidiaries are required to place deposits at designated bank
accounts as a guarantee.

ESIERABR /AT Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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25. RERMITHER (2 25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued)
R|EBKR AEEH ?;z )\ REAEZ At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
e RIBITEH B ARB37,177,0007T of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB37,177,000
(20234 « AR#1252480007T) - AR (2023: RMB125,248,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
BATEAMEE R BREHR currencies, however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange
A b 9N B B AR N A TR - ST AN Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
EERRTE  AEEEEEREREE Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
ITOMNEEBHRITHKARB LR ABEM to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
Tk - conduct foreign exchange business.

FRIRITOIR SREST B HRITERN Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
EEREUSENF B - IRITEBR I TERES deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
RIFE28 B B30 2 D ac s O 8R1T o banks with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the
Re RIRTHAARRERERE AN TERS cash and bank balances approximate to their fair values.
26. € 5 BAIERM 26. TRADE PAYABLES
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
ARBTR AREKTE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ERNE=FTHNE FHER Trade payables to third parties 1,186,910 1,149,698
FET @ f’m‘ﬁ?ﬁiﬁﬂ %'J Trade payables to related companies
A AR E RN controlled by Mr Lun Ruixiang 101,642 141,175
#wEt Total 1,288,552 1,290,873
RERE G ENRFIZERE B 8RR An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the year,
AT - based on the invoice date, is as follows:
2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
AR®TR AREKTE
RMB’000 RMB'000
—FR Within 1 year 529,145 485,545
—EMF 1 to 2 years 385,752 388,978
HB R More than 2 years 373,655 416,350
#wEt Total 1,288,552 1,290,873
EORENERREER T8 B— The trade payables are unsecured and interest-free and are normally
BIRBAEEEREYENERETEE settled based on the progress of the construction of the Group’s

properties under development.
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27. HEAF
STEH

X1 - EYiRE£ N E 27. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND

ACCRUALS

2024 F 2023
2024 2023

AR TR ARBTIT
RMB’000 RMB'000

o fth fE T 5RIE Other payables (a) 404,022 349,283

Bz & Deposits received 22,321 22314

fEEtE Accruals 243,949 262,101

RS Dividends payable 122,479 118,312

FEASH B2 Interests payable 762,831 309,228

AR S Provisions for litigation b) 25,092 25,098

IR E L Financial guarantee contract () 2,541 7,591

1,583,235 1,093,927

@ HMEMRERAMIER T EER (@)  Other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable
—FRNEE- within one year.

(b) FRAABETIRIEANE B AR MY (b)  The provisions for litigation is made based on the opinion of the
EEFARGAIREENERRER Group’s legal adviser on the possible outcome and liabilities due to
BWERmE - litigation cases by suppliers.

FRAABEEHMT ¢ The movements of provisions for litigation are as follows:
2024 FF 2023 F
2024 2023
AR TR AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
RE ] At the beginning of the year 25,098 11,423
NE Additions 8,976 13,675
#E Adjudicated (8,982) -
RER At the end of the year 25,092 25,098

© R2024F 128318 A&EBHAE
FETHRBBEMRITRETH
ER cHEERINET#EABA
R #1,368,544,0007C (20234 : AR ¥
2,500,969,0007T) * WE B FBHE
F o A5 £ B 4 Sh IR AR 1 A (T 4R I
ma sk H A S G -

BRADBIBEBAT  NEEXTRHEH
BHER  AEBMBERFBERRER
EMBMKRMT40- MBEERBEE
EREREEERE -

180

(0)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided financial guarantees to
bank in respect of mortgage facilities granted to customers. The loan
facilities granted by the financial institutions were RMB1,368,544,000
(2023: RMB2,500,969,000), of which was fully utilised by the customers.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over the guarantees.

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except for limited
circumstances, details of the Group's financial guarantees are included
in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements. All guarantees are
approved by the directors and senior management.

ESIERABR /AT Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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27. HihEEMNTIE - EUiRE& R E 27. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND

;'I' E Fﬁ ), ACCRUALS (Continued)

© (&) () (Continued)
HHRERREOHERBEREEEERE The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of the
BEYIGHER T ENGR R DR ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised less the cumulative
AsBEzENRSETE -BPEE amount of income recognised. The ECL allowance is measured by
BEREDEAGHAASERKEE estimating the cash shortfalls, which are based on the expected
B MRSERDBEEERAA (B payments to reimburse the holders (i.e, the financial institutions) for
SRS EENERERNTRINR a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to
MBRAEEEHREEBA (BIEF) I receive from the debtors (ie., the customers). During the year, a ECL
AmEMEBEMEEN - FR - AR allowance of RMB5,050,000 (2023: RMB1,164,000 was reversed) was
EEMBRREE - LW EEH(E reversed as a result of a deterioration of the financial position of the
B BB AR 50500007T (20234 : 88 customers.

& AR #1,164,0007T) ©

28. B E 28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
AEECHAUATHRZEBANEGHNE The Group has recognised the following revenue-related contract
f& - liabilities:

2024 F 2023 F

2024 2023

AR®TR ARKTET

RMB’000 RMB'000

Y2 SH &S TR IR Receipts in advance for sale of properties 968,726 1,162,247
NEBIRBE M HEE S HFTET W E The Group receives payments from customers based on billing
KAEPWEGRIE - BB MEE schedules as established in the property sale contracts. Payments are
EENEIT 2 BIHE - usually received in advance under the contracts which are from the

sale of properties.

29. st RIRITRHMERK 29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS
2024
2024
BERFI= A ARETx e
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Maturity RMB'000 rate Maturity RMB'000
BN ER Current
PITERX—FEA  Bankloans — secured BER/ BEkR/
2025 F 2004
On demand/ On demand/
5.15%-13% 2025 2,708,235 5.15%-13% 2024 2,713,338
HitEZR— AEA  Otherloans — secured RER/ REX/
2025 F 20245
On demand/ On demand/
7.7%-14% 2025 1,426,211 7.7%-14% 2024 1,299,533
#5 Total 4,134,446 4012871
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AT RRITREMER 29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (Continued)

29.

2023 5
2023
ARBTIT
RMB'000

2024 F
2024

AR®T R
RMB’000

182

Pamiiv =i Analysed into:
EERITER Bank loans repayable
—ilﬁﬁﬁzy? Within one year or on demand 2,708,235 2,713,338
BEHMER Other borrowings repayable
—FARIFER Within one year or on demand 1,426,211 1,299,533
st Total 4,134,446 4,012,871
Hiat - Notes:

()

REEZETRITEREMERTATI
AR KIER

(a)

EIRASEENREHREEAE
A 2 #1,391,930,000 7T (2023 4F :
AR #1,432,714,000 7T) B H51EF
B HE R T (FFE19)

0]

ERAEBETABEARE
1,364,303,000 7T (2023 4F : AR¥E
1,378,604,000 7C) K E 3= ¥ 2 (MY
$¥20) :

(ii)

BEHRAEBREAEAE AR
405,847,000 7C (20235 : AR ¥
417,36500070) BB EL EME
T (MsE21)

(iii)

BEHRAEEFREAEAEARYE
1,234,433,0007C (2023 4F : AR#E
1,199,579,000 7T.) K% & ¥ 2 (FF
FE14)

(iv)

BEHRAESBEEREEHEEARY
4,315,0007C (20234 : AR
6,471,000 7C) W FH £ Y 25 4 (P 5
15)

ERAEBEERREARE
7,608,000 (20234 : AR #
8,301,0007T) K ¥ % - B K &%
[HGEIEE

RIFEHRERAEE
B /8 % B O RO ©

(vii) WET

ESIERABR /AT Huijing Holdings Company Limited

Certain of the Group's bank and other borrowings are secured or
guaranteed by:

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vil)

pledges over the Group’s land held for development for sale
with an aggregate carrying amount at the end of the reporting
period of RMB1,391,930,000 (2023: RMB1,432,714,000) (note
19);

pledges over the Group's properties under development with
an aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,364,303,000 (2023:
RMB1,378,604,000) (note 20);

pledges over the Group's completed properties held for sale
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB405,847,000 (2023:
RMB417,365,000) (note 21);

pledges over the Group's investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,234,433,000 (2023:
RMB1,199,579,000) (note 14);

pledges over the Group’s right of rental income with
an aggregate carrying amount of RMB4,315,000 (2023:
RMB6,471,000) (note 15);

pledges over the Group's property, plant and equipment
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB7,608,000 (2023:
RMB8,301,000) (note 13);

pledges over the Group's equity interests in certain subsidiaries
as at the end of the reporting period.
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J1\ A S

(b)

(&)

AEBERMEEAR3871,6650007T
(2023%F : AR #3,757,638,0007T)
AR #262,781,0007C (2023 F : AR
255,233,000 70) AY IR 1T & H M & K5 7
NARE RETFE -

R2024F 128318 KXNEHERITR
H i 8 7 A R #2,189,086,000 7T (2023
£ ANR#2,0726880007T) B AL E
BEMBRARPHIERDEESE
BRBAE-

R2024F 128310 REBEKREESR
AR 485 A AR 1,945,360,000 7T (2023
£ ANR#1,170,243,0007T) B & TR
TER -

R2023F 11 A28 HEYAQRAFTET
WERAREZ EEERABNHRIT
ZHE(RENDBEEREERERETEN
RRARZER (DER]D) B R—R1E
Far(Exra) R e ARE
15000 BB L2 @EEBER - koK
AREBHNEBERARRERAREER
EENEIERAS LA BEHARYE
15450 B & T ©

R2024F2 A23 8 » RH LA H R
WHIT > ARRHTHEAREEE
EAEREA 2 RFBHARE 15450
BETL -HE204FN2ANEIEFE
LERHGRAMBERERIERS 5T
B AR AEERS RS -

RIRERARRE - W2025F3 8198 )&
BRBITE AR EE THE AR ([
BITAD BENEG  ERAEER
REFLREMEF S L ARBEEWRD
TABEBNYE  BIE201E/EH K& 575
EEEf - - HEEAWBEREMMER
H - HE B RIEEETT - BMARTK -

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings with carrying amounts of
RMB3,871,665,000 (2023: RMB3,757,638,000), and RMB262,781,000
(2023: RMB255,233,000) are denominated in RMB, and United States
dollars, respectively.

The cross-defaulted bank and other borrowings amounted to
RMB2,189,086,000 (2023: RMB2,072,688,000) are classified as current
liabilities from non-current liabilities in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group failed to repay certain bank
loans with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,945,360,000 (2023:
RMB1,170,243,000).

On 2 November 2023, an enforcement case related to a trust loan
(the “Case”) was submitted to the Middle Civil Court of Dongguan,
Guangdong (ER A R H & AR IER) (the "Court) against
certain subsidiaries of the Company relating to a past-due pledged
loan lent by a trust company (the “Trust Company”) with a principal
amount of RMB150.00 million, requiring the relevant subsidiaries of
the Company to repay the Trust Company the outstanding principal
and interests of the trust loan amounting to approximately RMB154.50
million.

On 23 February 2024, the case was decided and enforced by the Court
that certain subsidiaries of the Company should repay the loan with a
principal and interests of the trust loan amounting to approximately
RMB154.50 million. During the year ended 31 December 2024 and
up to the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements,
certain subsidiaries did not repay the principal and interests.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 19 March 2025,
the Court executed the Case applied by the Trust Company against
certain subsidiaries (the “Executed Person”), and the Court decided to
publicly auction on the JD.com online judicial auction platform the
properties owned by the Executed Person, including 20 shops and 575
parking spaces. By the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, the auction is currently in progress and has not yet been
completed.
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29. ;T EBRITREMBEBREC

Hiat - (&)

() Eézozsinﬂsav—%ﬁﬁﬁii’&
A ([BEEEERAR]) BARFEEM
B2 TL&EE T M IR E AU
REFAD - BEEEQARERNBMEH
MEBAREEREEERACERRE

R B ARE39400E & T RKi)
EEEEAGNYHABHNERARRES
MEHNE TEERREEHBER
HERBZHRE  ZEEREZEE-

M2024F 11 B278 - BERAS WﬂllmﬁP
WARKT (AR ) HAREARE
AT BRBER AT W ZIS’AEWE
BB A ﬁ&%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁéﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ?%
HEEREFIORA—AMEIHER
N K@ EF s o %ﬁﬁ R A 8%
MEBEBE - AR B AR R
FEAZNRE MEEEERQAM
KA AR BB 558 BT T

30. BEERE

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(f) On 8 December 2023, a civil legal proceeding concerning a loan
dispute has been filed by an asset management company (the “Asset
Management Company”) due to the breach of loan repayment by
the relevant subsidiaries of the Company. The Asset Management
Company requested (i) the relevant subsidiaries to repay the
outstanding principal of the loan together with accrued interests
amounting to approximately RMB394.00 million; and (ii) the Asset
Management Company shall have the priority in compensation over
the proceeds from the auction or sale of certain assets or equity
interests pledged by the relevant subsidiaries for the loan.

On 27 November 2024, the Middle Civil Court of Shenzhen,
Guangdong (" E R &G F I A H A REBT") (The “Court”) issued
a civil mediation statement, and the parties voluntarily reached the
following agreement: The relevant subsidiaries of the Company and
the related parties shall make a one-time payment of the principal
and overdue interests of the loan within 10 days from the date of
issuance of the civil mediation statement. However, as of the date of
approval of the consolidated financial statements, no payment has
been made by the relevant subsidiaries and the related parties and
the Asset Management Company has not yet applied to the Court for
compulsory enforcement.

30. SENIOR NOTES

2024 5 2023
2024 2023
ARETx ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000

2023 F B R B 2023 Senior Notes
FiNG7A Principal 785,422 762,863
PN Interest 265,838 145,680
BEt Total 1,051,260 908,543

2024 F
2024

20234
2023
ARETTT
RMB'000

AR®T
RMB’000

DA Analysed into:
—FRNEBEAS Principal repayable within one year 785,422 762,863
184 ESERARZAT Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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R2021F7A228 KRB ETA
% #2858 /5 138,000,000 7T (A R
951,320,000 7)) KB % 1% ([ 2022 F B
REE] ERFEFEI25%E - WK
20227 A21 BE|H -

M2022%F 78218 ARRIEBET
N & 485 107,600,000 7T (FBE R A
R ¥ 716,554,000 7C) * LEFZE125% 5T
BRMR2023F 7208 BN ELE
B ([2023 FEBAZRE]) TRILEL -
AR A R A SR8/ 2022 FE 5%
EiR - 5T - N$ 8 5107,600,0003%
TLHI0NFEAZBW S mER
7K 4 %830,400,000 3 JTL B B EAE S ©

HE204F1N2ANBIEFE X2 R
F B 4858 /144,019,000 E 7T (H) AR UK
1,051,260,00070) #2023 F B EZEE
R2023F7 A208 B HE - I AT (] 45
B ZERIMNAERBmPASEE
BELEZEBBETINENSH -

R2024F 123 HEREZGZA T
WEBEAE - AEEIWARERE2023F
BREENARE EF B A 151,954,000
XL (HHER AR 1,109,1850007T) °

MMHERARBRBERENZTA
FRETSZLHEE a8 - AR B AEER
HHBAEASRRELETNED
B (R2BMERNRE) ME=ED
HHIR Rt BRI ME - BEE 2 Ak
Mo EERE -

REBNERRBIAETIE LA
AR RE T EB R R AREIERLR -

Notes:

On 22 July 2021, the Company issued senior notes (“2022 Senior
Notes”) with an aggregate principal amount of US$138,000,000
(approximately RMB951,320,000) bearing interest at 12.5% per annum
and due on 21 July 2022.

On 21 July 2022, the Company completed an exchange offer by
issuing senior notes ("2023 Senior Notes”) with an aggregate principal
amount of US$107,600,000 (equivalent to RMB716,554,000) bearing
interest at 12.5% per annum and due on 20 July 2023 to exchange
the 2022 Senior Notes with same principal amount. Upon completion,
the 2022 Senior Notes with principal amount of US$107,600,000 were
cancelled and the remaining principal amount of US$30,400,000 were
settled in full.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 2023 Senior Notes
with an aggregate principal and interest amount of US$144,019,000
(approximately RMB1,051,260,000) which matured on 20 July 2023
without any settlement. Such non-payment of interest or overdue
principal have caused an event of default under the senior notes
agreements.

Subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of approval
of the consolidated financial statements, the Group did not repay
principal and interest in total of US$151,954,000 (equivalent to
RMB1,109,185,000) for 2023 Senior Notes.

The Company, at its option, can redeem all or a portion of the senior
notes at any time prior to the maturity date at a pre-determined
redemption price (principal amount plus applicable premium) plus
accrued and unpaid interest up to the redemption date, as set forth
in the written agreements between the Company and the trustees of
the senior notes.

The senior notes of the Group are denominated in United States
dollars and are secured by pledges over the equity interests of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
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31.

186

TR EBRE 31. PROVISION FOR LAND APPRECIATION TAX
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
AR T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
R1A1HE At 1 January 663,200 675,357
RFERIBIERANIE (A 170)  Charged to the statement of profit or loss
during the year (hote 10) 68,267 51,734
FRHFR Payment during the year (11,616) (63,891)
®12HA31H At 31 December 719,851 663,200
BIER1994F 1 A1 B AR L i According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations of

BT E T IB R E R 199551 A 27
H A4 9 R B L b 3 (A B 1T K ) B B
A R E R SR EERE i
FRE BFREMNBREEENTE
W %5 29 78 122 38 (B RE #Y 30% & 60% 2 3 B
EEMIHIRER  WHEEEBEE
V) IS ERE T B 1B 7] F1R TR B 48 5H 20%
BIBRHN o

AEECDRETBEEBREEE AR
ZHE  EETRAEL S E T B

ERTHBRENABRAANREEREY
XRBEARTRET  HBEERAY
AETRERBEOEERLER

the PRC on LAT effective from 1 January 1994, and the Detailed
Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations of the PRC on
LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the sale or
transfer of state-owned land use rights, buildings and their attached
facilities in Chinese Mainland are subject to LAT at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% of the appreciation value, with an
exemption provided for the sale of ordinary residential properties if
their appreciation values do not exceed 20% of the sum of the total
deductible items.

The Group has estimated and made a provision for LAT according
to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination
by the tax authorities upon completion of the property development
projects and the tax authorities might disagree with the basis on
which the provision for LAT is calculated.

SESHEMRABR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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32, EEHH 32. DEFERRED TAX
REANRLEHREEERBEEBNT The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

are as follows:

BEEHBEEE Deferred tax liabilities
TR EH g
REM-KRE RNFER mEEH
MEMEE mEE DNREAR
Arising from
Arising from prepayment Fair value
revaluation of of land adjustments
investment  appreciation from
properties tax acquisition Total
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R2023F1A18 At 1 January 2023 81,444 5,995 21,645 109,084
i E BT E A A) (B 4% 38) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) (4,406) - (11,639) (16,045)
HEGERE Disposal of a joint venture - - (10,006) (10,006)
RERBZEERAFTA  Credited to the statement of
(K 10) profit or loss during the year
(note 10) (17,679) (5,184) - (22,863)
M2023F 12 A31 B At 31 December 2023 and
2024118 1 January 2024 59,359 811 - 60,170
BENEZKXAMB  Charge to the statement of
(B 10) profit or loss during the year
(note 10) (50) 2 - (48)
2024512 31 H At 31 December 2024 59,309 813 - 60,122
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32, EIERIE (&) 32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
EIEHRIEBEEE Deferred tax assets

B+ iR ED
REEMELE

Arising from

provision of land
appreciation tax

188

ARETT

RMB'000

M2023F1H1R At 1 January 2023 168,839

HEMB AR (F7F38) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) (15,383)
RENBRENT A (HaE10) Credited to the statement of profit or loss

during the year (note 10) 12,344

R2024F1A1H At 1 January 2024 165,800
RENBRENGT A (HE10) Credited to the statement of profit or loss

during the year (note 10) 14,163

2024512 A31H At 31 December 2024 179,963

R2024F 12831 KREBEBHES
AMEENABDARIEEBEEAARE
844,733,000 7T, (2023 4F + AR ¥ 793,531,000
L) EAREREEANTEREER
F o AREKHEEEBRBATRNRRER
FaF - WERZEEIBERELTHE
BE AAERBFEEAETKAE
AR se B ARTIIEEE -

At AEEEEEHN P ERNA T

MZEWNB AR B2008F1 A1HRE
ERABF TS IR BEMSTENT - &

SEMERTER5%K10% °

R2024F K2023F 128318 A& H
A7 4 B 7E AR B b B S Y B B A B ZE B
RITEINH R R E B FIFT S R TEHEL
BMRIELERE - ARBIEERAE  ZE
B A RNA AR TR D IRZSE
&AH o R2024F 124318 BRFER
M B A B VIR E A B8 i 34 R U AR AR
BEEFHBEEENEREZHBEAGRNA
AR #1,591,587,0007T (20234 :+ AREE
1,673,353,0007C) °

The Group had unutilised tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of
RMBB844,733,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB793,531,000)
that can be carried forward for five years from the year in which
the losses arose for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets had not
been recognised in respect of these losses as it was not considered
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the tax
losses could be utilised.

The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable
rate is 5% or 10% for the Group.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's
subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised totalled approximately RMB1,591,587,000
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB1,673,353,000).

SESHEMRABR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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33. 8
% 4

VARE Authorised:
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of

10,000,000,000 A% & A% I &

33. SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

2024 F 2023 &

2024 2023

AR®T
RMB’000

ARBTT
RMB'000

001 BTz Mk HK$0.01 each 90,141 90,141
BETRAE - Issued and fully paid:
5,254,000,000 % & % (& 5,254,000,000 ordinary shares of
001 BT Eimk HK$0.01 each 47,972 47,972

ARRBEASEHBOT

VERE

720231 A1 8 20235
12A318H 2024F1 B1B X
2024512 A31H

Authorised:

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as
follows:

HERHE EBEREE

Nominal

Number of value of

ordinary shares ordinary shares

ARHEF T

RMB'000

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023,
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024

10,000,000,000 90,141

R2023F1F18 ~ 203%
12A31H 204%F1A1H
%2045 128318

1 January 2024 and
31 December 2024

B#1T
ZEREA
Number of

ERTRE R RE At

ordinary shares Issued Share

inissue capital
ARBFRL
RMB'000

premium Total
ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB000

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023,

5,254,000,000 47972 737,120 785,092

fBRE

AN B R it B R AR R AR A S B 1R
2 RE S 2 S IR B R B MRS R I
i34

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options
granted under the share option scheme are included in note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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34.

190

BRESE

QAR 2019 F BR A — IE B IR R AT &I
([BRAFMBERBRESE - LA
AEBMEBERSKINELERNE ER
SEEREPE L EE aA R AFARE
AIEBIRERTEI 2 A E 2 HEENIEAR
REERAEBEMES -

HRAFREBERERER B R 201954
Be B4R - W 202091 A 16 BH @ °

FABAINEZEREGEARE 1T
% OREERENEHTREHHSE
0RANER - ERHERENITERH
HEMNE—([ARBEASAREEERME
BAEAIE - REEXAMESHIBERE
EIERENEOBREZTEERE AR
wEEE (A12020F1 A16H A1.9378
TT) B9 50% & 70% ©

8 RSO 0 R B, T 15 A A HE R B B B B

RREES LRS-

FARREBEERAFE SR RET S H

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme in 2019 (the “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operation. Eligible participates of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme include the Company's directors and other employees of
the Group.

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme became effective on 6 April 2019
and expired on 16 January 2020.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 10 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration
of RMB1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the granted
options commences from the respective first vesting date up to the
fifth anniversary date of it. The exercise price of each option granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be 50% to 70% of the
final offer price (i.e. HK$1.93 on 16 January 2020).

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Pre-IPO

RITHE 2 BEIRAEDT - Share Option Scheme during the year:
2024 F 20234
2024 2023

InRE 15 pilik: B
THEE BREHE TEE  BREHE
Weighted Number Weighted Number
average of share average of share
exercise price options  exercise price options
BT TR BT TR
HKS ‘000 HKS ‘000
R1A1H At 1 January 1.0419 50,250 1.0488 51,400
F R UK Forfeited during the year = = 13510 (1,150)
R12A31H At 31 December 1.0419 50,250 1.0419 50,250

HE2024F M2023F12A31HIEFE -

No share options were exercised during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

SESHEMRABR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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34. BBIRHERE () 34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
REMEER - MARITEZBEREZTE The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
BRITEHRET - outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
BREHE TEE TS
Number of share options Exercise price  Exercise period
2024 F 20236 BRABT
2024 2023 HKS per share
39,100,000 39,100,000 0.9650  16-01-2020 £ 15-01-2025
16-01-2020 to 15-01-2025
4,550,000 4,550,000 1.2545  16-01-2020 & 15-01-2025
16-01-2020 to 15-01-2025
3,800,000 3,800,000 13510  16-01-2020 2 15-01-2025
16-01-2020 to 15-01-2025
1,400,000 1,400,000 13510  17-07-2020 2 16-07-2025
17-07-2020 to 16-07-2025
1,400,000 1,400,000 13510  04-03-2021 & 03-03-2026

04-03-2021 to 03-03-2026

50,250,000 50,250,000
HE204F 12831 BILFE  AEERE The Group recognised a share option expense of RMB41,000 (2023
REERAER S AR 41,000 7T (2023 4F - RMB3,022,000) during the year ended 31 December 2024.
AR #3,0220007T) °
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34, BBGHEETEl »2)
BRESEE AR -

192

RBEHR REERXAFESHBER
REst 3

Vesting date

REESE RS (HEEEERH]) B Az @ ERRBHEZE
EEEFEBERHEEBFEAZBH

At any time on or after the relevant vesting date (the “Relevant Vesting Date”) to the date
immediately before the first anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date

REAEBERPREEBFRE RN ENEMERE
EREEFRBEEHE _ABFHAZBH

At any time on or after the date falling on the first anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date to the
date immediately before the second anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date

REESE R PE RS E Bz BN EREHEZE
EERNMEERPE=EBEF Az B H

At any time on or after the date falling on the second anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date to
the date immediately before the third anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date

RIEERE R PE=EBAF A E Az BN ERREHEZE
EEEFEBEEHENEBSFHA 2 BH

At any time on or after the date falling on the third anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date to the
date immediately before the fourth anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date

RIEMREE PR MEBF R E A BN EMKER
EERAERBERHEREBFHAZ B

At any time on or after the date falling on the fourth anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date to
the date immediately before the fifth anniversary of the Relevant Vesting Date

NN &) #5  50,250,000 17 15 &

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The share option vesting method is as follows:

BRETESE
ARG 2
BSES L
Maximum
percentage of
underlying shares
in respect of

the options

may be vested

20%

20%

20%

20%

20%

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 50,250,000
share options outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

TENERE - RERQRREAEEARE
BB OERARTEZERERS
X %% 7 50,250,000 A% AN A 7] BB I @
MEINEA (NBRETH A AR
49,214,000 7T (FHE 7 52,356,000 7T) °

RZEFREVBHRRLERDR  BiEE
XA ERBRETS - NAREFA
50,250,000 {7 1 RA1T 5 2 FE AR » A91h AR
NAEE BB BTN AY0.96% °

The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of
50,250,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of RMB49,214,000 (equivalent to HK$52,356,000) (before
issue expense).

At the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the Company had 50,250,000 share options outstanding under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, which represented approximately
0.96% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date.

SESHEMRABR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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AEERAEE RBEEENRES S
REBRGA EREBE 27 -

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EEREREE

R AR A B2 A5k K 7 AR B K 32 Y
MEARMMESZEMA 5 iH
B AR AETR ARG E
Bl - 7% 10% B9 B B 18 40 7 B = 0%
TABRE ExRHELEHRELR
H 0% ME AR o RIEMERTEE
BRI B AR A ER4 A
FTEaE TR EERBERT
FB A 35K 4 s 98 ok B 38 N AR AN (1
BRSBTS DR 255% M E
A) o BN BREEZ B /MU
SN - BTMERRSREDIR -

mEeRE
e REEAREEEEENREE -

REHAZROME AR ERNE
ﬁﬁ;‘?ﬁﬁk /JE
MEARIERAEREETAD
IRIEAREE MR FEEAWENE
NRIFERER AZNHRE -

%

BEXRfRE
REE B E A 1R W FR IR IR
mELH RS

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein

for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles
of association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC,
each of the relevant subsidiaries is required to appropriate
10% of its net profits after tax, as determined under the PRC
generally accepted accounting principles, to the statutory
surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its
registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the
relevant PRC regulations and in the articles of association of
the relevant subsidiaries, the statutory surplus reserve may be
used either to offset losses, or to be converted to increase the
share capital provided that the balance after such conversion
is not less than 25% of the registered capital. The reserve
cannot be used for purposes other than those for which it is
created and is not distributable as cash dividends.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents reserve arising pursuant to the
reorganisation.

Distribution to the equity owners of subsidiaries
upon the reorganisation

Distribution to the equity owners of subsidiaries represents
the consideration paid by the Group to the equity owners
in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries pursuant to the
reorganisation.

Capital reserve

The Group's capital reserve represents the gain or loss arising
from the acquisition of non-controlling interests.
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36. BEEEKRIEREZSNE D
BEZME AT
TREFIAE M A A I RS
([EsERRAERS]) M B A TS - TX
T B T AR B A A B R A4 5
ﬁqo

36. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The following table lists out details of the Group’s subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests (“NCI"). The summarised
financial information disclosed below is before any inter-company
eliminations.

194

ZESRIT "=
Dongguan Huijing
East Automobile
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
ARBTRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
EERERA DL NCI percentage 59.2% 59.2%
ZFERERNFA Loss for the year allocated to NC
&8 (29) 1)
M B EAFEIE AR A 2 Y Accumulated balances on NC|
ZEH4E at reporting date 350,232 350,261
Was Revenue = -
BH Total expenses (49) (85)
FANEE Loss for the year (49) (85)
FREHEEIBEE Total comprehensive loss for the year (49) (85)
mBEE Current assets 400,323 400,337
FEmEEE Non-current assets 1 1
nBEE Current liabilities (46,538) (46,502)
e TEUN=F = Non-current liabilities = -
KEEBARS Net cash flows used in operating activities
mEFEE (2) 6)
BREEBFARESREFE Net cash flows used in investing activities = -
BEESMERSNEFE Net cash flows from financing activities = -
ReERBEEEFEY Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
R (2 ©6)
SESERABR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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37. WEE—=RT R EKNKE
YN
H5Z£2024F12A31BLLEE
2024 FHREEN BB A A -

BHZ2023F12A31BLEFE

PR2023F1 A48  REEEBILE =
U RS R EA R AR ([
$81) 100% AR #E - MUREER: - BRISH —
THO REI RN MR E Y BT
BYEEEMER At EF5RE K
BHaRET TEXERESM MK
BEE -BOTEREME - BWHEKRAA
R #423800000 L E DB E M ER
WEHBHN T HIEERAE

37. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY THAT IS NOT
A BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2024

There is no acquisition of subsidiaries in 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

On 4 January 2023, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in
Dongguan Shangyi Clock Company Limited (“Shangyi Clock”) from
an independent third party. At the time of acquisition, Shanyi Clock
had not actively engaged in any business except for holding a piece
of land for property development and accordingly, in the opinion of
the directors, the acquisition of Shangyi Clock does not constitute a
business combination but an acquisition of assets. For accounting
purpose, the cost of acquisition of RMB423,800,000 has been
allocated to the following identifiable assets and liabilities of Shangyi
Clock as at the date of acquisition as follows:

ARBTT
RMB'000

Frigis & E5ME Net assets acquired:

M - BEREE Property, plant and equipment 4991
FFER B A SR i Land held for development for sale 424,721
RekRESEFEYD Cash and cash equivalents 1,403
HMhERFRIE e RETER Other payables, deposits and accruals (7,315)
Al YRIFEELTE Total identifiable net assets 423,800
FRANERERENRSRESTAT - Analysis of cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Shangyi Clock is

as follows:

ARBTT
RMB'000

DR - Satisfied by:

RERE Cash consideration 423,800
WA FERTEN A Prepayment made in prior years (423,800)
Frus IR © RIRTT A 82 Cash and bank balances acquired 1,403
LIRS MAFEE Total net cash inflow 1,403
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38. HEMBE LT 38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
BZE2024F12A831HILLEE For the year ended 31 December 2024
R2024FHMEANDENRBAF - There is no material disposal of subsidiaries in 2024
BZE2023F12831ALLEE For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023
2023
i et ARET T
Notes RMB'000
HENTEIENEEFE : Net assets disposed of:
ME - BEREHE Property, plant and equipment 13 80
REMZHE Investment properties 14 150,000
mEERE Intangible assets 16 161
R—REEEENRE Investments in an associate 595
R—REELENRE Investments in a joint venture 19,161
REHRIBEE Deferred tax assets 15,383
TERRY % Properties under development 558,903
RHIELHENERIYWE Completed properties held for sale 237,456
FART IR - H YRR K Prepayments, other receivables and other
Htn&&E assets 439,639
RehkReFED Cash and cash equivalents 2,567
E 5 MR Trade payables (384,705)
Hitn e 5IE - IR REER Other payables, deposits and accruals (214,556)
aHaE Contract liabilities (541,235)
EETEE Provision for corporate income tax (126,353)
T Hb I AR B Provision for land appreciation tax (61,531)
BRIEHRIABE Deferred tax liabilities 32 (16,045)
IR A A Non-controlling interests (39,113)
40,407
HEMBRRNEE Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (33,407)
HERHE Total consideration 7,000
IATHHEA LA - Satisfied by:
B& Cash -
FTAH b JE W R IB A FE IR B Consideration receivable included in
other receivables 7,000
7,000
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38. HEMEB QT (&)
HZEZ2023F12A31BLEFEE (&)
ReMReSEYWREFEOMUOT

RerE
P E IR & RIRTTAER

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents is as
follows:

2023 4F
2023

ARETT
RMB'000

Cash consideration -
Cash and bank balances disposed of (2,567)

FFAREEEMEREREN
fﬁ@&iﬁ@ﬁﬁ%/llbﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included
in cash flows from investing activities (2,567)

39

(a)

GAERERERMEE

FEFRERS

FR - AEEBREEENQISHM
HEZHENEFERAEEERTAES
BEZIBASEBMND A AEARE
2,382,0007C (20234 : &) K AR¥E
2,534,000 7C (2023 FF : &) o

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB2,382,000 (2023: Nil)
and RMB2,534,000 (2023: Nil), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for office premises.
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9. IFARERERMEE ) 39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) RMETHEENABED (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities
STESIT
HEAE BEEE R H R
Interest-
bearing bank
Lease Senior and other
liabilities notes borrowings
AREFTT AREFIT AREFIT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R2023F1 A1H At 1 January 2023 30,377 772,673 3,862,262
FEHZ Interest expenses 1552 115,580 -
NE Additions - - -
REREREEENE D Changes from financing cash flows (6,717) - 150,287
A Exchange realignment 324 20,290 322
R2023F 2 A38R At 31 December 2023 and
20241 H1H 1 January 2024 25,536 908,543 4,012,871
FBHZ Interest expenses 20 114,124 -
wE Additions 2,534 - -
BIFHE Terminate leases (25,202) - -
RERSREEENES) Changes from financing cash flows (2,220) - 114,027
BE i 8 B Exchange realignment 580 28,593 7,548
R2024F 12 A31H At 31 December 2024 1318 1,051,260 4,134,446
() HERESRHHEE (c) Total cash outflow for leases
STARERERZHER SR The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of
WERIT cash flows is as follows:

2024 5 2023
2024 2023

ARBTR AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000

BMEEBN Within financing activities 2,220 6,717
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40.

41.

A& R
RIBEIAR - AEBEAU TRERR

RAREEMEZPREDN
RBRMERRITER

40.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

The Group had the following financial guarantees as at the end of
the reporting period:

2023 5
2023
ARBFIT
RMB'000

2024 F
2024

AR®T
RMB’000

Guarantees given to banks in

connection with mortgage facilities
provided to customers of the

Group's properties

1,368,544 2,500,969

izt -

AEBGETRITAAEEFIEHENET
MEZPELNIZBREREER - RIZE
REHFRR  WEPENNRBFOA - A
AEEERBEERNTPRNRITHRER
BBA S KA MER RS KR -

R Ed 2P MEMELRTRITERR
BERNERR  BEEPEONRIBHN
R IRITEREERTEE  LKBRAA
GEEEE S iE

AEBENERBEXHBRZBEFEES
RMEDELRELYEMEEEL BEA
REFPHANBDER —EMEFN -

BERKH

ERAEERITRAEMERNEER
M wE BENEEPBRERME 5
19202129

41.

Note:

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by
certain banks to the customers of the Group’s completed properties held for
sale. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements, in case of default
on mortgage payments by the customers, the Group is responsible to repay
the outstanding mortgage principals together with any accrued interest and
penalties owed by the defaulted customers to those banks.

Under the above arrangement, the related properties were pledged to
the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, upon default on mortgage
repayments by these customers, the banks are entitled to take over the legal
titles and will realise the pledged properties through open auction.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the start of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance and registration of property
ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will generally be available
within one to two years after the customers take possession of the relevant
properties.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group’s bank and
other borrowings are included in notes 15,19, 20, 21 and 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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42, iE
REBMNREPHAREG AT A LEE :

42. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

2023
2023
ARBTFIT
RMB'000

2024 F
2024

AR®T R
RMB’000

BERTHE R Contracted, but not provided for:
e Properties under development 1,767,317 1,886,771
TERIREYE Investment properties under construction 299,899 296,553
FRWEEERBEBE LI Purchase of land through acquisition of
assets and liabilities 216,665 283,975
st Total 2,283,881 2,467,299

43. BT R %
(a) BRERA BT HRH iy 5 AT R
B 59N+ 7R S B AN 4F ¥ B
ETATEARS

feln e o EEHI AT
RSP
MAEHERX
BREMX
EEBERA
HER

RERX

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties during the

year:

2023 4
2023
ARETIT
RMB'000

2024 F
2024

AR®T
RMB’000

Companies controlled by Mr Lun Ruixiang:

Construction costs 23,832 23,555
Office rental expenses 7 426
Management fee expense 6,335 23,056
Management fee income 451 434
Selling expense 2,945 20,553
Operating expense 1,002 1,067

ZEXZTHRBET KXBHER

{GFRIR BB A B GRS AR 7T -

200

These transactions were carried out in accordance with terms
and conditions in accordance with the terms mutually agreed
by both parties.

SESHEMRABR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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43.

44.

45.

BB RS ()

43.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

b) XEEXTEEBASNHE (b) Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group

2024 F 2023 4F

2024 2023

ARETRT AREKTET

RMB’000 RMB'000

e BB NREYER Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 6,714 8,403

BIFTEAL Discretionary bonuses - 477

J/X st e 45 S5 1) B AR AR B =2 Equity-settled share option expense = 1619

RIS EIHER Pension scheme contributions 59 290
XNTEEERBAEN Total compensation paid to

B AR key management personnel 6,773 10,789

REZHHME - FHFBEARN
,v-"?/:.\ﬁﬁ%i&?%WH‘SO

ZERNS SR T A

R2024F X 2023F 12 A31H - BRIEA
FEFABZZMEERATEFE
SN AEERFBSREERAEY A
RHENARY RN SREERSREE -

EMITANIFERQFE
B &

20245 &2023F 1231 - A& E
TR TAMNKEE BRRAFEFAR
BZERMEERBEZRIN BEQF
BREMRE

EREHE  ERKE—REALED
RUHOR - B 5B - 5t ATEA R
A A BUSE R AN S BE
E RS RRTES BIEAER

AR BN S BEE B

SRS FHABTREMBERD
R 5 HE MRS RETANA

FEEHEmEMES

44.

45.

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8
to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, other than the financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss which are measured at fair value, all
financial assets and liabilities of the Group were financial assets and
financial liabilities at amortised cost, respectively.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of the
Group's financial instruments, other than financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and senior notes, reasonably approximate to
their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of receivable from
a joint venture, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, cash and bank
balances, trade payables, financial liabilities included in other
payables, deposits received and accruals, the current portion of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.
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AEBeRMIAAFEAEREKER
FHRMBEETENRAMBEHREE
BT R BHEERNERVBEEE
H-NEBEMERH  QARMBIE R
TENBEZFETON  LWREME
RANEIEHARE - HELRAEE
B B

MAEBERGAE M EARRNRALIEUAR
FEFAENEEREE FERITEHE
fhfESRIEBN A D MR EE R E QN FE
HE TEETABIR - BELEZER
SE{E A AR 1,051,260,000 7T (2023 4F -
AR #9357360007T) * WEEBE A3

TREENBENATEREBRST
ZBEHERR S CRATBREERIN)
FRIRBMTANSEAR-

THIERBRR IS BEGREAFE

FFERITREMERZIEANHIBEIH A
FEEFEBERLUER - EERR XH
PR BRI LA E AT A 5 T AR 2 BAIR
EARFTEHR RIS RMEFTE © 72024
FR2023F12A318 AEEBASE
Bt BRTT R EME R Z KRB E R
fEATEA Bt BRITREMMER
BIERE D 2 AFELEEREMERS -

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance
team reports directly to the chief financial officer. At each reporting
date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the chief financial officer.

For the Group’s assets and liabilities not measured at fair value
in the consolidated statement of financial position, the carrying
amounts of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings approximated to their fair values and were
determined as Level 3, and the fair values of the senior notes were
RMB1,051,260,000 (2023: RMB935,736,000) and were determined as
Level 3.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
The Group'’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was assessed
to be insignificant and the fair values of the non-current portion of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to their
carrying amounts.

ESIZERRAEBRZAE]  Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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45. SR TEMNMAFEERAFEE 45. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

[BER &)

ETBRAREZ AFEDERTS®RE
BT ELmESREZAFENER
BWEERARIZEERBEREER
BEHNFE RELARFEELE
EeARRESBRA AHERMAME

HZ AT ATFE GIASRE T B RE)
MAFEHEBEEZS GIABRD) BAE
BAREHRZEBEZIGE -

AT RIFLTESEREBENEANTA
BEBARBEME

fh B

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the listed equity investments are based on their
quoted market prices. The fair values of unlisted fund investments
are based on adjusted net assets approach by adjusting the book
value of assets and liabilities of the investees to their fair value. The
directors of the Company believe that the estimated fair values
resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and the related changes
in fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss, are reasonable,
and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

Set out below is a summary of the significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of unlisted fund investments:

EXRTUTBRBARE

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

FLMESKRE KREBIFEEX

Unlisted fund
investments

Adjusted net asset
approach

WERERRAMNEERBRBEZAFER
moEA 1% BB ETRESKREDN

NFAE NN, B A R 428,000 7T (2023
£ ARE#430,0007T) °

WIRERBIZEERBERN
FEHEFABREHEQTE
(AREFT) 10
Book value of assets and liabilities of
the investees adjusted to their fair
value (RMB'000)

43,046

A 1% increase/decrease in the fair values of assets and liabilities of
the investees would result in an increase/a decrease in the fair value
of the unlisted fund investments of RMB428,000 (2023: RMB430,000).

RERN A TFEFEEE=ANEFH0N The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during
N the year are as follows:
2024 2023 F
2024 2023
ARBTRT ARETET
RMB’000 RMB'000
W1 ATE At 1 January 43,046 96,388
R RN AT EZH Change in fair value recognised in
the profit or loss (44,407) (56,300)
ME WS Exchange realignment 1,371 2,458
m12A31H At 31 December 10 43,046
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45. TR TANATFERAFE
B &% (@)
DT ERBR
TRERAEESHTAZ ATENE
I

BAFEFTENEE !
7202412831 H

AR®TR
RMB’000

45. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’'s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2024

ERATHERZAPERE

Fair value measurement using

RIEB™ %
ZR{E
Quoted prices
in active
markets
(F—#)
(Level 1)

EXAERE EXTAHE
BWABE WABE
Significant Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(B=8) (B=#)
(Level 2) (Level 3)

BAFEFABRZ Financial assets at fair value
CHEE through profit or loss
—HfhIEMESE/E - — Other unlisted fund

BNFE

investments, at fair value - - 10 10

7202312831 H

As at 31 December 2023

ERTIBRZ A FEFE

Fair value measurement using

L
ZRE
Quoted prices
in active
markets
(B—#R)
(Level 1)

AREBTT
RMB'000

ERATEE EATAER
AR AR
Nealiileclaly Significant
observable  unobservable

inputs inputs
(E=H) (B=/)
(Level 2) (Level 3)

BAFEFABRZ Financial assets at fair value
CRMEE through profit or loss
— FIRAEE — Listed equity investments,
/NS | at fair value 1,265 - - 1,265
— HMIELEMEESEE©  — Otherunlisted fund
/NS | investments, at fair value - - 43,046 43,046
st Total 1,265 - 43,046 44,311

204

HE2024FE N 2023F 12 A3 BILEE -

TREERCHABERERE —HLE
o HEBEAATEE  NEE
ARKEHE=MR - financial liabilities.

SESHEMRABR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were
no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level
2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
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AEENTECHITABRFEABRITR
HibEFARRE RIRITHER - %ZFE
BTANTEENR/AEENEE X
BKEKED AKEEZREMESRE
ENBE NESRKERRE S EN
B DERELBKRERD -

AEEeRTAMEENTIRRERERE
MEEE  FERRERDE SRR -
EERaYRESABRERNEER
R BREAMEHN T

R ALK

AEEFEEOTERRRHER -
B R A B MR M 3 20 T A E
HEHBIRAT R E A S 3K o AR B
RSTES BT ALMAIXER - A EHE
ST BB 1T R B 8 3 B A
BAA -

R2024F 12831 WHEEITREM
B IR AR 3 hn, 5 1% K BT H
ERFAE  AALEERBIE M (R
BRIWEEAFEFL) BBZEMER
VR E R D, K AR 16,701,000
7L (20234 + AR™ 16,701,000 7C) °

= & E b
AEEEHERE - HEEERESHT
ARSEMBLENEDRRED - #ER

TRTAEERRBMBEREREZEAN
&g A0 -

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and cash and bank balances. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group's operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The directors review
and agree policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to risk for changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group's interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments
to hedge interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest cost using
variable rate bank borrowings and other borrowings.

At 31 December 2024, if the interest rate of bank and other
borrowings had increased/decreased by 1% and all other variables
held constant, the profit before tax of the Group (assuming no
capitalisation of interest expenses), through the impact on floating
rate borrowings, would have decreased/increased by approximately
RMB16,701,000 (2023: RMB16,701,000).

Credit risk

The Group has established a policy to perform the assessment of
whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of
default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument.
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46.

206

SREMEBEEHENRKE () 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

BEEEBRFERND R
TRHFINRNZAINBREBEAEEEZE
BERAETHNEEDSZLTEAINES
EERR (RIEEEMBERS K AL
TERNAIERS B R B[R LB ERE
FHERE) LR EERAD R -

F2fMeBnemEENREAE -

72024 12H31H

KE—FKABLEN  Receivable from ajoint venture

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

As at 31 December 2024

12188
AHEERE 2HRHEERR
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

F1ER F2lE F3MER L5 % -
Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

ARBTFRT ARBTR AR®TR ARBTR ARETR

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

EMHIR 350,941 - - - 350,941
B HEKER Trade receivables = = = 13,777 13,777
S ATEMFIE - 24 Financial assets included in

EUGRERE prepayments, other receivables and

BENEREE other assets 706,022 - 46,029 = 752,051
Be MRTHEH Cash and bank balances 37,179 = = = 37,179
5 Total 1,094,142 - 46,029 13,777 1,153,948

SESERABR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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46. TRIEMEREHENBE A 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

BERBRFEERFNDRE) Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
20235128318 As at 31 December 2023

: 2 HEHEESE
2-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

F1BE& WL F3MBE LK apz3
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

KE—FKABLEN  Receivable from ajoint venture

e IR 382,341 - - - 382,341
B 5 YR Trade receivables - - - 11,907 11,907
T AFERNFZIE - Eft  Financial assets included in

FEMFIE R H A prepayments, other receivables and

BENESREE other assets 664,015 63,742 27,587 - 755,344
ReERRITEH Cash and bank balances 126,160 - - - 126,160
st Total 1,172516 63,742 27,587 11,907 1,275,752
ERETHERBTEATBNRE K Management makes periodic collective assessments for financial
MEKRREBEREMEENSREE B assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
BRL & IAESRERTEE assets as well as individual assessments on the recoverability of
h JE W SR IR HY AT B o AR AR R 121 other receivables based on historical settlement records and past
RAEHEEBERRT ATENRIE experience. The Group recognises an allowance for financial assets
MERGFIEREMEENS /R é Eﬁé‘ included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets based
% WHATIE M R BB EIE (nE) # on 12-month ECLs and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic
TTAHE - data, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUZ 2024 4F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

46. SRIAMEBIEBENRBE (®) 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

REBESER Liquidity risk

AEENERERERENVBBER - The Group's objectives are to maintain a prudent financial policy,
HERRBEEZRDESLE  WUHR to monitor liquidity ratios against risk limits and to maintain a
VEZEARIE  BMRAKEEEES contingency plan for funding to ensure that the Group maintains
ReAENERBESTE - sufficient cash to meet its liquidity requirements.

TEBESREE (UAEHORUMRIIBER The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of
EREE (BREREHNMNENZANRE the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted cash
BRBRF R ENFBEMNF)) RRE flows (including interest payments computed using contractual
HRNBEBBER AR AREFEAIFEE rates, based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and
EXNEFEENT : the earliest date that the Group could be required to repay, is as

followvs:

2024 5
2024
—FRAR RE=ZF
BRER REZF "E  HEEQRLE

Within one
year or on Inthe In the third Beyond
demand secondyear tofifthyear fifth years Total
ARBTRT ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2 5N EER Trade payables 1,288,552 = = - 1,288,552
A E B8 - Finandial liabilities included

BUIZE KR inother payables, deposits

BEARESRAR  received and accruals 1,314,194 = = - 1,314,194
HEBE Lease liabilities 1,215 103 = = 1,318
PERTTREM  Interest-bearing bank and other

B3 borrowings 4,566,178 93,816 239,915 21,845 4,921,754
BEEE Senior notes 1,051,260 = = - 1,051,260
Bt Total 8,221,399 93,919 239,915 21,845 8,577,078
BB SHER ¢ Financial guarantees issued:
EaEReE Maximum amount guaranteed

(KizF40) (note 40) 1,368,544 = = - 1,368,544
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 20244F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

46. TRIEMEREHENBE A 46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

REESRER (Z) Liquidity risk (Continued)

— R »
REX R REHE @it

Within one
year or on Inthe Inthe third Beyond
demand  secondyear  to fifth year fifth years Total
ARBTT ARETRT ARETT ARBTRT ARE®TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

2 S EISER Trade payables 1,290,873 - - - 1,290,873
ST AEAM R FIE + Financial liabilities included
BUIZE KR inother payables, deposits

BEAMESRAR  received and accruals 806,728 - - - 806,728
HE&E Lease liabilities 5,445 5411 8,985 5,695 25,536
STEIRITREM  Interest-bearing bank and other

R borrowings 4378196 91,247 252,109 43,082 4764634
BERRE Senior notes 908,543 - - - 908,543
et Total 7,389,785 96,658 261,094 48,777 7,796,314
B2 M B SIEIR ¢+ Financial guarantees issued:

EakEReE Maximum amount guaranteed

(Htat40) (note 40) 2,500,969 - - - 2500969
FRINAR A B SRR TR 20 FTil - EEE As explained in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
FEUSKETEIFREVE THME - UiE R & Directors have adopted or plan to adopt certain measures in order
ERBBELREeRERRALE#FEAEE to improve the Group’s financial and cash flow positions and to
RFBELE - maintain the Group’s as a going concern.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUZ 2024 4F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

46. SRIEMEEEHEREE &)
EAXRERE
AEBMERESENTEBIEARBAL
B E SN RIRBRENE A
E AL BHEEBEEREANREE
&

AEBEEBEEARE  TEHEBLESBR
MEBHEEDAE AEBE 2T
BRRER IS - MR FRERE kB
ITHRA BT L ARE - REH
MEAEEBERZ HMEIABFREE
2024F 2023 F 12 A HIEFEL &
Big=

AEBERFEEAGBLE (AIAKE
MERFRRAED AR BIEEAR -

ERFRBREAERITREMER &
AEBENEERERRENASEEY
UAEZRHERE - RBEMRENEE

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Cont

Capital management

inued)

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by the total equity of the Group. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes and lease
liabilities less cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. The
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

BELERNT -
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBEF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
FEIRIT REAMMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 4,134,446 4,012,871
BEEE Senior notes 1,051,260 908,543
HEBE Lease liabilities 1,318 25,536
o IR MIRTTES Less: Cash and bank balances (37,179) (126,160)
B FEE Net debt 5,149,845 4,820,790
(B4t), HEmiaz Total (deficit)/equity (334,475) 525419
FEEAMBLE Net gearing ratio -1,540% 918%

47. IEHEREE

R2024F 12 ANHZEBERAE Y BR

ZECZH  AEEETFBERITEE

W%#Kti’m?a%é%@E’JAK@%EIJE%WJ
BIRAEEE Y AR5 272,255,000 7T ©
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of approval
of these consolidated financial statements, the Group had further
defaulted or cross defaulted a repayment for certain interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings as well as accrued interest in total of
approximately RMB272,255,000.

SESHEMRABR AR Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 20244F 12 A 31 HILFJE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

48. AN E) B AR &R

BEMR - ARAFHANEKE B0

- %

HRBEE
R—KHMBRRNRE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Investment in a subsidiary*

2024 &
2024

AR®T R
RMB’000

2023
2023
ARBTT
RMB'000

RBEE

BAVEHAABRZEREE

CURRENT ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss - 42,570
TEATRRIE ~ H A FEWGRIE & Prepayments, other receivables and
EmmEE other assets = 4331
W EE R RIFUA Amounts due from group companies 1,197,487 1,155,692
ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%%{ﬁ% Cash and cash equivalents 30 32
REBEEHAE TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,197,517 1,202,625
REBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
HEMhERFIE  EdURE K Other payables, deposits received and
EETER accruals 177,824 170,510
BREE Senior notes 1,051,260 908,543
REBaEAE TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,229,084 1,079,053
HE(EE) EEFE NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (31,567) 123,572
EEABERABAE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES (31,567) 123,572
(Bl EEZRE NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (31,567) 123,572
ER EQUITY
BT A Issued capital 47,972 47,972
A Reserves (79,539) 75,600
(B#),TESEEE TOTAL (DEFICIT)/EQUITY (31,567) 123,572
* SREORARESS007T * The amount is less than RMB500
EWE ERIE
Lu Peijun Luo Chengyu
EE BE
Director Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B Z20244F 12 31 HIFFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

48. N E BRI BFARR T (@)

it -

AEBRBHEHZWT

48.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows:

REGEE
Share
premium
ARETT
RMB'000

BRERE
Share option
reserve
ARBTT
RMB'000

B 5 A
Exchange
reserve
AR®TT
RMB000

R EE
Accumulated
losses
ARETTT
RMB'000

st

Total
AR®FT
RMB'000

®203F1A1A8 At 1 January 2023 737,120 81,161 (61,885) (508,215) 248181
FREERZEEBAE  Lossand total comprehensive loss for
the year - - 11444 (186,941) (175497)
DRELENBIRELEE  Equity-settled share option
arrangements - 3,022 - - 3,022
BRI RS ERT Transferring share option reserve upon
BERERERE the forfeiture or expiring of share
options - (2118) - 2012 (106)
R03F12A318 R At 31 December 2023 and
2014%F 1818 1 January 2024 737,120 82,065 (50,441) (693,144) 75,600
FRBBLRZABELE  Lossand total comprehensive loss for
the year - - 8,201 (163,381) (155,180)
DIREEERMBRIELZ S  Equity-settled share option
arrangements - 41 - - 4
R2024%E 128318 At 31 December 2024 737,120 82,106 (42,240) (856,525) (79,539)

49. it EBTIFERR

49,

BITEERERMN205E7 AN BEES S

R AT
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APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 11 July 2025.

ESIZERRAEBRZAE]  Huijing Holdings Company Limited
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